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Financial Summary

S 5 W 2

Revenue from external

customers
REIBERZHA
2025 2024
ol Jo - —EmE
HK$°000 HK$’000
BRTT BT T
Mainland China AR A 279,707 862,189

The following is a summary of the total assets, total liabilities, total T AREEEREFRAT([EAT ) REME
equity, share capital, results and other financial information of DINGYI AR(HE KA DR BT AFEE=A=1T—H
GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries ~ |FFE Y @&5E « BAE - G - BA - 2EN
collectively, the “Group”) as of year ended 31 March for the last five H BB EREDR o

years.

Financials (HK$ Million) MEEB (B%BEET) 2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—E-RE —ENE —E-=F —E-—F T

Total assets BEE 2,408 2,644 3,945 4,416 3,956
Total liabilities wmaE 1,344 1,448 2,688 2,941 2,482
Total equity it Ty 1,064 1,196 1,257 1,475 1,474
Shareholders’ funds BRES 1,064 1,196 1,257 1,475 1,474
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(EE5) (gE5) (&gE51)
Share capital B

—in number (Million) —HE(BER) 851 736 736 736 736
—in value —(E 85 74 74 74 74
Revenue WA 280 862 1,217 155 226

(Loss)/profit attributable to the AR RIEA AFEE
owners of the Company (&518),/&F| (138) 40 5 (101) 43

Per Share Basis (HK cents) SIEEZ (&)

(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(&=7) (& E7) (& E7)

(Loss)/earnings (&#8),/ BH
- Basic &K (17.05) 5.43 0.63 (13.77) 5.84
- Diluted — g (17.05) 5.43 0.63 (13.77) 5.84
Dividends Prds - - - - -
Net asset value BESE 125.08 162.55 170.83 200.44 200.34
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Corporate Information

Eyegs

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
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OFFICE IN HONG KONG

Tricor Investor Services Limited
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Hong Kong

SHARE LISTING

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Stock Code: 508
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By abiding by the corporate spirit of “seizing early opportunities,
pursuing excellence, progressing proactively and forging ahead
innovatively”, over the years, we have been adhering to the intrinsic
values of the industry as the core of our investment philosophy. We
believe all investment values are built on the growth and success
of business operations. We apply the comprehensive investment
evaluation and management system to select and invest in those
enterprises that demonstrate high growth potential and robust
performance in their respective industry sector. Meanwhile, we also
work closely with the management teams of prominent enterprises,
seeking mutual development to maximize our own investment value
through joint growth with the investees.

As in the past, we continue to move forward dependably in achieving
to “leap into global markets with our foothold in China and become
a professional investment institute with international competitiveness
focusing on investment in scalable industries”. Apart from our existing
securities trading, loan financing, property development and other
businesses, we persevered unremittingly to make the best use of
various resources and channels to proactively seek meaningful
opportunities that are suitable for enterprise development, so as to
achieve growth for the Group in creating values to the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) for their long-term support.

During the past year, the Company devoted much time to exploring
different investment opportunities proactively. In addition, the
management team conducted some research across different regions
in the world to explore and study other investment opportunities
in resources and energy projects, property development, financial
technology, pharmaceutical and marine industry. The Company is
confident about the prospect of such investment projects. We will
update our Shareholders with important information whenever it is
available.

The net loss of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 was
mainly attributable to the combined effect of (i) the reduction in sales
recognised for the properties development business in the PRC; (i) the
provision for impairment loss on loan and interest receivables; (i) write-
down of properties under development and properties held for sale; and
(iv) being partially offset by the gain arising from the changes in fair value
of financial assets.
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Chairman’s Statement
EN %80

In March 2018, the Group completed the acquisition of the 100%
indirect equity interest in Xintai Investment Company Limited*
CEITIERLERR AR (“Xintai”). Xintai is principally engaged in the
development, operation and investment of property. Xintai also holds
One Parkview* (2 B — %7 ), a complex land use development which
is located at Chikan District, Zhanjiang, Guangdong Province, the
PRC (the “Properties”). The Properties comprises of three phases, (i)
phase | comprises of two blocks of residential buildings with a number
of retail shops, car parks and facilities; (i) phase Il comprises of four
blocks of residential buildings with a number of retail shops, car parks
and facilities; and (i) phase lll comprises of ten blocks of residential
buildings with a number of retail shops, car parks and facilities. The
Group has obtained pre-sales permit for certain blocks of the Phase I
of One Parkview project starting from June 2020 and is commencing
the pre-sales under the pre-sales permits. The Company is very
optimistic about the revenue and profit to be brought by the property
development industry in which it will engage in the PRC in future.

On 31 March 2025, the Group completed the acquisition of the
100% indirect equity interest in Savor Dining Collective Limited (the
“Acquisition”). The Board considers that the Acquisition enables the
Group to re-enter the food and beverage catering business, which once
was the Group’s core business for over a decade before the Group’s
withdrawal from this business sector in 2020. After the Acquisition, the
Group now holds six restaurants which are all located in the prime areas
in Shenzhen. The Board considers these restaurants to be a strategic
platform for the Group to re-develop its presence in high-end catering
business in the PRC in the future.

In the future, the Group will continue to explore more investment

opportunities, especially in new energy, finance, marine industry and
property development.

For identification purpose only
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Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude
and also my sincere thanks to all stakeholders who had made
valuable contributions to the Group this year. They include our loyal
Shareholders, fellow directors of the Company (the “Directors”), our
business partners, our steadfast customers, and those hardworking
and dedicated staff who have longed been supporting us.

Reward Others While Enriching Ourselves, Thus Enlightening Dingyi!

YUE Ying
Chairman

Chairman’s Statement

BV e

RiR - RABRUBE R AAKERAFE ML
BEERMZAEALT  BREXHAZEZK
R-ARAZEXR([ESE)) ZHEH - REEP
ARBHTBEBREHOE T - BARROHH

= °

MAED BERE

FE
ER

S0 4 IO 8 A B )
B I 2



Management Discussion and Analysis
LV i

The Group is principally engaged in securities trading, loan financing,
properties development, food and beverage catering service business
and other business.

The Group’s revenue from its continuing operations for the year
amounted to approximately HK$280 million or HK$582 million less
than that of the previous year. There was a loss for the year attributable
to the Company’s owners of approximately HK$138 million (2024:
profit of HK$40 million). The significant net loss for the year was
mainly attributable to the combined effect of (1) the reduction in sales
recognised for the properties development business in the PRC; (2) the
provision for impairment loss on loan and interest receivables; (3) write-
down of properties under development and properties held for sale; and
(4) being partially offset by the gain arising from the changes in fair value
of financial assets.

The basic and diluted loss per share was HK17.05 cents as compared
with earnings per share of HK5.43 cents last year.

Securities trading

During the year, the Group was involved in the securities trading
business. The Group recorded a gain of approximately HK$31 million
(2024: loss of approximately HK$5 million) arising from changes in
the fair value of the listed securities. As a result, the Group reported
a segment gain of approximately HK$31 million (2024: loss of
approximately HK$5 million) during the year. Going forward, the Group
expects that the future performance of the listed securities investments
held by the Group will be volatile and substantially affected by overall
economic environment, equity market conditions, investor sentiment
and the business performance and development of the investee
companies. The Board will closely monitor the performance of the
investment portfolio from time to time.

Loan financing

During the year, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately
HK$56 million (2024: approximately HK$71 million) from loan financing
segment. The Group recorded allowance for impairment of loan and
interest receivables of approximately HK$13 million (2024: reversal of
allowance for impairment of approximately HK$82 million). As a result,
the Group reported a segment profit of approximately HK$44 million
(2024: approximately HK$152 million). The Group will further develop
this segment in order to earn a higher interest income.

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
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In respect of the loan financing business, the Group targeted on a
variety of corporate clients by providing interest bearing short-term
loans in order to meet their liquidity needs. The sources of customers
are mainly referrals from former and/or existing customers and third
parties.

Currently, the loan financing business finances its operation primarily
from (i) funding from the Group; and (i) operating cash flow generated
from the loan financing business segment. Since commencement of
the business, the loan financing business has not obtained any bank
borrowing and/or financing facility from any third party to finance its loan
financing activities.

The loan financing business solicits its customers by referral from former
and/or existing customers and third parties.

As at 31 March 2025, loan receivables with the aggregate gross
principal amount of approximately HK$882 million (2024: HK$854
million) and gross interest receivables amount of approximately HK$66
million (2024: HK$55 million) were recorded in the audited financial
statements. The interest rates of the loan receivables ranged from 6%
to 8% per annum.

As at 31 March 2025, the principals of loan receivables ranged from
approximately HK$16 million to HK$25 million. The borrowers are
from different industries mainly engaged in innovation of IT technology;
property management; E-commerce; accommodation and catering;
import and export business; trading of building materials; agricultural
products processing; and logistics business. As at 31 March 2025, all
of the loan receivables were unsecured and repayable within twelve
months from the drawdown date with no loan renewals having occurred
and booked in our records.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B i B g M

The loan financing business of the Group is operated by a two-tiered
structure, being the Loan Approval Committee (the “Committee”) as
the overseeing team and the Loan Financing Management Team (the
“Loan Team”) as the administrative team responsible to the Committee.
The Committee comprises three members of senior management of the
Company and is headed by Mr. Wang Xiachua, an executive director of
the Company. The Loan Team comprises two divisions namely the Loan
Financing Unit and the Credit Risk Management Unit, each headed
by a manager (the “Manager’/“Managers”). The Committee and the
Managers of the Loan Team together constitute the core management
of the loan financial business of the Group.

The primary duties of the Loan Financing Unit are to collect and review
borrowing applicants’ background information and prepare a summary
of due diligence on the borrowing applicants, culminating in a Loan
Investigation Report approved by the Manager of the unit.

The primary duties of the Credit Risk Management Unit are to carry out
credit risk assessment of the borrowing applicants and propose the
post-loan management, culminating in a Project Risk Report approved
by the Manager of the unit.

The Committee is responsible for reviewing the loan applications, Loan
Investigation Report and the Project Risk Report presented by the
Managers.

To achieve a sustainable and balanced development of the Group’s
loan financing business, the core management of the loan financing
business possesses a comprehensive range of experience and skills
and expertise covering, inter alia, (i) risk management; (i) legal and
compliance, (jii) project evaluation; and (iv) corporate management. The
Company is of the opinion that the loan financing management team’s
diverse abilities are sufficient to run the Group’s loan financing business
in a sustainable manner.

The loan financing business processes undertaken by the Committee
and the Loan Team involve a series of internal compliance and control
procedures: (i) acceptance of loan applications and Know-Your-Client
assessment; (i) conducting due diligence; (iii) credit risk assessments
and loan approvals; (iv) granting of loans; and (v) post-loan grant review
and collections.

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
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From the key internal control’s perspective, the core management of the
loan financing business also considers (i) credit risk; (i) operational risk;
and (i) legal and compliance risk, when conducting the loan financing
business activities.

Credit risk in particular is considered to be the principal risk inherent
in the loan financing business. Therefore, the loan financing business
has developed a credit risk management system in order to effectively
identify, manage and minimize credit risks in connection with each loan
it grants.

A series of credit risk assessment procedures, such as identity checks,
financial position assessment and public searches, are performed
by the Group before each loan is approved and advanced to the
borrowing customers. In credit assessment, the Company will take into
consideration factors including but not limited to the borrower’s financial
soundness, internal and external credit checking results, and, where
applicable, the availability of any guarantee, collateral and/or other
forms of security. According to the aforesaid credit policies, the head
of the risk management department carries out the credit assessment
procedures with reference to the loan investigation report and the
project risk report.

Subsequent to the drawdown, the Group will regularly review on
a quarterly basis or any time the Committee finds necessary when
there is a change of policy or economic climate and an update on the
information we have obtained during the credit assessment procedures.
The Group also actively reviews and monitors the loan repayment status
to ensure all the interest and principal payments made by the borrowers
through bank transfers are punctual and the past due amounts, if any,
are closely followed up.

In the event that the loan repayments are not made on schedule, the
Company would communicate with the borrowers to understand the
reason for default and their latest financial situation. Based on the
situation and the re-assessment of risk of the loan, the Company would
consider whether a loan re-schedule arrangement or a legal action
against the borrowers would be the best choice for the Company in
order to protect the interest of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole.

The credit policy is reviewed and revised on a regular basis to
accommodate changes in the prevailing market and economic
conditions, legal and regulatory requirements, and other factors the
Committee considers to be important.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Operational risk is the risk resulting from inadequate or failure of internal
controls and systems, human errors or external events. The loan
financing business has adopted and implemented effective operational
policies and procedures to cope with the operational risk in the following
ways:

- established an adequate corporate governance structure with
clearly defined responsibilities of the Committee and senior
management;

- established the Committee under the Board and collective
decision making procedures to mitigate the risk relating to
personal judgment or prejudice of a single decision maker in the
process of loan approval;

— adopted and strictly implemented measures to prevent and
detect potential employee frauds, such as dual investigation and
due diligence process, the policy of separating the investigation
and evaluation of loan applications or risk assessment process
from the approval of loans, multilevel assessments and approval
procedure, on-site visits and inspection, and interviews conducted
by our senior management with the owner or management of the
customers;

- implemented a performance-based compensation scheme for
staff; and

- provided staff with professional training, especially to those who
are responsible for assessment and approval of loans.

The loan financing business operates in a highly regulated industry that
is subject to continually evolving laws, regulations and policies, and the
loan financing business may be required to make significant changes
to its operations from time to time in order to comply with changes in
these laws, regulations and policies. The Committee together with other
departments involved, advises on legal and regulatory requirements
applicable to the loan financing business as well as the application
restrictions, and initiate legal proceedings against any defaulting
customers.

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
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The Company considers that the loan financing business has put
in place adequate loan approval and assessment and monitoring
procedures. During the year ended 31 March 2025, all loan receivables
were assessed as low risk of default or there had not been a significant
increase in credit risk since drawdown, nor was there credit impaired.
The Board considers it has put in place adequate and tight policies
towards its loan financing business. The effectiveness of these policies is
reflected by the fact that all the loans due have been fully settled and no
past due has occurred as of the reporting date.

Despite the fact that there was no repayment default as above
mentioned, the loan impairment was recognised with reference to the
expected credit losses in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standard 9 Financial Instruments issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the prolonged economic
downturn driven by the epidemic adversely affected the repayment
ability of the borrowers, thus affecting the Group’s expectation of the
loan recoverability. Therefore, when estimating the default rate of loan
receivables according to the accounting standards, the Group prudently
considered a default rate of each borrower during the year ended 31
March 2025.

Besides, based on the borrowers’ current financial status as
communicated with the borrowers, with reference to their past and
current repayment records, loan terms, and the value of the collateral,
the Group will make additional independent adjustments when
calculating the loan impairment.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, no loan receivables were
identified as credit impaired nor written off. The Board considers that
the impairment ratio is insignificant, given that the Company has put in
place adequate and tight policies towards its loan financing business.
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Properties development

During the year, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately
HK$223 million (2024: approximately HK$791 million) and segment loss
of approximately HK$187 million (2024: approximately HK$12 million).
The decrease in revenue was mainly due to the decrease in revenue
of properties development business recognised upon the customers
obtaining control of the completed property for sale. The Group has
completed the construction of certain blocks of the Phase Il of One
Parkview project and has commenced the sale of residential buildings
and retail shops. The payments received in advance from customers
for properties sales were recognised as contract liabilities. The Group
anticipates further revenue and positive results from this segment in the
following years upon completion of properties under development and
the sale of completed properties.

The Group has arranged bank financing for certain purchasers of the
Group’s property units and provided guarantees to secure obligations of
such purchasers for repayments. Such guarantees terminate upon the
earlier of (i) issuance of the real estate ownership certificate which will
generally be available within a period of two years upon the completion
of guarantee registration; or (i) the satisfaction of mortgage loan by the
purchasers of properties.

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default in mortgage
payments by these purchasers, the Group is responsible to repay
the outstanding mortgage principals together with accrued interest
and penalty owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks and the
Group is entitled to take over the legal title and possession of the
related properties. The Group’s guarantee period starts from the date
of grant of the mortgage. The Directors consider that the likelihood of
default in payments by purchasers is minimal and in case of default in
payments, the net realisable value of the related properties can cover
the repayment of the outstanding mortgage principals together with
the accrued interest and penalty and therefore the fair value of these
financial guarantees is immaterial.

As at 31 March 2025, guarantees given to banks for mortgage
facilities granted to purchasers of the Group’s properties amounted to
approximately HK$9.8 million in total (31 March 2024: HK$11.2 million).
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Food and beverage catering services

The Group has been exploring potential investment opportunities apart
from its existing businesses of securities trading, loan financing and
properties development. The Board considers that the acquisition of
catering services business completed on 31 March 2025 enables the
Group to re-enter the catering business, which once was the Group’s
core business for over a decade before the Group’s withdrawal from
this business sector in 2020. After the acquisition, the Group now
holds six restaurants (namely Ensue, Terra Madre, L'Allée, L’Avenue,
Mesa Casa Latino and & 5 ) which are all located in the prime areas
in Shenzhen. The Board considers these restaurants to be a strategic
platform for the Group to re-develop its presence in high-end catering
business in the PRC in the future.

Other business - trading of wine

The Group has kept certain quantities of fine wines. The stocks will be
offered to sell when the market prices are so favourable that the Group
can obtain a good return on the sale. At present, the stocks are kept in
the wine cellar situated in Hong Kong.

As at 31 March 2025, the total number of issued shares of the
Company was 850,678,301 of HK$0.10 each (31 March 2024:
735,678,301 of HK$0.10 each) and its issued share capital was
approximately HK$85,068,000 (31 March 2024: approximately
HK$73,568,000).

Save as disclosed in the above paragraph and Note 30 of this report,
there was no change in the capital structure of the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2025.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue decreased from approximately HK$862 million
in 2024 to approximately HK$280 million in 2025, mainly because of a
decrease of revenue in properties development segment.

Gross Profit

The gross profit decreased by approximately HK$48 million, or 45%,
from approximately HK$108 million in 2024 to approximately HK$60
million in 2025. The gross profit margin increased from approximately
12.5% in 2024 to approximately 21.4% in 2025.

Other Income

Other income decreased slightly approximately HK$1.0 million this year
(2024: approximately HK$1.1 million).

Selling and Marketing Costs and General and
Administrative Expenses

Selling and marketing costs remained high at approximately HK$45
million (2024: approximately HK$45 million) under the prevailing slow-
down of the property market. General and administrative expenses
were stable at approximately HK$22 million (2024: approximately
HK$22 million) which was mainly due to the cost saving resulting from
the implementation of cost control during the year ended 31 March
2025.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment increased to approximately HK$28
million this year (2024: approximately HK$7 million). The significant
increase in property, plant and equipment was mainly attributed to the
acquisition of the food and beverage catering service business which
was completed on 31 March 2025.

Significant Investment

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, representing equity securities listed in Hong
Kong, Shanghai and London, of approximately HK$41 million
(2024: approximately HK$9 million). The Group recorded a gain of
approximately HK$31 million (2024: loss of approximately HK$4 million)
arising from changes in fair value of listed securities. Since there was
no financial assets at fair value through profit or loss held by the Group
valued more than 5% of the total assets of the Group as at 31 March
2025, there were no significant investments held by the Group.
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Cash and Bank Balances

Cash and bank balances decreased from approximately HK$114 million
last year to approximately HK$51 million this year.

Shareholders’ Funds and Financial Ratios

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s net assets attributable to the owners
of the Company amounted to approximately HK$1,064 million (2024
HK$1,196 million), a decrease of approximately HK$132 million when
compared with that of 2024.

As at 31 March 2025, total debt to equity ratio was 0.92 (2024:
0.82) and net debt to equity ratio was 0.87 (2024: 0.72), which were
expressed as a percentage of total borrowings and total borrowings
less cash and cash equivalents respectively, over the total equity of
approximately HK$1,064 million (2024: HK$1,196 million).

Other Loan

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s other loan amounted to
approximately HK$980 million (31 March 2024: approximately HK$980
million). The conversion rights attached to the convertible bonds in
the principal amount of HK$980,000,000 issued by the Company to
a former director (Mr. Li Kwong Yuk) on 26 March 2018 at the initial
conversion price of HK$0.80 per conversion share expired on 26
March 2023, and as such the relevant convertible bonds had become a
straight debt.

Charge on Assets
As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group had no charge on assets.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

Most of the Group’s assets are denominated in Hong Kong dollars
(“HKD”), Renminbi (“RMB”), United States dollars (“USD”) and
Australian dollars (“AUD”). Considering the exchange rates between
these currencies are relatively stable, the Group believed that the
corresponding exposure to RMB, USD and AUD exchange rate
fluctuations was relatively limited. The Group does not undertake any
derivative financial instruments or hedging instruments. The Group will
constantly review the economic situation and its foreign currency risk
profile, and continues to actively monitor foreign exchange exposure to
minimise the impact of any adverse currency movement.
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Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group had no contingent liabilities.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had capital commitments of
approximately HK$526 million (2024: approximately HK$536 million).

The Group adopts conservative treasury policies on cash and financial
management. To achieve better risk control and minimise the cost of
funds, the Group’s treasury activities are centralised. Cash is generally
placed in short-term deposits mostly denominated in HKD, USD, RMB
or AUD. The Group’s liquidity and financing requirements are frequently
reviewed. In anticipating new investments, the Group will consider new
financing channels while maintaining an appropriate level of gearing.

On 20 June 2025, the Company and the vendors (the “Vendors”)
of the food and beverage catering service business (the “Target
Group”) entered into a supplemental agreement to the sale and
purchase agreement dated 31 March 2025. According to supplemental
agreement, the terms of the sale and purchase agreement have
been changed to the effect that the additional consideration will only
be payable by the Group to the Vendors if the aggregate audited
consolidated net profits of the Target Group for the two years ending 31
March 2026 and 31 March 2027 exceed RMB4.8 million.

Apart from the existing businesses of securities trading, loan financing,
properties development, food and beverage catering services and
other businesses, the Group will continue to explore other potential
investment opportunities with reasonable returns that meet the
Company’s criteria. This will not only strengthen our core business but
also increase the shareholders’ values. The Group has been exploring
some investment opportunities in resources and energy projects,
properties development, financial technology, pharmaceutical and
ocean industry.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

Set out below are the biographical details of the current Directors:

Mr. Su Xiaonong (“Mr. Su”)

Mr. Su, aged 61, joined the Company as executive Director and chief
executive officer of the Company (the “Chief Executive Officer”) on 27
October 2011. He acted as the Acting Chairman of the Board and the
chairman of the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”)
from 30 December 2022 to 14 October 2024. He is also a member of
the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and
directors of various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Su graduated
from East China College of Political Science and Law in 1986. He has
been director or management of various venture capital, private equity
and investment consultancy companies in the People’s Republic of
China (“PRC”), including & 3! i1 B 2% 1% & & 12 A BR 2 & (Shenzhen
Gofar Investment Management Co., Ltd.*) during the period from April
2003 to November 2007. Mr. Su currently works at 7 3Il 75 71 B 5 %
B AR AR A A (Shenzhen Union Venture Capital Consulting Co.,
Ltd.") and AT 518 & EI%E B R A 7 (Shenzhen Dingyi Wantong
Investment Co., Ltd.*). He is also a partner and vice president of &I
BIEERKEREERAE) (Shenzhen Dingyi Venture Capital L.P.*).

Mr. Zeng Shan (“Mr. Zeng”)

Mr. Zeng, aged 62, joined the Company as an executive Director on 15
October 2024. He graduated from Sichuan University with a bachelor’s
degree in Theoretical Physics in 1984. He completed a postgraduate
course in Demography at Renmin University of China in 1989. He also
holds a doctor’s degree in Economics from Southwestern University of
Finance and Economics. Mr. Zeng has over 30 years’ work experience
in investment, business management and restructuring. He served
as the secretary and deputy director general at # B & & 4 & K &
B Bt ¢ @ (China Youth and Middle-aged Rural Economic Research
Association®) from February 1989 to November 1991 and worked as
director and deputy general manager in FE /PN EREBR A
7] (China Small and Medium Enterprises Investment Co., Ltd.*) from
November 1991 to November 1994. Mr. Zeng was the general manager
of three companies in the People’s Republic of China, namely /& &
2% R 2 3R Bt & 482 &) (Hainan Rural Development and Construction
United Corporation®) from November 1994 to August 1996, 1t & 71 &
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=& 22 8] (Beiing Huade Industrial Company*) from August 1996 to
June 1999 and 1t REBIGEFR AR (Beiing Huade Investment Co.,
Ltd.*) from August 1999 to August 2012 respectively. In September
2012, he joined b R EIREELFTHEEE R B R A A (Beiing Cybernaut
Greentech Investment Management Co., Ltd.*) and served as the
managing partner and vice chairman until September 2023. As from
November 2023, Mr. Zeng has been working as a senior partner at
JIAEFR WK EE S B AR AT (Shenzhen Qianhai Zhongli
Equity Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd.”).

Mr. Yue Ying (“Mr. Yue”)

Mr. Yue, aged 61, joined the Company as a non-executive Director
and the Chairman of the Board on 15 October 2024. He is also the
chairman of the Nomination Committee. He graduated from Henan
University with a bachelor’s degree in Economics in 1985. He also holds
a master’s degree in Economics awarded by Southwestern University of
Finance and Economics. Mr. Yue has over 30 years’ work experience in
banking, finance and risk management. From July 1988 to June 1993,
Mr. Yue joined IR IRTTER A 91T (Guangdong Branch of China
Construction Bank*) and served successively as its loan officer, section
chief of the Human Resources Department and sub-branch president.
From June 1993 to June 2003, he successively worked as president of
BN &= 7T (Guangzhou Huangpu Sub-branch®), president of /M 53
% [% 37 17 (Guangzhou Development Zone Sub-branch*) and president
of B5e5 %7 (Dongguan Branch*). From July 2003 to February 2009, he
was appointed the vice president of FEER & %77 (Guangdong Branch®)
and from February 2009 to November 2013, he was appointed as
president of & I 9 7T (Suzhou Branch®). From December 2013 to
January 2022, Mr. Yue joined R R 1T B m % 77 (Nanjing Branch of
China Merchants Bank*) as president and, successively served as
president of J&YI|91T7 (Shenzhen Branch*), and business director of the
head office of the bank. Mr. Yue is also currently employed as a visiting
professor at & Il K 2 & 12 2 it (College of Management, Shenzhen
University*). Besides, he is the chairman of M A BRI R AEBH BFE S
# Z @ (the investment committee of Southern University of Science
and Technology Education Foundation®) and the honorary president of &
17 22 R = 3 R & 4 (Shenzhen Women and Children Development
Foundation®).
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Ms. Liu Miaomiao (“Ms. Liu”)

Ms. Liu, aged 35, joined the Company as non-executive Director on 23
December 2024. She is also a member of the Nomination Committee.
She graduated from Shenzhen University in 2011 with a bachelor’s
degree in Economics. She also holds a master’s degree in Business
Administration awarded by Peking University. Ms. Liu has over 10
years’ work experience in organization & management and business
integration. From February 2012 to April 2018, she worked as the chief
representative at Shenzhen Office at L F|FF T H B EM BB EE R
BZ 1% 75 75 & (Wallonia Export — Investment Agency of the Consulate
General of Belgium in Guangzhou*). From May 2018 to May 2023,
she served as the chief representative, Greater China at B2 #k £ B &
5 % B & B 2 (Bahrain Economic Development Board*). Ms. Liu is
currently the Business Development Director — China at Ras Al Khaimah
Economic Zone.

Mr. Chow Shiu Ki (“Mr. Chow”)

Mr. Chow, aged 57, joined the Company as independent non-executive
Director on 27 October 2011. He is also the chairman of each of the
Audit Committee (the “Audit Committee”) and the Remuneration
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee. Mr. Chow
has accumulated years of working experience in auditing, accounting
and corporate finance areas. He holds a Master Degree in Professional
Accounting. Mr. Chow is a fellow member of The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and a fellow member of The Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has worked for
various private and listed companies at senior management level. He is
currently serving in a senior management role in a consultancy services
company. He served as an independent non-executive director of
China Assurance Finance Group Limited (a company listed on GEM of
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8090 and was delisted on 12 March
2021) from December 2011 to March 2021.
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Mr. Ip Chi Wai (“Mr. Ip”)

Mr. Ip, aged 57, joined the Company as independent non-executive
Director on 31 March 2016. He is also a member of each of the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee. He graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a
Degree of a Bachelor of Laws. He is a qualified solicitor in Hong Kong
and has more than 20 years of experience in the legal profession. Mr.
Ip is currently an independent non-executive director of Asia Standard
International Group Limited (stock code: 129) which is listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. He was an independent non-executive
director of Haosen Fintech Group Limited (stock code: 3848), which
is listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from June 2017 to
May 2025 and an independent non-executive director of Asia Standard
Hotel Group Limited, the shares of which were withdrawn from listing
on the Stock Exchange on 22 October 2024, from December 2003 to
April 2023.

Mr. Cheung Chi Wai (“Mr. Cheung”)

Mr. Cheung, aged 70, joined the Company as independent non-executive
Director on 23 December 2024. He is also a member of the Nomination
Committee. He graduated from 3L B 4X 2 (Hubei University of Finance
and Economics®) (now renamed Zhongnan University of Economics
and Law) in 1982 with a bachelor’s degree in National Economic
Planning. He has over 40 years’ work experience in management and
banking. In January 1982, Mr. Cheung joined R B2 R BTERE D
7T (Guangdong Branch of China Construction Bank*) and worked in
the Planning and Accounting Department till July 1983. From August
1983 to September 1984, he worked as the vice president of AP [ &
ER1TE M5 7T (Guangzhou Railway Branch of China Construction
Bank*). From October 1984 to July 1986 and from August 1986 to July
1991, Mr. Cheung served successively as a deputy director of the office
and a director of the office at  BI & 1T E R & 9 77 (Guangdong
Branch of China Construction Bank*). From August 1991 to November
1993 and from December 1993 to June 1995, he successively worked
as the president of REIEIRITERAZEE T H 1T (Zhaoging Branch
of China Construction Bank, Guangdong Province*) and the vice
president of B L R1TE R A 917 (Guangdong Branch of China
Construction Bank*). From July 1995 to September 1999 and from
October 1999 to April 2000, Mr. Cheung served successively as the
president of A B3 &% 3R 17 B N ™ % 47 (Guangzhou Branch of China
Construction Bank*) and the vice president of B2 HRIBITEERE H
77 (Guangdong Branch of China Construction Bank*). From May 2000
to July 2001, Mr. Cheung served as the vice president (responsible for
the overall operation) of El3ZZIRITERE 577 (Guangdong Branch
of China Construction Bank*). From August 2001 to May 2006, he
served as the general manager of X I T R Z B EEXELEBR QA
(Shenzhen Zhongyifu Industrial Development Co., Ltd.*). Mr. Cheung is
the chairman of & 45 &% XL Bl 5% |8 PR A & (Guangdong Jinsheng
Culture and Art Planning Co., Ltd.”).
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Mr. Ji Jiaqi (“Mr. Ji”)

Mr. Ji, aged 58, joined the Company as executive president on 20
February 2017. Mr. Ji has over 20 years of experience in scientific
research and practical work on risk control and investment operation
in financial market. Mr. Ji holds a Bachelor's Degree in Science from
South China Normal University, a Postgraduate Degree in Economics
from the Communist Party School in Guangdong and a Doctoral
Degree in Finance from College of Economics of Jinan University.
He has published numerous articles in major periodicals relating to
financial and public management sectors. He once worked in provincial
governments, universities, and engaged in the bankruptcy works of
(& 3 B R 12 5E % & A 7)) Guangdong International Trust Investment
Corporation* and reorganization of Guangdong Holdings Limited.
He is currently an adjunct professor of Tsinghua University and Jinan
University respectively, and also a distinguished visiting professor of
Central University of Finance and Economics.

Ms. Kuang Yating (“Ms. Kuang”)

Ms. Kuang, aged 35, joined the Company as an investment analyst
on 3 January 2017. Ms. Kuang has 5 years of experience in data
analysis, corporate finance and investment management. Ms. Kuang
holds a Dual Bachelor’'s Degree in Management and Law from Jinan
University, a Master's Degree in Finance from University of Bath,
England. She was granted the international mathematical modelling
award. She obtained the Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) and
Financial Risk Manager (FRM) Licenses and is a member of the HK
Society of Financial Analysts. She worked at the group business unit
of China Construction Bank Corporation, specializing in constructing
performance models for banks and provision of investment and
financing proposals for clients.
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The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance and has introduced corporate governance
practices appropriate to the conduct and growth of its business.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and the code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the
Stock Exchange.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company complied with all code
provisions of the CG Code during the year ended 31 March 2025
except for certain deviations disclosed in this report.

The Board leads to establish, promote and continually reinforce the
desired corporate culture of the Company which is underpinned by
our corporate values of committing the highest standard of business
ethics and integrity. Our sound corporate culture reaches all levels of
the Group, and aligns with the Company’s mission, corporate values
and strategies.

The Company has adopted the Model Code (the “Model Code”) for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct for securities
transactions by Directors during the year ended 31 March 2025.
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On 30 April 2024, the Company was informed by Mr. Li Kwong Yuk
(“Mr. Li"), the substantial shareholder and a director of the Company’s
subsidiaries, that he had acquired interests of an aggregate of
20,000 shares of the Company for an aggregate consideration of
HK$5,350 (excluding the relevant transaction fees) at an average
price of HK$0.2675 per share on 29 April 2024 (“Transaction 17).
On 30 October 2024, the Company was informed that Mr. Li had
acquired interests of an aggregate of 75,000 shares of the Company
for an aggregate consideration of HK$34,925 (excluding the relevant
transaction fees) at an average price of HK$0.4657 per share on 29
October 2024 (“Transaction 2”). As a director of the Company’s
subsidiaries, Mr. Li was prohibited from dealing in the securities of
the Company during the blackout period (being (i) the period from
28 April 2024 up to the date of publication of the announcement of
annual results for the year ended 31 March 2024 on 27 June 2024;
and (i) the period from 28 October 2024 up to the date of publication
of the announcement of interim results for the six months ended 30
September 2024 on 27 November 2024).

Mr. Li voluntarily and immediately notified the Company of the
Transactions after he realized the Transaction 1 and Transaction 2
(collectively the “Transactions”) were conducted during the blackout
period. He apologised for the inadvertent oversight of instructing the
broker to place orders for the Transactions and acknowledged that he
had breached Rules A.3 and B.8 of the Model Code. Mr. Li confirmed
that: (i) he did not possess any inside information of the Company that
is required but not yet disclosed at the time of the Transactions; and
(i) he undertook to donate any gain (if any) from the acquisition and
future sale (outside of the blackout period) of the relevant shares of the
Company under the Transactions for charitable purpose.

In order to avoid similar incidents in the future, the Company will
continue to implement the following actions: () remind all Directors and
employees of the Group the importance of complying with Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules in their dealings of the shares of the Company and
in particular the importance of giving written notice prior to conducting
any intended dealings; (ii) remind all Directors and employees of the
Group to instruct their respective brokers to refrain from processing and
carrying out any instructions for dealings in the shares of the Company
by Directors and employees of the Group during any prohibition period
under Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules; and (i) provide briefings
to develop and refresh the Directors’ knowledge and enhance their
awareness of good corporate governance practices, including a
refresher course as to the directors’ duties, corporate governance and
the Model Code.
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Save as disclosed above, having made specific enquiries to all the
Directors, all of the them have confirmed that they complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended
31 March 2025.

The overall management of the business of the Company is vested
in the Board, which assumes the responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company and is collectively responsible for promoting
the success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs.
All Directors should make decisions objectively in the interests of the
Company and the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
as a whole. The Board has delegated the power to oversee the daily
operational matters of the Group to the management of the Company
under the supervision of the Board.

The functions of the Board are carried out either directly or through the
Board committees. To ensure the Board is in a position to exercise its
power in an informed manner, all members of the Board have full and
timely access to all relevant information and may seek independent
professional advice if necessary.

The Board has full support from the Chief Executive Officer and the
management of the Company to discharge its responsibilities.

Appropriate insurance cover for the Directors’ liabilities in respect of
legal actions against the Directors and senior management of the Group
arising out of corporate activities of the Group has been arranged.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
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During the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this report,
the Board comprised the following Directors and their respective roles
are set out as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Su Xiaonong (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned as the Acting Chairman on 15 October 2024)
Mr. Zeng Shan (appointed on 15 October 2024)
Mr. Wang Xiaohua (resigned on 15 October 2024)
Mr. Ho Cheong Hang Edmond (resigned on 15 October 2024)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yue Ying (Chairman) (appointed on 15 October 2024)
Ms. Liu Miaomiao (appointed on 23 December 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chow Shiu Ki

Mr. Ip Chi Wai

Mr. Cheung Chi Wai (appointed on 23 December 2024)
Mr. Cao Kuangyu (resigned on 23 December 2024)

Mr. Zeng Shan and Mr. Yue Ying, who were appointed as an executive
Director and a non-executive Director respectively on 15 October
2024, confirmed that they both had obtained the legal advice referred
to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 11 September 2024. Ms.
Liu Miaomiao and Mr. Cheung Chi Wai, who were appointed as a
non-executive Director and an independent non-executive Director
respectively on 23 December 2024, confirmed that they had obtained
the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on
18 December 2024 and 18 October 2024 respectively. All the
abovementioned Directors understood their obligations as Directors of
the Company.

The biographical details of each current Director are set out in the
“Directors and Senior Management Profile” in this annual report.
Their roles and functions are published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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The Board possesses a balance of skills and experience which are
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company. A
balanced composition of executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors also generates a strong independent element on
the Board, which allows independent and objective decision making
process for the best interest of the Company. The Company will review
the composition of the Board regularly to ensure the Board possesses
the appropriate and necessary expertise, skills and experience to meet
the needs of the business development of the Group.

Mr. Chow Shiu Ki and Mr. Ip Chi Wai have served on the Board for more
than nine years. They have clearly demonstrated diligence and their
willingness to exercise independent judgement and provide objective
opinions to the management of the Company. There is no evidence that
length of tenure has any adverse impact on their independence. The
Board therefore considers that Mr. Chow Shiu Ki and Mr. Ip Chi Wai
remain independent, notwithstanding the length of their tenure.

The Company has received a written annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive Directors
in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and considers all independent non-executive Directors
to be independent.

The Company has put in place mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. This is achieved by giving
Directors access to external independent professional advice from legal
advisers and auditors, as well as the attendance of all independent
non-executive Directors at almost all the meetings of the Board and
its relevant committees held during the year ended 31 March 2025.
The Board reviews the implementation and effectiveness of the
aforementioned mechanisms on an annual basis.
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The Board meets either in person or through other electronic means of
communication to monitor the execution of plans, review the Group’s
business performance and review financial reporting as well as all other
material matters. The Board held 9 meetings during the year ended
31 March 2025. Individual attendance records of each Director at the
Board meetings are set out in the table on pages 39 and 40 of this
report. Under code provision C.5.3 of the CG Code, notice of at least
14 days should be given of a regular board meeting to give all directors
an opportunity to attend. During the year ended 31 March 2025, 7
Board meetings were convened with less than 14 days’ notice to
facilitate the Directors’ timely reaction and expeditious decision making
process in respect of internal affairs of the Group. All Board meetings,
nevertheless, were duly convened and held in the way prescribed
by the Bye-laws of the Company. The Board will use reasonable
endeavour to meet the requirement of code provision C.5.3 of the CG
Code in future. Minutes of the Board meetings and meetings of the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee were sent to all Directors for comments and approval.
The signed minutes of the said meetings are open to inspection by all
Directors. If a substantial Shareholder or a Director has a conflict of
interest in a matter to be considered by the Board which the Board has
determined to be material, the matters will be dealt with by a Board
meeting rather than written resolutions and the Board will ensure that an
adequate number of independent non-executive Directors are involved
in the consideration of the relevant matters. Independent non-executive
Directors are encouraged to take an active role in the Board meetings.

There is no relationship, including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships, among the Board members.

Newly appointed Directors are provided with an induction after
their appointment so as to ensure that they have an appropriate
understanding of the Group’s business and of their duties and
responsibilities under the Listing Rules and the relevant statutory
and regulatory requirements. The Company provides regular
updates on the business performance of the Group to the Directors.
The Directors are continually updated on the latest development
regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable statutory
requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of good corporate
governance practices.
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The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development by way of attending training and/or seminars organised
by professional organisations and director training webcasts organised
by the Stock Exchange and also reading materials for updating new
practices, rules and regulations to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. According to the records maintained by the Company, the
training that the Directors received for the year ended 31 March 2025 is
summarized below:

RABSBEFFE B2 NERALATEBRNIEI
R/ E - B AR L EREIIARE
MM ER R RERNEEN N2 BSERX
TR - UBRNMEHRE 2 MBI - RIEAR
ARFZLE  EEREE_T_RAF=A=1t—
BIEFEERZEIBAmT

Training courses/
seminars/webcasts/

Name reading materials
AIEREE EERE

HE LA RREE

Executive Directors

BITESE

Mr. Su Xiaonong (Chief Executive Officer) v

BRI (TR AR

Mr. Zeng Shan (appointed on 15 October 2024) v

B EE(R=ZZS_NF+A+HBRERT)

Mr. Wang Xiaohua (resigned on 15 October 2024) N/A

FEELEE(R_T_NF+ATHBET) NiE A

Mr. Ho Cheong Hang Edmond (resigned on 15 October 2024) N/A

ME&EEE(R_E_MNF+HTHBBE) ANiE A

Non-executive Directors

ERITES

Mr. Yue Ying (Chairman) (appointed on 15 October 2024) v

FELAE(ERE) RZEZNF+A+RBEERT)

Ms. Liu Miaomiao (appointed on 23 December 2024) v

BEEatT(RZE-NFE+— A= +=HEZE)

Independent Non-executive Directors

BUFRTES

Mr. Chow Shiu Ki v

R4

Mr. Ip Chi Wai v

Mr. Cheung Chi Wai (appointed on 23 December 2024) v

REEEERZZNF+ A +=HEZT)

Mr. Cao Kuangyu (resigned on 23 December 2024) N/A

ERTAER_ZNF T A T=HEFHE) ANiE A
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Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual. During the period from 1 April 2024 to 14 October
2024, Mr. Su Xiaonong was the Acting Chairman of the Board and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Following the appointment of
Mr. Yue Ying as the Chairman of the Board in place of Mr. Su Xiaonong
on 15 October 2024, the roles of the Chairman of the Board and the
Chief Executive Officer are performed by Mr. Yue Ying and Mr. Su
Xiaonong, respectively. As such, the Company is in full compliance
with code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code. The Company has clearly
established the division of responsibilities between the Chairman of the
Board and the Chief Executive Officer, so that the balance of power and
authorization between the Board and the management of the Company
could be maintained.

The Chairman of the Board is responsible for overseeing the functions
of the Board and providing leadership for the Board while the Chief
Executive Officer is responsible for managing the businesses of the
Group.

Each independent non-executive Director has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a fixed term of two years from the
effective date of the service agreement which shall be automatically
renewed for one year from the expiry date of the term of office until
terminated by either party giving at least three months’ notice.

Each of the Directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a fixed term of two years from the effective date of the
service agreement which shall be automatically renewed for one year
from the expiry date of the term of office until terminated by either party
giving at least three months’ notice.

Under Bye-law 112(A) of the Company’s Bye-laws, at each annual
general meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time
being, (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation. Every
Director including those appointed for a specific term shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director
shall be eligible for re-election.
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The Board has established three committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee in order to maintain a high level of corporate governance
standard of the Company.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of reference in
compliance with the relevant code provisions of the CG Code.

During the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this report,
the Audit Committee comprised three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chow Shiu Ki (chairman of the Audit Committee),
Mr. Cao Kuangyu (resigned on 23 December 2024), Mr. Ip Chi Wai and
Mr. Cheung Chi Wai (appointed on 23 December 2024). The chairman
of the Audit Committee, Mr. Chow Shiu Ki, possesses appropriate
professional qualifications in finance and accounting and meets the
requirements of Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to review
and provide supervision over the financial reporting system and risk
management and internal control procedures of the Group and to
review the Company’s annual report and accounts and the interim
report and to provide advice and comments thereon to the Board.

Code provision D.3.3 stipulates that the audit committee must meet,
at least twice a year, with the Company’s auditor. Since the Company
did not engage its auditor to review the financial information in its
interim report for the six months ended 30 September 2024, the Audit
Committee met the Company’s auditor once during the review year to
discuss matters arising from the audit of the Company’s annual results
and other matters the auditor may wish to raise.

Details of the duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee are
set out in the “Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee” which are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Audit Committee performed
the following duties:

(@)

reviewed the annual audited financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2024 and the unaudited interim financial
statements of the Group for the six months ended 30 September
2024 with recommendations to the Board for approval;

reviewed the Group’s internal control review report and the
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) report of the
Group for the year 2023/2024;

considered the independent auditor’s engagement and
remuneration in relation to the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024;

reviewed the independent auditor’s independence and service
quality and recommended the Board to nominate the independent
auditor for re-appointment at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 26 September 2024 (the “2024 AGM”);

reviewed and was satisfied with the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programs and budget of
the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions; and

reviewed the appointment and terms of engagement of Confucius
International CPA Limited as the new independent auditor
and recommended the Board to approve the new auditor’s
appointment and remuneration.

The Audit Committee held 3 meetings during the year ended 31 March

2025. Individual attendance record of each member of the Audit

Committee is set out in the table on pages 39 and 40 of this report.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established with written terms of
reference in compliance with the relevant code provisions of the CG
Code.

During the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this
report, the Remuneration Committee comprised three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chow Shiu Ki (chairman of
the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Cao Kuangyu (resigned on 23
December 2024), Mr. Ip Chi Wai and Mr. Cheung Chi Wai (appointed
on 23 December 2024), and one executive Director, namely Mr. Su
Xiaonong.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include
but not limited to, making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of all Directors
and the senior management of the Company and establishment of
a formal and transparent procedure for developing the remuneration
policy. Details of the duties and responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee are set out in the “Terms of Reference of the Remuneration
Committee” which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

The remuneration policy of the Group aims to maintain an appropriate
balance between business performance and long-term sustainable
growth of the Group. In particular, no individual Board member or any of
his associates should participate in deciding his/her own remuneration.
The emoluments payable to Directors are determined by the Board with
reference to the Remuneration Committee’s recommendation as well as
the Directors’ performance, duties and responsibilities and the prevailing
market conditions.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Remuneration Committee
reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of the existing Directors and senior management of the
Company and the newly appointed Directors.

The Remuneration Committee held 3 meetings during the year ended
31 March 2025. Individual attendance record of each member of the
Remuneration Committee is set out in the table on pages 39 and 40 of
this report.
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Remuneration of Members of Senior Management by
Band

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of
the senior management by band for the year ended 31 March 2025 is
set out below:

Corporate Governance Report

B R G E
BERERNSRETERSRFTH
RIBEDEEATAZ FARXEE 56 HE=
ToRAFZ A+ ALFE  BBEROERE
BEREHMBEFIMT :

No. of employees

EEAR

Nil - HK$1,000,000 TE 1,000,000

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established with written terms of
reference in compliance with the relevant code provisions of the CG
Code.

During the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this report,
the Nomination Committee comprised the following members:

Executive Director

Mr. Su Xiaonong (chairman of Nomination Committee)
(resigned on 15 October 2024)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yue Ying (chairman of Nomination Committee)
(appointed on 15 October 2024)
Ms. Liu Miaomiao (appointed on 30 June 2025)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Chow Shiu Ki
Mr. Ip Chi Wai
Mr. Cheung Chi Wai (appointed on 30 June 2025)

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include
but not limited to, reviewing the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge, experience, length of service and
diversity of perspectives) of the Board at least annually and making
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategies. Details of the duties
and responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are set out in the
“Terms of Reference of the Nomination Committee” which are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieving diversity on the
Board. The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through
the consideration of a number of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All
Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

As at 31 March 2025, the Board comprised one female Director (non-
executive Director) and six male Directors (comprising two executive
Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent non-
executive Directors), representing one over seven of the Board’s
composition. The Board targets to maintain at least the current level of
female representation, with no immediate numerical targets as to the
number of female Directors on the Board. The management believes
that setting numerical targets and timelines for achieving gender
diversity on the Board is a valuable enterprise goal.

The Board, through the Nomination Committee, has reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and
confirms that the Board has an appropriate mix of skills and experience
to deliver the Company’s strategies.

As at 31 March 2025, approximately 40% of the Group’s workforce
was female. The Board considers that the Group’s workforce is diverse
in terms of gender. The table below summarizes the representation of
women at different position levels across the Group as at 31 March
2025.

EFeRMNEFENEZTER(EEENAS
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Level
BB
Senior

Gender Director Management Manager Employee
b 3:11 = SREER g =]
Male 6 3 10 140
St
Female 1 5 7 92
g

Note: The above data is calculated based on the total number of employees of the
Group as at 31 March 2025.
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The Board has also adopted a Directors’ nomination policy (the
“Nomination Policy”) to formally set out the criteria and nomination
procedures for the appointment of Directors and succession planning of
Directors. According to the Nomination Policy, the ultimate responsibility
for selection and appointment of Directors rests with the entire Board
or the Shareholders at a general meeting, as the case may be. The
Board has delegated the relevant screening and evaluation process
to the Nomination Committee, which identifies suitably qualified
candidates and recommends them to the Board. In assessing the
suitability of the proposed candidate, the Nomination Committee takes
into consideration the candidate’s character, integrity, competence,
skills, knowledge and experience relevant to the Group’s principal
business, devoting sufficient time and attention to the Board, fulfilment
of the independence requirements as set out in the Listing Rules (for
independent non-executive Directors) and diversity on the Board. After
reaching its decision, the Nomination Committee nominates relevant
Director candidates to the Board for approval of new appointment and/
or for consideration and recommendation in respect of re-appointment
of any existing Director(s) of the Board, for the proposed candidate
to stand for re-election at a general meeting. The Board will have the
final decision relating to its recommendation of candidates to stand for
re-election as Directors at annual general meetings.
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During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Nomination Committee
performed the following duties:

(@)  reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board;

(b) assessed the independence of all independent non-executive
Directors;

(c) reviewed the Board Diversity Policy;

(d) recommended to the Board on the nomination of retiring Directors
for re-election at the 2024 AGM; and

(e) recommended to the Board on the appointment of new Directors.

The Nomination Committee held 3 meetings during the year ended
31 March 2025. Individual attendance record of each member of the
Nomination Committee is set out in the table on pages 39 and 40 of
this report.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the fees paid/payable to the
Auditor in respect of audit services provided by the Auditor were as
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follows:

Amount

&8
Nature of services Auditor HK$’000
R¥ME BT BT T
Audit services — Confucius International CPA Limited 1,600
ZERTS —REBRBE B ERA R
Non-audit services — Confucius International CPA Limited -
IERZEARTE — X2ER SR ESERA
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During the year ended 31 March 2025, the individual attendance
records of the Directors at the Board meetings, the Audit Committee

meetings, the Remuneration Committee meetings, the Nomination

Committee meetings, the 2024 AGM and the special general meeting of
the Company (the “SGM”) held on 31 March 2025 are set out below:
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SHE AERHE
Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee
Name Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting 2024 AGM SGM
EEe ERERE FHERE REZRE o 1 2

<24 -{ il - Bl BREAEXE BEIEWIXE

Executive Directors

HITEE

Mr. Su Xiaonong 6/9 N/A 1/3 1/2 1/1 0/1

HEREE TEm

Mr. Zeng Shan (appointed on 3/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A 01
15 October 2024)

S EE(RZTmE TEA TEA TiEmA A
+A+HAEZE)

Mr. Wang Xiaohua (resigned on 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1 N/A
15 October 2024)

TERESE(R_TNEF TEA TEA TiER TNEH
+TA+RBET)

Mr. Ho Cheong Hang Edmond 3/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/ N/A
(resigned on 15 October 2024)

EEEE(R_T_HEF NER TEHR NiEH NiEA
+A+REHARHT)

Non-executive Directors

FUTES

Mr. Yue Ying (appointed on 3/4 N/A N/A 0/1 N/A 11
15 October 2024)

EEEE(R-Z-MEF TEm TER iR
+A+RAEZE)

Ms. Liu Miaomiao (appointed on 2/2 N/A N/A N/A N/A 0/1
23 December 2024)
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BN E
Attended/Eligible to attend
BHE SERHE
Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee
Name Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting 2024 AGM SGM
EFEg ERZRY FMERE REZRE - Jod 1 2
3 - - -f R BREFEXT BEREIXE
Independent non-executive
Directors
BIAFRTES
Mr. Chow Shiu Ki 9/9 3/3 3/3 3/3 11 11
RERLE
Mr. Ip Chi Wai 9/9 3/3 3/3 3/3 1/ 11
REREE
Mr. Cheung Chi Wai (appointed 1/2 11 0/0 N/A N/A 11
on 23 December 2024)
REREE(R-_T_MF TiE TEA
TZAZT=HEZA)
Mr. Cao Kuangyu (resigned on 2/6 1/2 1/2 N/A 11 N/A
23 December 2024)
BERTEE(R_T-_MF iR TiE R
TZAZ+=HET)

The Directors acknowledged their responsibility for the preparation of
the financial statements in accordance with the statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards. The Directors are not aware of
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may

cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a

going concern.

The statement by the Company’s auditor about their reporting
responsibilities for the financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2025 is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” of this annual

report.
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During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group complied with
Principle D.2 of the CG Code by establishing appropriate and effective
risk management and internal control systems. Management is
responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring of such
systems, while the Board oversees management in performing its duties
on an ongoing basis. Main features of the risk management and internal
control systems are described in the sections below:

Risk management system

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the risks
associated with its business and operations. The system comprises the
following phases:

° Identification: |dentify ownership of risks, business objectives and
risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

° Evaluation: Analyse the likelihood and impact of risks and evaluate
the risk portfolio accordingly.

° Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitoring of the
residual risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted during the year ended 31
March 2025, no significant risk was identified.

Internal control system

The Company has put in place an internal control system which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (“COS0”) 2013 framework. The framework
enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness and
efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting and compliance
with applicable laws and regulations. The components of the framework
are shown as follows:

° Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal control
across the Group.

° Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying
and analysing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives, forming a
basis for determining how risks should be managed.
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° Control Activities: Action established by policies and procedures
to help ensure that management directives to mitigate risks to the
achievement of objectives are carried out.

° Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information needed
to carry out day-to-day controls.

° Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each component of internal control is present and
functioning.

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside information,
and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and timeliness
of its public disclosures, the Group also adopts and implements an
inside information policy and procedures. Certain reasonable measures
have been taken from time to time to ensure that proper safeguards
exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the
Group, which include:

° The access to information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality.

o Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters
into significant negotiations.

o The executive Directors are designated persons who speak on
behalf of the Company when commmunicating with external parties
such as the media, analysts or investors.

o Reference can be made to inside information policy and
procedures for more details.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted during the year ended
31 March 2025, no significant control deficiency was identified.
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Review of effectiveness of risk management and
internal control systems

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Audit Committee, with the
delegated authority from the Board, has conducted an annual review of
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group including the relevant financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management procedures for identification, evaluation
and management of the significant risks (including ESG risks) faced by
the Group. Such systems are designed to provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against failure to achieve business objectives and
material misstatement or loss.

The Group’s internal audit (“IA”) function is performed by engaging
an independent professional firm which is independent of the Group’s
daily operations and carries out a review of the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control and risk management systems annually. The
independent professional firm engaged performed a review of the
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems for
the period from 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025. The review covered
all key controls and was based on inquiry, observation and analytical
review procedures supplemented by testing of transactions, reports
and reconciliation. The overall opinion on the internal control and risk
management systems of the Group is satisfactory.

An IA plan has been approved by the management of the Company.
According to the established plan, review of the risk management
and internal control systems is conducted annually and the results
are reported to the Board through the Audit Committee afterwards.

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and ensuring review of the effectiveness of these
systems is conducted annually. Several areas have been considered
during the Board’s reviews, which include but not limited to (i) the
changes in the nature and extent of significant risks since the last
annual review, and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its
business and the external environment; and (i) the scope and quality of
management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal control
systems.
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The Board, through its reviews and the reviews made by IA function and
the Audit Committee, concluded that the risk management and internal
control systems were effective and adequate. Such systems, however,
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. The Board also
considered that the resources, qualifications and experience of staff of
the Group’s accounting and financial reporting functions were adequate
and their training programmes and budget provided were sufficient.

The Group recognises the importance of climate change avoidance
and has developed internal strategies which aim at creating sustainable
value for its stakeholders and minimizing its negative impact on the
environment. To carry out the Group’s sustainability strategy from
top to bottom, the Board has ultimate responsibility for ensuring the
effectiveness of the Group’s ESG strategies, including those relating to
climate change.

Dedicated teams have been established within each business division
to manage ESG issues and monitor progress toward corporate goals of
addressing climate change. These teams are responsible for enforcing
and overseeing the implementation of relevant ESG policies throughout
the Group and have designated staff members to carry out these tasks.

The Group’s management and responsible teams regularly review
and adjust its sustainability policies to meet the evolving needs of
stakeholders, including those related to climate change. Detailed ESG risk
and information on the Group’s management approaches and specific
strategies adopted for environmental and social aspects including climate
change avoidance can be found in various sections of the ESG Report
of the Company dated 30 June 2025. The Board is satisfied with the
adequacy of the Group’s resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programs and budget relating to ESG performance and reporting.

The Company has appointed Mr. Chan Kwong Leung, Eric (“Mr.
Chan”) as the Company Secretary from an external secretarial service
provider. The primary corporate contact person at the Company with
the external secretarial service provider during the year was Mr. Su
Xiaonong, the executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer.

In accordance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Chan confirmed
that he took no less than 15 hours of the relevant professional training
during the year ended 31 March 2025.
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Rights to convene a special general meeting

Shareholders may convene a special general meeting (the “SGM”) of
the Company according to the Bye-Laws of the Company and the
provisions as set out in Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (the “Bermuda Act”). The Board shall, on the requisition of
Shareholders holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company as at the
date of the deposit carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company, forthwith proceed duly, to convene the SGM. The
requisition must state the purposes of the SGM, and must be signed
by the requisitionists and deposited at the principal place of business
in Hong Kong of the Company at Unit 2703, 27/F, Convention
Plaza — Office Tower, 1 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, and may
consist of several documents of similar form each signed by one or
more requisitionists.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of
the requisition proceed duly to convene the SGM, the requisitionists or
any of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights
of all of them, may themselves convene the SGM in accordance with
the provisions of Section 74(3) of the Bermuda Act, but any SGM so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of 3 months from the
said date.

Procedures for putting enquiries by the Shareholders
to the Board

The Company endeavors to maintain two-way communication with
the Shareholders through various channels. The Shareholders are
encouraged to put their enquiries about the Group through the
Company’s email at info@dingyi.hk or by mail to the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong at Unit 2703, 27/F, Convention
Plaza — Office Tower, 1 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. All the
enquiries are dealt with in a timely manner. The Shareholders are also
encouraged to attend the annual general meeting and the SGM and
to put their enquiries to the Board directly. Notices are duly circulated
to the Shareholders in order to ensure each Shareholder is informed
to attend the annual general meeting and the SGM. The Chairman
of the Board, the chairman of each of the Remuneration Committee,
the Nomination Committee and the Audit Committee, the senior
management and the Auditor will attend the annual general meeting
and respond to the Shareholders’ enquiries in a prompt manner. The
procedures for conducting a poll will be explained by the chairman of
the annual general meeting and the SGM orally at the beginning of the
aforesaid meetings.
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Procedures for putting forward proposals at the
general meetings

(i) Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Bermuda Act, either any
number of the Shareholders representing not less than one-
twentieth of the total voting rights of all the Shareholders having at
the date of the requisition a right to vote at the meeting to which
the requisition relates, or not less than 100 Shareholders, can
request the Company in writing to (a) give to the Shareholders
entitled to receive notice of the next annual general meeting of
any resolution which may properly be moved and is intended to
be moved at that meeting; and (b) circulate to the Shareholders
entitled to have notice of any general meeting sent to them any
statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the
matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to
be dealt with at that meeting.

Notice of any such intended resolution shall be deposited to the
above-stated principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong not less than six weeks before the meeting (in the case of
a requisition requiring notice of a resolution); and not less than
one week before the meeting (in the case of any other requisition)
together with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the relevant
expenses of the Company.

Upon receiving the requisition, the Company would take
appropriate actions and make necessary arrangements in
accordance with the requirements under the provisions as stated
in Sections 79 and 80 of the Bermuda Act.

(i)  For procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director, please refer to the information available on
the website of the Company at http://www.dingyi.hk.

The Company adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in
March 2019.

Under the Dividend Policy, the Company considers it appropriate to
align the dividend payments with profit and ensure that it is able to pay
dividend on a sustainable and affordable basis. The Company may
declare dividend in any financial year after taking into consideration the
Company’s financial position, liquidity and cash flow, capital requirement
for future growth, economic conditions and any other factors to be
considered by the Directors. The Company will declare dividend out of
retained profit under certain circumstances, and therefore there can be
no assurance that a dividend will be proposed or declared in any given
year.
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The Board communicates with the Shareholders and investors through
various channels. The Board members meet and communicate with
the Shareholders and investors at annual general meetings and other
general meetings where Shareholders can obtain a better understanding
of the business and operating performance of the Group. Corporate
communications (such as interim and annual reports, notices, circulars
and announcements) are sent to Shareholders in a timely manner and
are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Company has adopted the Shareholders Communication
Policy, which is available on the Company’s website and sets out
the Group’s objective of providing clear, full, accurate and timely
information about the Group to the Shareholders and the investing
community. The Board communicates directly with Shareholders
through annual and other general meetings. The Board reviewed the
Shareholders Communication Policy and the Shareholders and investor
engagement and communication activities conducted during the year
ended 31 March 2025 and was satisfied with the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders Communication Policy.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at http://www.dingyi.hk, where the Company’s business operations and
developments, financial information, corporate governance practices
and other information are posted.

There was no change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year ended 31 March 2025.
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DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED (the “Company”), together
with its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), is pleased to present
this Environmental, Social and Governance (the “ESG”) Report (the
“Report”) to provide an overview of the Group’s management of
significant issues affecting its operation, including environmental, social
and governance issues.

The objective of this Report is to highlight the Group’s ESG performance
for the purpose of assisting all stakeholders in understanding the
Group’s ESG concepts and practices in achieving sustainable
development for the future.

The Group is principally engaged in loan financing, securities trading
and properties development. At 31 March 2025, the Group has
completed the acquisition of Savor Dining Collective Limited and its
subsidiaries (“Savor Group”), which is primarily engaged in sale of food
and beverages in Shenzhen, the PRC. The environmental performance
of Savor Group has not been included in this Report. The Board of
Directors (the “Board”) acknowledged the responsibility for monitoring
and managing ESG-related risks and the effectiveness of the ESG
management system. The Board reviews and discusses the goals and
targets under the ESG initiatives to optimise efficient use of resources
and to minimise the impact on the environment and natural resources
from the Group’s operation on an annual basis.

Sustainable development is an integral part of the Group’s business
strategy in order to achieve business excellence and enhance
capabilities for long-term competitiveness. The Group is committed to
operating in a manner that is economically, socially and environmentally
sustainable while balancing the interests of various stakeholders and
fostering a positive impact on the society. The Group’s sustainability
strategy is based on compliance with the applicable legal requirements,
principle of sustainability and opinions from stakeholders. The Group
has established and implemented various policies to manage and
monitor the risks related to the environment, employment, operating
practices and community.

The Board believes that a sound environmental, social and governance
structure is vital for the continued sustainability and development of the
Group’s activities. The Group is willing to take more responsibilities for
the society but with a view to balancing the Shareholders’ interests and
the society’s benefits. The Group will continue to strengthen the efforts
in information collection for better performance in the ESG areas and
broader disclosure of related information in sustainable development.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Quality ESG governance is inextricably linked to the sustainable
development of business. The Board assumes the ESG management
responsibility of the Group. It is responsible for monitoring the
formulation and report of the ESG policy and identifying and controlling
the risks related to ESG to ensure appropriate ESG governance
policies are formulated. The Board delegates ESG management and
implementation powers to the management of each department,
and the management will implement the ESG policies and measures
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This Report is prepared in accordance with Appendix C2 of the Main NG TERBER ETARRMERC2—[IRE - &
VAN

Board Listing Rules —
Guide” and has complied with the “comply or explain” provision in the iR x

Listing Rules.

The Group has prepared this Report in accordance with the following

reporting principles:

“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting K&
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. Materiality: Important and relevant information to stakeholders on different ESG aspects is covered in the
Report. A materiality assessment was conducted to determine material ESG issues with results
approved by the Board.
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. Quantitative: The relevant standards, methodologies and assumptions used to prepare the quantitative
information is disclosed, as appropriate. Quantitative information is provided with narrative and
comparative figures, where possible.
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° Consistency: Consistent methodologies are used to prepare and present ESG data in the Report, unless
otherwise specified, to allow for meaningful comparisons.
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° Balance: The information is presented without the inappropriate use of selections, omissions or other forms
of manipulation that would influence a decision or judgment by the reader.
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This Report demonstrates the Group’s sustainability initiatives
during the reporting period from 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025 (the
“Reporting Period”). There was no material change to the methods
or key performance indicators (“KPIs”) used by the Group in previous
years. The Report focuses on the environmental and social performance
of the Group in Hong Kong and PRC during the Reporting Period and
the disclosure of relevant key performance indicators.

The Group values the opinions of our stakeholders have significant
value in improving the ESG performances. Therefore, we are committed
to effective communication with different stakeholders through a variety
of communication channels to listen and respond to the expectations
and requirements of the stakeholders.

The Group acknowledges the importance of intelligence gained from
the stakeholders’ insights, inquiries and continuous interest in the
Group’s business activities. The Group has identified key stakeholders
that are important to the Group’s business and established various
channels for communication. The following table provides an overview
of the Group’s key stakeholders, and various platforms and methods of
communication are used to reach, listen and respond.

Key stakeholders Main concerns
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Channels for communication/response

BB EERE

Government and regulatory

Compliance with laws and

authorities regulations
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Shareholders - Operation performance
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- Risk management
- RRERE
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- Announcement and other regulatory

reports
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- General meeting

- BRKRE

- Company’s announcements
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- Email and telephone communications

- EBREEEM

- Company’s website
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Key stakeholders
EEHHE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Main concerns

EFRME
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Channels for communication/response

BB EERE

Suppliers/service providers

IR, RIS R G E

Customers
=P

Employees

EE

The Public

AR

- Close communication

- RYNER

- Order/contract execution
- BfTEREH

- Product quality

- EmEx

- Customer relationship
- BPBE

- Responsible investment
- BEARE

- Risk management

- RRERE

- Long-term career development
- REBXZHR

- Health and safety

- RBESEZE

- Remuneration and benefits

- B RAEN

- Staff training

-  BIEI

- Community service

- HERR%

Through general communication with stakeholders, the Group

understands the expectations and concerns of stakeholders. The

feedbacks obtained allow the Group to make more informed decisions,

and to better assess and manage the resulting impact.

The Group have adopted the principle of materiality in the ESG reporting

by understanding the key ESG issues that are important to the business

of the Group. All the key ESG issues and KPIs are reported in the

Report according to the recommendations of the ESG Reporting Guide
(Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules).

- Meetings
@iy
=

- Email and telephone communications

- EBREFEER

- Customer hotlines
- EPAR
- Suggestion box

- BRHE

- Email and telephone communications

~  EEREEEN

- Meetings

=

- Email and telephone communications

— EBLREFEBEM

- Company’s announcements

—  REARF

- Company’s website

—  RAAEUL

FEREFNEETRBE  ARETRIEN
HIERET - PTEBSHNREZAEERMELE
RAEHEPRE - BRI R ER R EL R
g%& o

AEEERTHHUAKREEGN S BERMNRRER
% HekEREHE  RRE HeRERRSET
REEAMRA - RIFERE - LB REAREES
(LR AIMERC2) Mk - AMERABERHIR
% e REAEEREREVUEIRIELER
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The Group has evaluated the materiality and importance of ESG aspects
through the following steps:

Step 1: Identification - Industry Benchmarking

o Relevant ESG areas were identified through the review of relevant
ESG reports of the local and international industry peers.

° The materiality of each ESG area was determined based on
the importance of each ESG area to the Group through internal
discussion of the management and the recommendation of the
ESG Reporting Code (Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules).

Step 2: Prioritisation — Stakeholder Engagement

° The Group discussed with key stakeholders about key ESG areas
identified above to ensure that all the key aspects were covered.

Step 3: Validation — Determining Material Issues

° Based on the discussion with key stakeholders and internal
discussion among the management, the Group’s management
ensured that all the key and material ESG areas, which were
important to the business development, were reported and in
compliance with ESG Reporting Guide.

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
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The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on this Report for
the Group’s sustainability initiatives. Please contact us by email at
info@dingyi.hk.

The Group is mainly involved in office operations and its business
activities do not have a significant impact on the environment or
natural resources. In spite of this, the Group are committed to
continuously improving the environmental sustainability of the
Group’s business and ensuring that environmental consideration
remains one of the key focuses in fulfilling the obligations to both
the environment and community. To demonstrate the commitment
to sustainable development, the Group have established relevant
emission reduction and energy-saving initiatives to manage the
emission and maintain green operations.

Throughout the year, the Group fully complied with all of the
relevant environmental laws and regulations in Hong Kong,
such as the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311),
the Sewage Services Ordinance (Chapter 463) and the Waste
Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354). Besides, during the Reporting
Period, the Group were not aware of any non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that had a significant impact on the
Group related to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste. The Group also regularly update with the
latest development of the applicable laws and regulations on
environmental protection.

A1. Emissions

Air emission control is essential to mitigate environmental
impacts and protect employees’ health. As the Group
is mainly involved in general office activities and our
management and staff avoided unnecessary travelling and
only took public transport for travelling, there are no air
emissions generated by the Group.

BN - g R RS

AEEEIRNDEHAREREAEE N FHELE
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Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions

The only source of GHG emissions of the Group was from
the purchased electricity. The GHG emissions decreased
significantly due to the completion of projects in the
property development business. The Group aims to reduce
or maintain the current GHG emissions at a stable level in
the next 3 years in the future compared to this Reporting
Period.

The pollutants emissions and GHG emissions of the Group
during the Reporting Period were as follows:

BERE(RERE BN
AERERRE RS HORRIER BRI
BEN - BERBHRARELD - 2H
RFEZEREGHIRB T TR - 84
HEHEMRL - AEENBFERERK
=FRK B AR ER BN D AR
FAEREKRT -

RIFEIME - REEOSRMPRE R
RERETHAT

Type of air pollutants Units 2025 2024
ERSRMIER B - - 5 —EmEF
Scope 2! tonnes of CO,-e 49.5 146
&[E mE— IR E &

Total GHG Emission tonnes of CO,-e 49.5 146
RERBESNE MR — LI E &

GHG Intensity tonnes of CO,-e/million of dollars 0.18 0.17

of revenue*
W_S(tiREE, 58T

B o n
m 2R R

it

P

1 Scope 2: Indirect emissions from the generation of purchased
electricity consumed by the Group.

* As at 31 March 2025, the Group revenue is HK$279.71 million.
This data will also be used for calculation of intensities.
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The Group does not consume a significant volume of water
in its daily operation due to its office-based nature, therefore
its business activities did not generate a material portion
of discharge into water. Since the sewage discharged by
the Group is discharged into the municipal sewage pipe
network to the regional water purification plant, water
consumed by the Group is considered sewage discharged.

The Group recognises the importance of waste reduction.
Waste management measures have been introduced to
minimise the amount of waste generated and reduce the
impact of the Group’s operation on the environment. Due to
the Group’s business operation nature, no hazardous waste
was generated during the Reporting Period.

Due to the nature of office operation, non-hazardous waste
was mainly attributed to domestic wastes of office. The
used ink cartridge in Hong Kong office are collected by
the supplier. Used batteries and light tubes are separated
from domestic waste and disposed at the designated
recycling bin. The Group strives to reduce the amount
of non-hazardous waste generated and strengthen the
environmental awareness of employees by introducing
various waste reduction measures and education as
mentioned in the section “Use of Resources” of this Report.
The Group aims to reduce or maintain the current non-
hazardous consumption at a stable level in the next 3 years
in the future compared to this Reporting Period.

The non-hazardous waste generated by the Group during
the Reporting Period was as follows:

BN - g R RS

HRAEENEENERRERAR
T HABRETHRKELTEX
BEERBALARELERERKIT
AR AR BB A5 KB E AT B 57K
EMEREDSIOFCR - AEBAFEK
AR VT IKBERR -

AREBARMBRE BRI - WEHTTE
EMEEERASERNELERER
K WREAEESEHREIRE -
ENAEENEBRLLENE - HEHHE

ENMAELENEE - BEEREYE
EREMAEEENIR - REBPAE
o BB E RS R R o E
B E LB E BRI KR D8R
B - WREBNIEENERAES - KN
BB EEERMELS  WES
SIARREERER | —Eiprat &
BMEEELHE LIRS RERENRERE
W o EAREHEAEL - AREBRER
RARKBER=F KB REEEZRYER
PHEFRIBEKFE -

RREHRE - AEREELNEEERY
LI

Type of waste Units 2025 2024
EEMER Ef ol ek 2 —E-mE
Non-hazardous waste tonnes 0.25 0.25
EmEREEY g

Non-hazardous waste intensity tonnes/million dollars of revenue <0.001 <0.001

BEBRRVTE ==Yl 6y

S0 4 IO 8 A B )
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A2. Use of Resources

The Group considers environmental protection as an
essential component of a sustainable and responsible
business. The Group has an in-depth understanding of
the importance of safeguarding sustainable development
of the environment and attaches importance to efficient
utilisation of resources by introducing various measures
in daily business operations. The Group understand that
staff participation is the key to achieving such goals. The
Group have adopted energy and water efficiency initiatives
policies to motivate the employees to participate in resource
conservation activities.

The Group is committed to upholding high environmental
standards in order to promote environmental friendliness.
Throughout the Group, the following actions have been
taken to reduce carbon and energy footprints:

- maintain the indoor temperature of offices at an
optimal temperature;

- adopt low-emissivity glass to block ultraviolet, which
in turn reduces the power consumption of the air

conditioning system;

- choosing environmentally friendly materials and
energy-saving lightings and electrical appliances;

- switch off idle electrical appliances; and

- regular maintenance and repair for motor vehicles to
lower energy waste.

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
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The energy consumption of the Group during the Reporting RS - AEBERREREFELNT ¢

Period was as follows:

Energy consumption Units 2025 2024
RERE B Efr ot~ Jo -2 —E_mEF
Purchased electricity MWh 84 254
BAE JKFLIE

Total energy consumption MWh 84 254
RERBERES JK LB

Energy intensity MWh/million dollars of revenue 0.3 0.3
BEIREE JKELRE, B BT

The Group aims to reduce or maintain the current energy BARNIR A HARIARLL - ANEEEE AN
consumption at the stable level in the next 3 years in the KBE=FBATeEEREFER k4
future compared to this Reporting Period. HRETE/KE -

S0 4 IO 8 A B )
CZERIThEFR
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Water is an important natural resource. The business of
the Group is operated in leased office premises where the
water supply is solely controlled and centrally managed
by the building management company. In this case, it is
not feasible for us to provide water consumption data as
there is no separate meter for each individual office unit
to record water usage data. In spite of this, we still activity
seek ways to reduce water consumption in daily operation
by encouraging employees to turn taps off tightly to prevent
dripping of water and giving priority to effective water-saving
products. As said, due to the Group’s office-based business
nature, there is no issue in water sourcing. The water
consumption of the Group during the Reporting Period was

RKEREENARER - AEEREE
MAGFRERS  fUKEXBTER
RAEEGIRERER  FEIIBERT -
PR REFREE - REESEHRA
B8 7 I % BB RR B KSR DA RS8R AR K 8L
e BENL - RAEBEEIESRH
SOKBESALAR LERIK - I R A AR
MEmM @ BRERDEHD A EZED
MFEZKE o IPAEFrAl - EERAKER
EBMEEUNERRERARE - WELK
BUKIREOFEE » RS HfE - AEEH
FKEWT :

as follows:

Water consumption Units 2025 2024
#KE B —ERF —E-mE
Water m?® 4216 3,833
AKX RSB

Water intensity mé/million dollars of revenue 15.1 4
FkE2RE SR BB T

The Group aims to reduce or maintain the current water
consumption at a stable level in the next 3 years compared
to this Reporting Period.

Due to the business nature, the Group does not consume
a significant amount of product packaging materials as the
Group does not have any industrial productions nor any
manufacturing facilities.
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The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group understands that implementing environmental
protection can reduce operational risk and increase
business opportunities. Regarding the business nature
of the Group, the Group do not aware of any significant
impact of the business activities on the environment and
natural resources. Despite this, the Group endeavour to
consistently improve the environmental performance by
implementing the aforementioned waste reduction measures
and resource-saving initiatives. The Group will continue to
seek opportunities to further reduce emissions and resource
consumption with the aim to reduce the impacts on the
environment and natural resources to minimal.

Climate Change

With the acceleration of global warming, the significance
of climate change is increasing, and climate change has
become the most challenging global issue. Combining the
climate change scenario, the Group analyzed its risks and
opportunities in the face of climate change and disclosed
information related to climate change.

The Group identified climate risks in the aspect of transition
and physical risks by considering the possible impact of
climate change and the industrial characteristics.

A3.

A4.
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Aspects in
BEAE

Climate change risks

WS L RBE

Major impacts
FERE

Laws and regulations

SRR

Technology
i

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
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Emission targets and policies

BB IR REBER

Technological innovation and
product R&D
Bt gl K E am At B

Steel and building materials will soon be included
in the scope of the second batch of mandatory
carbon trading, which may increase the
construction costs.

i SR MBS AR L REIIRRFEH
BT RE RGN EEAN R o

By interpreting the existing laws and regulations,
the requirements for the building will be stricter,
which may increase our operating costs.
RAHIREERERNEE  HEENBRKEE
INERAS - BRI RE B IE INFFIEEE R o

The requirement of green construction in China
in the future will increase costs in building design
and construction investment.

AR A B 4 0 R SR ) B SIGRE IR SRR T M
TIRERIKA o

Reduction in carbon emission from buildings
through investment and research and
development of new construction technologies.
RBIRE M RTRERM - R DR E AR
B e

In the climate change environment, low-carbon
emission technologies related to building design
and construction have developed rapidly, and the
costs of independent research and development
have been reduced. However, the competition
with other advanced enterprises will become
fierce.

ERIERECARIET - BEEERGHMETAERE
EVERBRBE R B R AR - B R ERARRE -
SR - BRH A SR AR R A B AR
Possibility of failure in the investment in new
low-carbon and environmental protection
technologies.

IEBERRIT MR E KR AT BENE -
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Aspects in Climate change risks Major impacts
ARAE FIRE LRz FERE
Market Changes in customer behaviour e The increase in the demand for environmental-
% BEEITAMNE friendly and low-carbon products leads to a
reduction in demand for our products.
o HRRREWMEROFTIIENM  ERHHMER
SESS U
° Development of sustainable buildings to meet
the demand of customers.
o  FEANERE  WMREEPFX-
Reputation Changes in investor evaluation e Investors’ expectations increase. Failure to
BE HEETENEL improve/upgrade in time would bring adverse
impact to the Group.
o REENHBEERES - MR RFICE R
REEAEETRINTZE -
Aspects in Climate change risks Major impacts
ARBE RIRSLRBE FEXRE
Acute risks Frequent abnormal climate o Frequent typhoons, rainstorms, floods, droughts
St E ke phenomena and other abnormal climate phenomena will
BEERIFIRR A% affect the construction process and affect the

Chronic risks

2= b

Rise in average temperature

FHRB LT

transportation, use and storage of raw materials,
leading to delays in the construction period of
the project.

o MAEHRE - BN K HEZFEFRERR
SYEBITER  ZTERMANESR - R R
7 BRUEE THERR -

° Abnormal climate phenomena may lead to
damage to buildings and generate corresponding
repair costs.

e ERFRRBERALEHNEEMTE  WELHRE
BEIEER -

° The temperature rise will increase the burden on
energy consumption and workers, resulting in an
increase in the costs of operation.

o RAEASKENEREELIANEE BIE
BRI -

S0 4 IO 8 A B )
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In view of the project risks brought by climate change and
extreme weather, the Group focused on severe climate
dynamics such as typhoons, rainstorms, high temperatures
and severe convective weather, and organized various
special inspections in a targeted manner to detect the
potential quality and safety risks and minimize the impact
of extreme weather on project progress and quality. Notice
on Strengthening Construction Management in Winter,
which proposed specific winter construction measures,
is implemented. The notice is applicable to all projects
and provides guidelines for taking heat preservation and
anti-freezing measures in different construction stages to
eliminate construction quality and safety risks in winter and
prevent quality and safety accidents; all city companies also
formulated detailed response plans according to the local
situation.

Employment and Labour Practices

All labour-related issues in terms of compensation,
working hours, rest periods, recruitment and promotion,
dismissal procedures, equal opportunity, diversity and anti-
discrimination are in compliance with the Employment
Ordinance in Hong Kong, the Labour Law of the PRC.

The Group is committed to creating a working atmosphere
free of discrimination and harassment. Discriminatory acts
or motives in all phases of employment on the grounds
of nationality, physical ability, gender, age and any other
legally protected status are strictly prohibited in the
Group. Employees are encouraged to report any unlawful
discrimination or any form of harassment. The Group
investigates expeditiously and takes appropriate corrective
actions once we have confirmed the allegations.

The Group strives to maintain the employee turnover rate
at an acceptable level so as to facilitate the accumulation
of professional skills and experience. During the Reporting
Period, the Group did not become aware of any material
non-compliance relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods,
equal opportunity, diversity, discriminations.
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As at 31 March 2025, the employee compositions (in
numbers of employees, excluding independent non-

executive directors) by gender, employee category, age

RZTE-_RF=R=+—0H &5 -
RBERER - FHeARR K IE & I S 75 7Y
REMAK(AEE (T BIBBUIFNTE

group and geographical region were as follows: E)HERE)NT
2025 2024

Employee structure EERS —E_RE —E U4
By gender ZIER

Male EElEs 159 32

Female egi 105 17
By age JZF

Aged below 30 30R% AT 138 9

Aged 30-50 302505% 92 26

Aged 51 or above 515%3 A = 34 14
By employment type #E S 257

Full time 28 252 49

Part time Fe 12 -
By employment category =lES S

Senior management SREERE 8 7

Middle management FREREE 26 4

General staff —fRET 230 38
By geographical region FEHYFE [ 15

PRC ae 248 35

Hong Kong B 15 14

Others Hith 1 -

SR E R A A

SR HARER
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The employee turnover rate was 16% during the Reporting
Period. The employee turnover rates by gender, age group
and geographical region during the Reporting Period were as

REpEHRE - BERAEE16% ° FAFR
HEAR - BRI - FRRAR R R IR I
EomERSMAERNT ¢

follows:
Units 2025

Employment EE B —E_REE
By gender =R

Male B4 % 10%

Female 7 % 9%
By age BRER

Aged below 30 305A T % 10%

Aged 30-50 30E505% % 9%

Aged 51 or above 51pRsk A £ % 29%
By geographical region BRI E

PRC HE % 18%

Hong Kong aBHE % /

Work safety is the key to the sustainable development of
the Group. We continue to strictly comply with the laws
and regulations related to occupational health and safety,
such as the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance,
in our endeavour to create a safe and healthy working
environment for employees. Rescue, fire and evacuation
drills are conducted regularly to increase employees’
awareness and involvement in accident prevention. The
Group also creates a pleasant and comfortable workplace
by carrying out various measures, including the provision
of adjustable seats and regular repair and maintenance of
office equipment.
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Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group has established and stringently implemented its
internal safety and health policies in line with the relevant
laws and regulations during the Reporting Period, including
but not limited to:

PRC Production Safety Law
o (RREEE)

BN - g R RS

BFERER

RIEMME - AEBRBERERER
BIREWEAE TR L R R FEER -

BIEETER :

Law on Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases

(BRI aE)

Regulation on Work-Related Injury Insurances

(TBRBRAED)

Hong Kong Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance
BB (BERREERED)

Occupational health and safety statistics

RERRRR2RMER

2025
k- = T —EUF

2024

Number of lost days due to work injury
EITGEENBEE

Number of work-related fatalities

HETEARMIET AR

Number of work injuries incident

TEHEEMRH

S0 4 IO 8 A B )
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The Group encourages employees to participate in
on-the-job training and continuing education to create
opportunity for career development. On-the-job training
is tailored to equip our workplace with the necessary
knowledge and skills relevant to work. Other than providing
diversified on-the-job training to employees and ensuring
employees meet the changing demands in the Group and
the market. By providing continuous training, employees
gain satisfaction and enjoyment from fulfilling their roles
and boost morale. Employees are required to comply
with continuous professional training and examination
requirements as stipulated in relevant regulations.

Due to the acquisition of Savor Dining at the end of
Reporting Period, the number of staff has significantly
increased and lead to the overall low participation rate of
training. The training details during the Reporting Period

AEE S B RS 2 BERSII RISEE
& REEER EUZ&&E% ° EH@H NE
BB TIESM MRS - Eﬁiﬁl
%’]ﬂfﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ;&&*ﬁf‘al{ﬂim o B&
THEJET LT U ERUED - IR
BRI AR E s L TR L
%*Z@I\ CREEREEY BITEET
BERSESHERNEE - BEHE
TR e EIM/ALTJ'*EEWWEJFFF%EEE’U
SEHEEEVIREAEL -

AR E IR YW EE Savor Dining * B
TAECKIEIE N - SRR TI2EEK
TB& o SRS HARIMEEIIFFBOT ¢

were as follows:

The percentage of employees trained BHENESRY

by gender ZiEREESL

Male S 7.5%
Female pegis 6.7%
The percentage of employees trained RERBENRSH

by employment category FIREEESL

General and frontline staff —MRREAIRET 3.5%
Management IR 23.5%
Average training hours for employees BHENRISH

by gender

& 8 F 19158

Male
Female

Average training hours for employees
by employment category

Eeyis
goglis

BRERSNTSH
& 8 F 19158

2 hours/| B
3 hours/| B

General and frontline staff
Management
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The operations of the Group require sophisticated
training in the field of finance and the planning of property
development. Hence the Group does not rely on labour or
involve in any labour-intensive work. As such, management
is certain that the Group would not be involved in child
or forced labour. Further, the employment policies of the
Group focus on the capabilities of the particular regardless
of personal traits such as gender or ethnic groups.

The Group has strictly complied with the Labour Contract
Law of the People’s Republic of China. Overtime work is
compensated in accordance with the relevant laws and
regulations. According to the Employment Ordinance of
Hong Kong and the Provisions on the Prohibition of Using
Child Labour and the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Protection of Minors and as stipulated by the
Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China in terms of
employment management, there is neither child nor forced
labour in the Group’s operation.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not aware of
any non-compliance with laws and regulations regarding
child labour and forced labour.

Operating Practices

The Group’s business nature is service-oriented. The
major supply chain business partners of the Group are
construction suppliers, contractors and other office services
suppliers. Apart from taking into account the factors such
as reputation, quality and the price-performance ratio of
suppliers, the Group also priorities suppliers with a similar
value in social responsibility and environmental protection
policy. During the Reporting Period, there are 30 designated
suppliers and qualified sub-contractors in PRC for the
business of property development.

The Group has a preference on choosing products with
higher recycling value, fewer packing materials and
higher energy efficiency. Under the principles of green
procurement, we also assess the use of materials constantly
to avoid overstocking and waste of resources.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BN - g R RS

The Group strives to create maximum value for our
customers to gain their trust and support. The Group
has outsourced the construction works in property
development projects to independent construction firms.
Thus, a comprehensive supply chain management is of
great importance for the provision of high-quality properties,
which can ensure that customers are healthy and safe.
The Group has implemented control measures at different
stages and scopes of operation to protect customers’
benefits and boost satisfaction. During the Reporting
Period, no properties sold are recalled for safety and health
reasons.

Further, internal control and compliance procedures are
in place to ensure compliance with all relevant laws and
regulations. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not
aware of any violation of any laws or regulations regarding
to the products and services we provided.

The Group has earned trusted relationships with its broad
customer base through providing dedicated customer
services. In order to provide quality service to our clients, the
Group communicates with our customers and confirms their
expectation and direction prior to project commencement
and actively coordinated with customers in the process of
providing service.

When customers lodge a complaint, the Group will make
every effort to investigate and resolve the disputes fairly
and promptly. During the Reporting Period, there are no
complaints received.

Being a service provider with a range of financial services,
the Group has access to significant financial information and
personal data of the lessee, clients and potential customers;
therefore, ensuring the privacy of customer information is
one of the issues the Group cares about the most.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The Group has formulated a set of privacy principal
in collection, retention, use, security, openness and
accessibility of information to ensure all lessees’ information
received is only for its intended purpose and to prevent
information leakage, such as:

- Access control to all information of lessees;

- Requiring employees not to retain and disclose any
confidential information about the Group’s business
and other sensitive, confidential data to any third
party; and

- Requiring employees not to obtain any unnecessary
information from the lessees and its associated
parties.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not notice any
violations of laws or regulations regarding customer data
protection and advertising relating to the services provided.

It is the unwavering principle of the Group to combat
corruption and advocate integrity and self-discipline. The
Group continues to strictly comply with the laws and
regulations relating to bribery prevention, extortion, fraud
and money laundering, such as the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance.

A mechanism for declaration of interest is in place by the
Group to prohibit employees engagement in any investment
activities that collide with the interest of the Group, and
requires employees to report any situations that may involve
conflict of direct or indirect interest with the Group. There
is also a whistle-blowing policy to provide a channel for
employees to report any suspicious cases of unethical
behaviours in writing. The Group would report the cases
to the authorities if the case was found to be sufficiently
supported with evidence. During the Reporting Period, no
legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the
issuer, the Group and our employees.
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The Group strictly implements a series of policies and
procedures to prevent and detect money laundering and
terrorist financing. Following measures have been taken to
prevent and detect money laundering and terrorist financing:

— carries out know-your-client procedures by verifying
customers’ identity with reference to a reliable and
independent source of documents;

- reports any suspicious transactions to the relevant
government department; and

- repayments and deposits are only made by cheque,
bank transfer with customers’ bank accounts.

During the Reporting Period, The Group did not become
aware of any non-compliances of laws and regulations
relating to corruption, fraud, money laundering and bribery
in Hong Kong and China.

Community

As a socially responsible company, the Group is committed
to understanding the needs of the communities in which
the Group operates. The Group actively advocate our
employees to seek opportunities to work with charitable
organizations and participate in various charitable activities
to draw the attention of the community and drive our
employees to further participate in community services.
The Group believes that through active participation in
community service activities, employees can develop a
sense of social responsibility and further enhance our
reputation as an active community builder.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to adhere to the
principle of responsibility to our shareholders, investors,
suppliers, customers and the public, seek further
development opportunities and maintain a harmonious
relationship with our stakeholders.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

BN - g R RS

Key Performance Indicators (KPls) Section

TEEE  BE - —REERPEBENEF(RREXER) =&

A. Environmental

ARIR

A1: Emissions

A1 BER)

General Disclosure “Emissions”

— MRk ER [HERR

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data “Emissions — Air Pollutant Emissions”
BRGETIEE  HRER AR B EUE [HER — ZE2 505 2 HER
A1.1

KPIA1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and, where appropriate, intensity “Emissions — Greenhouse Gas

BRENER  RERBAFHMER(HER)BE
A1.2
KPI'A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, where appropriate, intensity

BRENIER EAREEEDESER(MER)EE
A1.3
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and, where appropriate, intensity

RENIEER MMEAREEREVEENR(WMER)EE
Al.4
KPI A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results achieved

BAERIER  HIURE RS 0 b B PR R

A1.5

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled,
reduction initiatives and results achieved

BRERIEER  IHRERASRESEEVNE RS RFTERK

A1.6

Emission”

[BE— R = REEH MU

Not applicable — The Group
generates no hazardous waste.

NER - AERTEAEREEYE
H o

“Emissions — Hazardous and
Non-hazardous Wastes”

(B — R EREEREZEY ]

“Emissions — Greenhouse Gas
Emission”

[BE— R = REBHMU

“Emissions — Hazardous and
Non-hazardous Wastes”
[BE— B EREZTEEY
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)

FEER  BE  —RESRASKVEF(RRBENER)

Section

=

A2: Use of Resources

A2 : BIREER

General Disclosure

—ARIREE

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and intensity

BARIEMIRIR Ao mERR SRELREREREE

A2.1

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity
FREBIESR gEkerEE

A2.2

KPI' A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and

results achieved

BESRAEBURIR  Hauh AL IR S HE e R P AR S
A2.3
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for

purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved

PSRERUEIR  HtREERRR T A MR - AR b R
A2.4
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products and,

if applicable, with reference to per unit produced
PRERIER SN RAReRYROeER(MER)SEEBEE

A2.5

A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
A3 IRIERRAEIR
General Disclosure

—MRBEEE

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment
and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them

BRERIER R ERHBRRARE RN EAYEURFARNEE GRS

A3.1

EOESE)

A4: Climate Change
Ad - RIRE L
General Disclosure
—R R
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the

actions taken to manage them
M R AT RS EIT AR ENEARIERERE
RRIEZERENITE

BAREAIER
A4

A B T BRER

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025

“Use of Resources”

[&REMA]

“Use of Resources — Energy
Consumption”

[BREM —RERERE]

“Use of Resources — Water
Consumption”

[BIRER —HRE]

“Use of Resources — Energy
Consumption”

[BIREEM —REIRFER

“Use of Resources — Water
Consumption”

[BIREEM —KFEM ]

“Use of Resources — Use of
Packing Material”

[ERER—BEMEEM )

“The Environment and Natural
Resources”

[R5 R AAEIR]

No significant impact of activities
on the environment and natural
resources was noted.

WARBREBEBEIRIELRAE
TRHERTE -

“Climate Change”
[RARE L
“Climate Change”

MR
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

BN - g R RS

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section

TEEE  BE  —REESRPEEEFR(RBEXER) =i}

B. Social

B.it &

Employment and Labour Practices

EBRERBIER

B1: Employment

B1 : (&%

General Disclosure “Employment”

— MR IR [MEfR=]

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment category, age group “Employment”
and geographical region

BRENIEER MR BEER - FRER MR RIFE D HEB A [MEfR=]

B1.1

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and “Employment”
geographical region

BRESIEE RIER - FRARNRMERSESHEBRAE [MEfE]

B1.2

B2: Health and Safety

B2 : {#RRHZE

General Disclosure

— IR
KPI B2.1

BRI RUEIR
B2.1

KPI B2.2
FARARUEIR
B2.2

KPI B2.3

FARAARUEIR
B2.3

Number and rate of work-related fatalities

AT THHABKLLE

Lost days due to work injury

ATHBERTIERR

Description of occupational health and safety measures
adopted, how they are implemented and monitored
HAPAERE B E R 22 - BERERAR

“Health and Safety”

Rz 2 ]

No case of work-related fatality was
noted.

WARBRAEATTHAFER -

No case of work injury was noted.
W TIEER -

“Health and Safety”

MR E]
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section

FEER  BE  —RESRASKVEF(RRBENER) =

B3: Development and Training
B3 : #R& N5l

General Disclosure “Development and Training”
— MR FE [ B i al ]

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employee trained by gender and employee category “Development and Training”
BRENESR RURREEERIZEISHNXIEER DL [ B2/ K aEal ]

B3.1

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and “Development and Training”

employee category
BRERIER  RUFIRESRMNEIDHNEEE Tl X HIe TR 8 [ 3R R aEal ]
B3.2

B4: Labour Standards
B4 : B TR

General Disclosure “Labour Standards”
— R FE [ T2R]]
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child  “Labour Standards”
and forced labour
BRERIER R EEENNEEARRIEAETRAH ST [ 85 TR ]
B4.1
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered No non-compliance with relevant

laws and regulations related
to recruitment of child labour
or forced labour practices was

noted.
BRERUER AT EIRER BN BRZET AR 5 WARBERFMARETEHERET
B4.2 SkaR %8 1T AMMERERE R
B ©
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section

FEER  BE  —RESRASKRMEF(RRAENER) =&

Operating Practices

HETHR

B5: Supply Chain Management
B5 : g EIR

General Disclosure “Supply Chain Management”
—MRBEEE [fHAEsRE e |

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region “Supply Chain Management”
BENIER RMIREEREE S NHEREE [MrEEe ]

B5.1

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of “Supply Chain Management”

suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how they are
implemented and monitored

RREMIEER  WAZRHERNER  BERAEERNHEREE BrkERESA [HERERE ]

B5.2

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks ~ “Supply Chain Management”
along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored

BRENIEER  WAAURRIHERTREAEGARNER  ARBEEEREF  [HERERE ]

B5.3

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable “Supply Chain Management”
products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored

BRESIEER RN EEHEERRERRERMRBOER  URERKIER [HERER ]

B5.4 7R
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section

FEER  BE  —RESRASKRMEF(RRAENER) =&

B6: Product Responsibility
B6: EmAE

General Disclosure “Product Responsibility”

— MR FE [EmET]

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for No product sold or shipped subject
safety and health reasons to recalls for safety and health

reasons.

BEENER ChERbEEMERTEZ: MERRAMARKN A DL TEEHENHEERER S M

B6.1 FRIREmZARL -

KPI B6.2 Number of products and services related complaints received and how No products and services related
they are dealt with complaints received.

BRENIER ERAHERMRBORFREBNEE TR WARBEER BE m R IRFEVIRGR

B6.2

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual  “Product Responsibility”
property rights

BRERIER fiUET RREMBEENREER [EmEE]

B6.3

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures “Product Responsibility”

BRETIER B SRTRE RO [EmEfE]

B6.4

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, “Product Responsibility”
how they are implemented and monitored

BRENER  HUHBEERREREBEE - BEkERETA [EmEE]

B6.5
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section

FEER  BE  —RESRASKRMEF(RRAENER) =&

B7: Anti-corruption

B7 : RES

General Disclosure “Anti-corruption”

—RIRE [REF]

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought ~ No concluded legal case regarding

against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and corrupt practices was noted.
the outcomes of the case
BREMIER PREPANAETASEEERLNECARETEERABALRY IAEREDERNETEERNG -
B7.1 HER

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, “Anti-corruption”
how they are implemented and monitored

BRENIEER  WREDEERERET BERERESR &S]

B7.2

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors “Anti-corruption”
and staff

BRENIER  HWRRESRE TRENRESFE [RES]

B7.3

Community

Zan

B8: Community Investment

B8 : (@I E

General Disclosure “Community Investment”
—RRIRER HRIRE]
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, “Community Investment”

labour needs, health, culture, sport)
BREZUER EIERER(HE  REEH - BIHK B k- 8BE) [tt[RigE ]
B8.1

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area N/A
BRENIER HEISBEMBANER(INSERRRE) A5 A
B8.2
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Report of the Directors

HERFHREE

The Directors present this report together with the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s revenue and results for the year ended 31 March
2025 analysed by reportable segment are set out in Note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 is
provided in the Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and
Analysis of this annual report. An analysis of the Group’s performance
during the year under review using financial key performance indicators is
provided in the Financial Summary on page 2 of this annual report.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 103 of this
annual report. No interim dividend was paid during the year. The Board
does not recommend the payment of a final dividend in respect of the
year ended 31 March 2025.

Movement in the share capital during the year ended 31 March 2025 is
set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2025 are set out on pages 105 to 108 of this
annual report and Note 38(a) to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

As at 31 March 2025, there was no reserve for the Company which is
available for distribution to Shareholders (2024 nil).
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Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the
year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in Note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

A financial summary and the financial review of the Group are shown on
page 2 and on pages 16 to 18 respectively of this annual report.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the aggregate amount of revenue
attributable to the Group'’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 4% of the Group’s total revenue and the aggregate
amount of purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 86% of the Group’s total purchases.
None of the Directors, their associates nor any Shareholders (who,
to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the
Company'’s issued share capital) has any interest in the Group’s five
largest suppliers or five largest customers.

The Group employed 264 full-time staff under its subsidiaries globally
as at 31 March 2025 (2024: 49). Total staff costs amounted to
approximately HK$10 million for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024:
HK$9 million). The remuneration policies of the Group are reviewed
periodically on the basis of job nature, market trend, company
performance and individual performance. Other staff benefits include
bonuses awarded on a discretionary basis, retirement schemes and the
share option scheme of the Company.

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-Laws of the
Company although there are no restrictions against such rights under
the laws in Bermuda where the Company is incorporated.
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Report of the Directors

EHRGHRGE

The employees of the Group are one of the most important assets and
stakeholders of the Group and their contribution and support are highly
valued at all times. The Group regularly reviews compensation and
benefits policies with reference to industry benchmarks as well as the
individual performance of employees. Other fringe benefits, mandatory
provident fund and share options are provided to retain loyal employees
with the aim to form a professional staff and management team that
can bring different levels of success to the Group.

The Directors believe that maintaining good relationships with
customers has been one of the critical factors for the Group’s
success. Our business model is to maintain and build on our strong
relationships within our client base. Our mission is to provide the
finest services to our customers and the Group is constantly looking
for ways to improve customer relations through enhanced services.
Regarding the securities trading and loan financing businesses,
the Group has no major suppliers. Whereas regarding the other
principal businesses, the Group has maintained good relationships
with the suppliers to ensure their continued support to the Group in the
foreseeable future.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2025.
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The Directors who held office during the year ended 31 March 2025
and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Su Xiaonong (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned as the Acting Chairman on 15 October 2024)
Mr. Zeng Shan (appointed on 15 October 2024)
Mr. Wang Xiaohua (resigned on 15 October 2024)
Mr. Ho Cheong Hang Edmond (resigned on 15 October 2024)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Yue Ying (Chairman) (appointed on 15 October 2024)
Ms. Liu Miaomiao (appointed on 23 December 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chow Shiu Ki

Mr. Ip Chi Wai

Mr. Cheung Chi Wai (appointed on 23 December 2024)
Mr. Cao Kuangyu (resigned on 23 December 2024)

In accordance with bye-law 95 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Yue Ying, Mr.
Zeng Shan, Ms. Liu Miaomiao and Mr. Cheung Chi Wai shall hold
office only until the first annual general meeting of the Company after
their appointment. They, being eligible, have offered themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting (“2025 AGM”).

In accordance with bye-law 112 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Ip
Chi Wai shall retire from office and, being eligible, offer himself for re-
election at the 2025 AGM.

The following persons who have served on the boards of directors of
the subsidiaries of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2025
and up to the date of this report were:

Mr. Li Kwong Yuk
Mr. Su Xiaonong
Ms. Lo Kwan
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Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in
information of the Directors are set out below:

(@ The annual salary of Mr. Su Xianong has been adjusted to
approximately HK$651,000 with effect from 1 April 2024,

(o)  Mr. Ip Chi Wai retired as an independent non-executive director of
Haosen Fintech Group Limited (stock code: 3848), which is listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, with effect from 7 May
2025.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

The Company has received an annual written confirmation from each
of the existing independent non-executive Directors in respect of their
independence during the year ended 31 March 2025 and all of them
are still being considered to be independent.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party Transactions” as
set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements, no contracts
of significance relating to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year ended 31 March 2025.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company had no contract
entered into in respect of the management or administration of the
overall business or any material business.
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During the year ended 31 March 2025, none of the Directors had
interests in business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations,
within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”), which have been notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have
taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required to be
recorded in the register to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares and underlying
shares of the Company
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Approximate
percentage of
total number of

Number of issued shares

Name of Directors Capacity ordinary shares of the Company

F 3N

ERTE

gz

EEkR E4v] HERSE @ghaatt

(Note)

(B&E)

Mr. Su Xiaonong Beneficial owner 1,465,500 0.17%
EREER EmEAA

Mr. Zeng Shan Beneficial owner 20,546,500 2.42%

Bt E EmBAA

Note: Based on 850,678,301 ordinary shares of the Company in issue as at 31
March 2025.
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As at 31 March 2025, so far as is known to the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company, the interests and short positions of the
persons or corporations other than the Director or chief executive of
the Company, in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares and underlying

R-ZE-_RAF=A=1t—B BEARFAEEFRTE
TTBRABMA » THALTIER(RRAESSE
EITBA BRRIN AR BIRL ) SAE A AR () 70 P
BALHER AR BIREEH &S GG F 33617
EZERMAZERIARIT

RELFRBEREMKRGZIFE

shares of the Company

Name of substantial

Number of

Approximate
percentage of
total number of
issued shares

Shareholders Capacity ordinary shares of the Company
EF 0T
BERTER
Yz
TERFNE &8 5in BiEKSE EBHvES
(Note 1)
(FfF3E1)
Mr. Li Kwong Yuk Beneficial owner 26,757,000
THERE EmEEA
Interest of controlled corporation 299,314,540
SAEHEE R (Note 2)
(Mf7E2)
326,071,540 38.33%
Wincon Capital Investment Beneficial owner 297,967,040 35.03%
Limited BB A
KEEARZEGRAT
China State Shipbuilding Interest of controlled corporation 90,868,500 10.68%
Corporation Limited* (Note 4) AR 72
Bl AR E B BR A A (i EE4)
China Shipbuilding Capital Beneficial owner 90,868,500 10.68%

Limited (Note 4)
AR E AR B R AR (HF4)

* For identification purpose only

ESBAA
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Notes:

1. Based on 850,678,301 ordinary shares of the Company issued as at 31 March
2025.

2. These shares were held by Wincon Capital Investment Limited (“‘WCIL”) as
to 297,967,040 shares, Wincon Asset Management Limited (‘WAML”) as to
1,147,500 shares and Win Master Group Limited (“WMGL”") as to 200,000
shares. WCIL, WAML and WMGL were wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Li.
Pursuant to the SFO, Mr. Li was deemed to be interested in these 299,314,540
shares.

3. China Shipbuilding Capital Limited was wholly owned by FEIfifaE@RAR D
7] (China State Shipbuilding Corporation Limited*). By virtue of the SFO, # Bl
B ABRA ] (China State Shipbuilding Corporation Limited*) was deemed
to be interested in the shares of the Company held by China Shipbuilding
Capital Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, so far as is known to
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company, no other person
(other than the Director or chief executive of the Company) had interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO, or, were directly or indirectly, interested in 5%
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights
to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company.

Old Share Option Scheme

On 21 September 2012, the Shareholders approved the adoption
of the Old Share Option Scheme, which is valid and effective for a
period of ten years and expired on 20 September 2022. A summary of
the principal terms of the Old Share Option Scheme, as disclosed in
accordance with the Listing Rules, are as follows:

The purpose of the Old Share Option Scheme was to enable the Group

to grant the share options to the eligible participants as incentives or
rewards for their contribution to the Group.

* For identification purpose only
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Under the Old Share Option Scheme, the Directors may grant share
options to the following persons or entities (the “Eligible Participants”)
to subscribe for shares in accordance with the provisions of the Old
Share Option Scheme and the Listing Rules:

(@ any employee (whether full-time or part-time and including
the Directors) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries (the
“Subsidiaries”) or any entity in which any member of the Group
holds an equity interest (the “Invested Entity”);

(b)  any Directors (including non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors), any Subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

(c) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity;

(d) any customer of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(e) any person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support to any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity;

) any shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity or any holder of any securities issued by any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

(g0 any adviser (professional or otherwise), consultant, individual or
entity who in the opinion of the Directors has contributed or will
contribute to the growth and development of the Group;

(h)  any other group or classes of participants who have contributed
or may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or
other business arrangement to the development and growth of
the Group; and

(i) any company wholly-owned by one or more Eligible Participants.

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon
exercise of the share options and the share options granted under any
other share option scheme of the Group (including both exercised or
outstanding share options) to each grantee in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the issued shares of the Company for the time being.
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In respect of any particular option, such period as the Directors may
determine, may not be later than 10 years from the date of grant of the
relevant share options.

There is no minimum period required under the Old Share Option
Scheme for holding of the share options before it can be exercised.

An offer of the grant of an option shall remain open for acceptance for
a period of 21 days from the date of grant. An offer of the grant of the
option shall be regarded as having been accepted when the duplicate
of the letter by the grantee together with a remittance in favour of the
Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof is
received by the Company.

The exercise price shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheet on the date of grant; (i) the average closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of a share.

The Directors were entitled at any time within 10 years commencing on
21 September 2012 to make an offer for the grant of a share option.

As mentioned above, the Old Share Option Scheme expired on 20
September 2022 and the 73,530,607 share options, being the scheme
mandate limit of the Old Share Option Scheme and adjusted to reflect
the effect of the share consolidation completed on 22 August 2023
(the “Share Consolidation”), were refreshed at the annual general
meeting held on 18 September 2019 and none of these refreshed share
options were granted immediately before and upon the expiration of the
Old Share Option Scheme. However, there were 609,500,000 share
options granted on 11 April 2019 under the Old Share Option Scheme,
which were adjusted to 60,950,000 share options immediately after the
Share Consolidation becoming effective, has lapsed on 11 April 2024.
During the year ended 31 March 2025, no share options were granted,
exercised and cancelled under the Old Share Option Scheme. As at 31
March 2025, there were no share options remaining outstanding.
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The movements in the share options granted under the Old Share REBEZZ-_AF=A=1T—HIFEA RIEE
Option Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2025 are shown BIRET S MRE 2 BRE S EFBO TR

below: N
Number of share options
fiREsE
At Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed At Exercise price
Name or category 1 April during during during during 31 March Date of grant Validity period of share
of participant 2024 the year the year the year the year 2025  of share options of share options options
RZBZME RIZZIE  HEH
SHENZHER MA-B REREH REATE  RERER  REREN ZASt-R RHAM HREFNA BRETER
HKS per share
BIRER
Executive Director
BiTEs
Mr. Su Xiaonong 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000 - 11-04-2019 11-04-2019 o 10-04-2024 456
HERLE “E-NEEAT-E 0 ZE-NERAt-RE
“Z-MEMATA
Sub-total
st 5,000,000 - - - 5000000 -
Others
Rt
Employees 23,050,000 - - - 23,050,000 - 11042019 11-04-2019 0 10-04-2024 456
8 “E-NEEAT-8 0 ZE-NERAL-RE
“ZREMATA
Other eligible participants 32,900,000 - - - 32,900,000 - 11-04-2019 11-04-2019 to 10-04-2024 4,56
HtRERsEE “I-PEMAT-8 CE-AEMA+-RE
“ZCWEMATA
Sub-total
5t 55,950,000 - - - 55,950,000 -
Total
Ehy 60,950,000 - - - 60,950,000 -

The closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before the REEERERE BERARATIRO W ME S
date on which the share options were granted was HK$0.455 per B 0,455 (BREIR (D & HHE B AR R B RA4.55
share (adjusted to HK$4.55 immediately upon the Share Consolidation JT) °

becoming effective).
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New Share Option Scheme

On 3 November 2023, the Company adopted a new share option
scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) for a term of 10 years.
Under the New Share Option Scheme, the Board shall be entitled to
grant options to any eligible participant (as defined hereinafter) as the
Board may in its absolute discretion select.

Summary of the New Share Option Scheme disclosed in accordance
with the Listing Rules are set out below:

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to enable
the Board to grant share options to the eligible participants (as
defined hereinafter) as incentives or rewards for their contribution
or potential contribution to the Group. The basis of eligibility of
any of the Eligible Participants to the grant of Share Options shall
be determined by the Board from time to time on the basis of the
Board’s opinion as to his/her contribution or potential contribution
to the development and growth of the Group.

Eligible participants of the New Share Option Scheme include:

(i) the directors and employees (whether full time or part time)
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries (including persons
who are granted Share Options as an inducement to enter
into employment contracts with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries) (the “Employee Participants”); and

(i) the persons that fall into any one of the following categories
and who provide services to the Group on a continuing
and recurring basis in its ordinary and usual course of
business which are in the interests of the long-term growth
of the Group as determined by the Board (the “Service
Providers”).
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The total number of share options available for grant under the
scheme mandate of the New Share Option Scheme as at 1 April
2024 and as at 31 March 2025 was 73,567,830, representing
approximately 10% and 8.65% of the ordinary shares of the
Company in issue, respectively.

The total number of shares which may be allotted and issued in
respect of all share options or share awards available for grant to
Service Providers under the New Share Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme(s) or share award scheme(s) of the
Company (the “Service Provider Sublimit”) as at 1 April 2024
as at 31 March 2025 was 7,356,783, representing approximately
1% and 0.86% of the ordinary shares of the Company in issue,
respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, no share option was
granted under the New Share Option Scheme. Accordingly, as at
31 March 2025, there was no share option outstanding under the
New Share Option Scheme and no shares of the Company that
might be issued pursuant thereto.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares
available for issue under the New Share Option Scheme remained
at 73,567,830 shares, representing approximately 8.65% of the
ordinary shares of the Company in issue.

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued
in respect of all share options and share awards granted under the
New Share Option Scheme or any other share option scheme(s)
or share award scheme(s) of the Company (excluding any share
options and share awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of
the scheme) to each eligible participant in any 12-month period
up to and including the date of such grant must not exceed 1% of
the total number of shares in issue.
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(5)

(6)

(7)

®)

(9)

The period within which the share option may be
exercised by the Grantee under the New Share
Option Scheme

A period to be determined and notified by the Directors to the
Grantee and not more than 10 years from the date of offer of
share options (the “Offer Date”) to eligible participants.

The vesting period for options granted under the
New Share Option Scheme

The vesting period for share options granted under the New
Share Option Scheme must not be less than 12 months. Any
shorter vesting period in respect of share options granted to
Employee Participants must be approved by the Board and/or
the remuneration committee of the Company at the Directors’
discretion, provided that such Grantee(s) has been specifically
identified by the Board before granting such approval.

The vesting period for share options granted under the New
Share Option Scheme must not be less than 12 months in any
circumstances for any Service Providers.

The amount payable on application or
acceptance of the option and the period within
which payments or calls must or may be made
or loans for such purposes must be repaid

HK$1.00 is to be paid as consideration for the grant of share
options within 30 days from the Offer Date.

The basis of determining the exercise price of
share options granted

The exercise price in respect of any share option shall be at the
discretion of the Directors, provided that it must be at least the
highest of (a) the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the Offer
Date; (b) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the
daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the Offer Date; and (c) the
nominal value of the shares on the Offer Date.

The remaining life of the New Share Option
Scheme

The New Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing on the date of adoption (i.e. 3
November 2023) and expiring at the close of business on the day
immediately preceding the tenth anniversary thereof.

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

Report of the Directors

HEHREHRGE

A% A AR 8 7 AR B 4 A B o] 1T B
Rt AR

BHESETAENBRARALTERES
AAEMSZEEFEHBEREENZ AR
WA/ ) EFH0FA R -

1R 0 AR 1 O R BR
B

FrEm Rt 8RR TR BN BB A
TOR12E A - AR 8 2 8RE R R R R
ARG EBHRACESHERE MEE
FER/RADFHMNEESHA - EAMH
ERNEREF SR BRLERAEETE -

AR BR A PR AR B AR BT RS R R 813 th /O P
Rty i B AR T AR 12(E
ﬂ o]

T8 B R B H5 0 G B 4R 5 B o AR BT
REA T RRBfE BB AR A R B R
ERRRARRE KRR

824 B 0RA X B E1.007TER
BT BERENNKE -

EEC S HEA TR RS

TRBRENITEEAREFTHRRE
AELBUATEENERE  @RENA
Hl - XA EMANE R RERMIIGBRN K
ME: OBEZZEHRPAIREESEE - B
R EMOT B RERMAIIGBD FU
B RBOHREHAMZEE -

WM BRI T

HERERTE S ARAAR(BI T =%
T—A=ZR)EFOFHEANBE R LR -
AR & at 8B F B — K& KIS A R
JEm o

S0 AR IO A PR )
SR HARER

91



92

Report of the Directors

EHRGHRGE

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the normal course
of business of the Group are set out in Note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements. None of the related party transactions constituted
discloseable non-exempt connected transaction or non-exempt
continuing connected transaction under the Listing Rules.

Details of the Company’s retirement benefits scheme are set out in
Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “SHARE OPTION SCHEME”
on pages 85 to 91 of this report, at no time during the year ended
31 March 2025 were rights to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to
any Directors or their respective spouses or minor children, or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its
holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other
body corporate.

Full details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set
out on pages 24 to 47 of this annual report.

The Group is committed to reducing its carbon footprint and
consumption of natural resources in all possible aspects of business
operations. Its environmental strategy is to achieve a balance between
the quality and efficiency of our services and the minimization of
greenhouse gas emissions and environmental degradation. Accordingly,
the Group has taken a proactive approach to internal and external
communication by means of telephone, emails and conferences or such
other communication means which are efficient yet environmentally
friendly. Also, the Group is able to minimize travelling and printing.

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025
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Detailed information about the Group’s environmental policies and
performance for the year ended 31 March 2025 is set out in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 48 to 77 of this
annual report.

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group include strategic,
operational and financial risks.

Strategic risks

The Directors maintain a strategic plan based on their knowledge of the
external environments. The Group will invest in projects and investments
based on the strategic plan in order to cope with the market demand
and expectation. Given the rapid change of unforeseeable external
environments in the financial and equity markets, the Group is facing
significant strategic risks to its investments when changing the strategic
plans to adapt to the unexpected changes of external environments.

Operational risks
Management regularly reviews the Group’s operations to ensure that
the Group’s risk of losses, whether financial or otherwise, resulting from
fraud, errors, omissions and other operational and compliance matters,
is adequately managed.

Financial risks

The principal financial risks are set out in Note 32(b) to the consolidated
financial statements headed “FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS” -
risk management objectives and policies”.

“Financial

Save for disclosed in the section headed the section headed “SHARE
OPTION SCHEME” on pages 85 to 91 of this report, the Company did
not enter into any equity-linked agreements during the year ended 31
March 2025.
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Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, every Director or other officer of
the Company and the liquidator or trustees (if any) for the time being of
the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities, which he may sustain or incur in
or about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation
thereto. The Company has taken out insurance against all losses and
liabilities associated with defending any proceedings which may be
brought against Directors and other officers of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company was not aware of
any non-compliance with any relevant laws and regulations that had a
significant impact on it.

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules as at the latest
practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report.

Elite Partners CPA Limited retired as the auditor of the Company upon
expiration of its term of office at the conclusion of the 2024 AGM.
Confucius International CPA Limited (“Confucius International”)
has been appointed as the auditor of the Company at the special
general meeting of the Company held on 31 March 2025. Confucius
International shall hold the office until the conclusion of the 2025 AGM
pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company. The financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2025 were audited by Confucius International.

A resolution will be submitted to the 2025 AGM to re-appoint Confucius
International as the auditor of the Company.

By order of the Board

YUE Ying
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
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Confucius International CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT
LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Dingyi Group
Investment Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 103 to 208, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2025, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”) and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

FRBFHLEBEE 1815 ABERE5#1501-08%
Rooms 1501-08, 15th Floor, Tai Yau Building,

181 Johnston Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

5 Tel: (852) 3103 6980

{EHE Fax: (852) 3104 0170

B I Email: info@pccpa.hk
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Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

PRET FHEARERMNEEHE - RAHAH
EHYBHRERNEITRRERNTIR - GLEHE
ERPIEAERBAHMBBRREILARRRETR
B - AT S ELERREHEBNER -

opinion on these matters.

Impairment Assessment on Loan and Interest

Receivables

Refer to Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter
RBEHER

FE MG 55 7% B 1) 2 Bt (B B (i

F2HA I ERRME24

How the matter was addressed in our audit
EMOE MM EEREE =R

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amounts of loan and
interest receivables was approximately HK$851,696,000.
Management has assessed the expected credit losses
of loan and interest receivables with loss allowance of
approximately HK$96,291,000 made against loan and
interest receivables as at 31 March 2025.

RZZBZRAF=A=1+—0  BEREREFNEHEREBELD
7378 1851,696,0007T © B E D AT A K E R RN BB TE
HEEEE T _Z_RAF=A=+—HEKREREF
BEH R BHE A R 8%96,291,0007T °

Management judgment is required in assessing and
determining the recoverability of loan and interest receivables
and adequacy of allowance made using the expected
credit losses (“ECL”) model under HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments”.
ERERNBRBEAMGREENZOR M ITE ERTE
HEERR([TEREEREE D RAFELETRKRER R
BB AT B 1 A K2 FTRT HR B 4 60 78 2 1 S 4 L T

We have identified the ECL for loan and interest receivables
as a key audit matter because the determination of ECL for
loan and interest receivables are based on management’s
estimation by taking into account the credit loss experience,
repayment history, financial background and financial
condition of each borrower, all of which involve a significant
degree of management judgment.
BMEHEKRER RSB REEBERN RERET
T DEARETERWERERFENBREEBREZERN
EREFMNEERANEEFRLR  EXEL BKE
SRR AELOERT - FTESEE Y REREHEN
BREE -

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025

Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of loan and interest receivables included the
following:
BMEHERKER LA ERETENEZEFBRENATE
18

- Understanding the procedures performed by
management, including periodic review on overdue
receivables and the assessment of expected credit
losses allowance on the loan and interest receivables;

- THREREBETNIET  ERETHEMaHEKIE
NEHE S SRR R SRR EEEEER

- Understanding and evaluating the modelling
methodologies for expected credit losses
measurement, assessed the reasonableness of the
model selection and key measurement parameters
determination;

- TERRIVHEREEEBREMER L FHEER
ERERFENELENETHEARRERE

- Understanding the management’s identification
of significant increase in credit risk, defaults and
credit-impaired loans, corroborated management’s
explanation with supporting evidence for the historical
information;

- THREREZRMEARRBEEEN  BORSLERE
BERENERNAE  WABRTENNIBEREE
EIREMRE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) AT TS H®)
Impairment Assessment on Loan and Interest B S5 R BN EFE#)
Receivables (Continued)

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
REBENFER EMWETNMARERBENFER

- Assessing the reasonableness of economic indicator
selection, economic scenarios and weightings
application, assessed the reasonableness of the
estimation by comparing with industry data for
forward-looking measurement;

—  AMERERRER  CEERMEEERNSIEN
AT AR - AR REBRAIE A EBLRITE
I

- Checking major data inputs used in the expected
credit losses models, on sample basis, to the Group’s

record; and
— HASERSEMERERREESEERMANEE
BASE &

- Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the independent external valuer taking into account
its experience and qualifications.
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Assessment of Net Realisable Value of Properties
under Development and Completed Properties

Held for Sale

Refer to Notes 19 and 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

MREHER

S5 BETM

BLEA IS RERMTE19K20 -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMmEAMAEEREETER

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amounts of properties
under development (“PUD”) and completed properties held
for sale (“PHS”) were approximately HK$156,038,000 and
HK$893,361,000 respectively. The management assessed
the net realisable value (“NRV”) of PUD and PHS and the
carrying amounts of PUD and PHS were stated at the
lower of cost and NRV. As at 31 March 2025, write-down
of PUD and PHS were approximately HK$40,053,000 and
HK$99,468,000, respectively.

RZZB_RE=A=+—RH BEERTHE(TERFTWE]
RFEHENERIYE([HIEHENERIYE )R
B2 B %) A% 156,038,000 7T & /& #893,361,000 7T °
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% 27 R 5 Bl A #0758 40,053,000t K& 5 99,468,0007T °

The assessment requires management judgement and
estimates. The risk in relation to assessment of net realisable
value of properties under development and properties held
for sale is considered relatively higher due to high degree of
management judgement.

AR EERE L A R - AR EERTMER
FELEMEAI R FENREIEEN = E 2B mHKR A
B SR ER -

We have identified the assessment of net realisable value
of properties under development and completed properties
held for sales as a key audit matter because the assessment
requires management judgement and estimates. The
assessment of net realisable value of properties under
development and properties held for sale is considered
relatively higher due to high degree of management
judgement.
EREEEAREETYERSEHENERIME 2]
BIRFEMNEEL HE R - BRI BEBETGEEER
FRESEE - ENEEENSEHE - BRA\AVERR
TEHEYHE 2 ISR FETENRARERABERS °
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Our audit procedures in relation to the assessment of
net realisable value of properties under development and
completed properties held for sale included the following:
BB EERPYERFELENC R IYENZR
FENBEZEFEEATEIE

- Evaluating management’s assessment by comparing,
on a sample basis, the estimated selling price
less selling expenses and the estimated costs to
completion used in the assessment with the price and
cost data from recent transactions or available market
information;

—  FHMEEREEELARHE - RSP A
STEERIIHE B Sx AR EHR TN B 2R B3 A H 3k
ASTI5E BRI R BURETTH L

- Obtaining understanding from management and
performing assessment on the latest status and
development plans of the underlying property projects,
such as budgeted estimated costs to completion
approved by management;

- MAEEETHRARYEERRB SO MERTS
(PIanE R ERENTREMARIAA) - ARULETT
BREN

- Checking management’s adjustments to recoverable
amounts of the underlying property projects if their
carrying amounts are below net realisable value; and

—  AEEYEEBREEENIEERFE - AlREE
EEEEEYEER ATRESREELE SRR - &

- Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the independent external valuer taking into account
its experience and qualifications.
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The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report, but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2024 were audited by another auditor who expressed an
unmodified opinion on those statements on 27 June 2024.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concemn.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion
on the group financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
385 S A% Y B o

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —F - AF=H=+—HIFFE

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Confucius International CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chan Wai Nam, William

Practising Certificate Number: P0O5957

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

o DF IR AR B At £ £ W Bl

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z2 _-F - AF=H=+—HIFFZ

2025 2024
—E-hHE —E U
NOTES HK$’000 HK$ 000
BisE BETT BT
Revenue WA 6 279,708 862,189
Cost of sales THERKAR (219,761) (754,171)
Gross profit EH 59,947 108,018
Other income E MUz A 8 851 1,127
Gains/(losses) arising from financial assets at RIBRFZANEREZ 6
fair value through profit or loss BEEL W/ (B18) 31,312 (4,470)
(Allowance for impairment)/reversal of EWE K F B2 CRERE),
allowance for impairment of loan and VERIEEE el
interest receivables (12,581) 81,727
Write-down of properties under development ZEHYE R EHEND BT
and completed properties held for sale )2 2 MR (139,521) -
Impairment loss on goodwil R 2 REEE (63) -
Selling and distribution costs SHE K SR AR (45,505) (45,165)
General and administrative expenses —MRITEER (21,688) (21,590)
Finance costs BEKAK 9 (106) (3,100)
(Loss)/profit before tax BREAT(EE) BT 10 (127,354) 116,547
Income tax expense FrigHiE A 12 (10,841) (76,563)
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to the KAREEANBLFE
owners of the Company (E518), /B (138,195) 39,984
Other comprehensive expenses for the year ~ FEEMGFE T H
Item that may be reclassified subsequently ~— HEi&AJfEEF HIE 857
to profit or loss: EH -
Exchange difference arising on translating MEBINEREE 2 N ZH
foreign operations (47,075) (100,850)
Total comprehensive expenses for EAFEEABGEERSIH
the year attributable to the owners of ok ]
the Company (185,270) (60,866)
(Loss)/earnings per share SR(ER) B
Basic and diluted (HK cents) EAR R EEBL) 14 (17.05) 5.43

S0 4 IO 8 A B )
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
o OF B %5 5K D 3

As at 31 March 2025 R=-FE=faF=HA=4+—H

2025 2024
otk 7§ —E_mEF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
BisE BETT BT
Non-current assets FERBEE
Investment properties WA 15 38,280 14,378
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BB KRB 16 28,310 7,318
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17(a) 43,086 5,375
Goodwil Bk 18 - -
Other receivables, prepayments and H YRR - TERTFRIE &
deposits e 23 1,436 1,379
Deferred tax assets BB EE 31 24,073 25,624
135,185 54,074
Current assets MEEE
Properties under development BRPYE 19 156,038 275,807
Completed properties held for sale FELENE R Ty 20 893,361 1,095,947
Inventories FE 21 12,364 7,250
Trade receivables Z 5 R 22 1,024 -
Other receivables, prepayments E YRR ~ TARTFRIE K
and deposits e 23 266,473 262,917
Loan and interest receivables FEUE R B 24 851,696 824,899
Financial assets at fair value through REREZEANERE S/
profit or loss BE 25 40,665 9,353
Cash and cash equivalents ReKAEEEY 26 51,473 113,981
2,273,004 2,590,154
Current liabilities nBAR
Trade and other payables B 5 M EAER IR 28(a) 59,346 21,383
Contract liabilities aHaE 28(b) 90,879 105,226
Amounts due to related companies JEHREE A AIER K 27 41,686 62,699
Tax payables FERTRRIR 131,709 275,797
Lease liabilities HEBE 17(b) 11,830 2,157
Other loan HEmER 29 980,000 980,000
1,315,450 1,447,262
Net current assets mMENEERE 957,644 1,142,892
Total assets less current liabilities BEERREARE 1,092,829 1,196,966

104  DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
A F B4 R Ol %

As at 31 March 2025 R=-FE=f#F=HA=4+—H

2025 2024
ol =Jek 5 5 = S 241 =
NOTES HK$’000 HK$ 000
BisE BETT BT
Capital and reserves B B e
Share capital fig A 30 85,068 73,568
Reserves G 978,841 1,122,297
Total equity HER 1,063,909 1,195,865
Non-current liability ERBDERE
Lease liabilities HEB®E 17(b) 28,920 1,101
1,092,829 1,196,966

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 30 June 2025 and are signed on

EBHMBHREN T _HFA=tHRESFSH
HEREETIEL B T ESRERREE

its behalf by:

SU Xiaonong ZENG Shan
iR {11
Director Director
EFE EFE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

5 BF HE 4 5 B 3%

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —F - AF=H=+—HIFFE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

NG TN
Capital Share Exchange
redemption option Other fluctuation
Share Share reserve reserve reserves reserve  Accumulated
capital premium (Note (i) (Note (ii)) (Note (iii) (Note (iv) losses  Total equity
REHE ESE
i BRERE Rt 14
k& Rivgm (&) (i) GEA) (& (iv) RHER #a
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ERTT EWTT ERTT EWTR TR ERTT EWTT ERTT
At1 April 2024 RZE-MFEA-H 73,568 3,313,708 14 129,180 (795,421) (226,719) (1,298,465) 1,195,865
Loss for the year EEFE = = = = - - (138,195) (138,195)
Other comprehensive expenses for the year FEEMSAT
- Exchange dfference arsng on translating ~ ~ BB EREL CERES
foreign operations - - - - - (47,075) - (47,075)
Total comprehensive expenses ERGARLAE
for the year - - - - - (47,075) (138,195) (185,270)
Issue of shares BTR0 11,500 42,550 - - - - - 54,050
Share issuing expenses Ry B - (736) - - - - - (736)
Lapse of share options ERERH - - - (129,180) - = 129,180 =
At 31 March 2025 RZZZRE=A=1-H 85068  3,35552 14 - (795,421) (273794 (1307480)  1,063909

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2025



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
5 B HE 4 5 B 3%

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z2 _-F - AF=H=+—HIFFZ

Attributable to the owners of the Company

RRAHEARLE
Capttal Share Exchange
redemption option Other fluctuation
Share Share reserve reserve reserves reseve  Accumulated
capital premium (Note i) (Note (i) (Note (i) (Note (i) losses Total equity
EAEE ERRD
HE  ERERR Eitéita i
e RiraE (Hisx0) CiE) (Hzqn) (Hrzp) Zithi B
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT AU YT BT BETT BT BT BT
At 1 April 2023 R-E-=FmA-A 73,568 3,313,708 14 129,180 (795,421) (125,869) (1,338,449) 1,256,731
Profit for the year EEEF - - - - - - 39,984 39,984
Other comprehensive expenses for the year FEEMSATT
- Exchange difference arising on translating ~ — BEREBEL LR
foreign operations - - - - - (100,850) - (100850)
Totel comprehensive (expenses)income EERA () /WA EE
for the year - - - - - (100,850) 39984 (60,866)
At 31 March 2024 RZE-NE=A=+-H 73,568 3,313,708 14 129,180 (795,421) (226,719) (1,298,465) 1,195,865
AR B A B A W

SR HARER
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
A HELR S B &

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —F - AF=H=+—HIFFE

Notes:

)

(i)

(i)

(V)

Capital redemption reserve in accordance with law of Bermuda which has been
paid out of the distributable reserves of the Company.

Share option reserve represents the fair value of unexercised share options
granted by the Company recognised in accordance with the accounting
policy of share-based payments set out in Note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Other reserves represents:

(@) The change in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
that do not result in loss of control over those subsidiaries; and

(b) The recognition of deemed contribution from Mr. Li Kwong Yuk (“Mr.
Li”) under merger accounting upon the completion of acquisition of
United Faith Investments Limited (“United Faith”) and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “United Faith Group”) on 26
March 2018, representing the differences amongst the investment cost
for the acquisition of United Faith Group and the amount due to related
companies, and elimination of the share capital of the United Faith.

The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set out in
Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
aHBeRExR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z2 _-F - AF=H=+—HIFFZ

2025 2024
—E-hHE —E U
NOTES HK$’000 HK$ 000
BisE BETT BT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES EEEE
(Loss)/profit before tax KEiR(EE) & F (127,354) 116,547
Adjustments for: BN TEIAE
Bank interest income IRITF BUA (107) (420)
Finance costs b & R AR 106 3,100
Depreciation of property, plant and Y% - BREMEEITE
equipment 957 973
Depreciation of investment properties "EMENE 900 907
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 3,116 3,362
(Gains)/losses arising from financial assets at  RIEERIEAAERIE 2 SR
fair value through profit or loss BEEEZ (W) EiE (31,312) 4,470
(Allowance for impairment)/reversal of EWE SR RHE Z B
allowance for impairment) of loan and BB R ER B R
interest receivables 12,581 (81,727)
Written-off of property, plant and equipment 413 - = KR sl 8 -
Write-down of properties under development #EH ¥ R EHEND &
and completed properties held for sale T2 Mo 139,521 -
Impairment loss on goodwill Rz REEE 18 63 -
Operating cash flows before movements LEESEPRI LEReRE
in working capital (1,521) 47,212
Decrease in properties under development BRPMERLD 75,731 1,140,674
Decrease/(increase) in completed properties  #HEHEE R TWER L/
held for sale (3gm) 62,040 (776,461)
Decrease/(increase) in other receivables, HE AR - TR ERIE ik
prepayments and deposits SR () 2,242 (240,841)
(Increase)/decrease in loan and interest FEURE R R B (), B
receivables (54,281) 996,136
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at HERERFIZAERIER
fair value through profit or loss SRVEEMFTSHIA - 872
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 & H A e RRF0R (1,123) (3,577)
Decrease in contract liabilities aHaERd (13,205) (889,561)
Cash generated from operations BEMFCE® 69,883 274,454
Interest paid EFE - (31,765)
Income tax paid BATETSHR (149,582) (16,903)
NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED FROM E&ZE(FiA) FREzR&
OPERATING ACTIVITIES p: ] (79,699) 225,786
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

£ DF B 4 i 32
For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —F - AF=H=+—HIFFE
2025 2024
—E-hHE —E U
NOTES HK$’000 HK$ 000
BisE BT BT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREEH
Purchases of property, plant and EEWME - BB L&
equipment = (59)
Bank interest income received EMERTTR B M A 107 420
Cash inflow on acquisition of subsidiaries I EE I B A R AR &7 40 446 -
NET CASH GENERATED FROM BRETHMBZHERH
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 553 361
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE
Repayment to related companies BEBEENRNIEAE (20,059) (30,831)
Repayment of other loan EBEREMmER - (279,500)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHERRE 17(d) (3,140) (3,961)
Net proceed from issue of shares BATIR(D P13 5K F 58 53,314 -
NET CASH GENERATED FROM/ MEFHEE (FFRA)ZRe
(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES B 30,115 (814,292)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH ReRB&SHYMRD BEHE
EQUIVALENTS (49,031) (88,145)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS REA—HZHRERELFREY
AT 1 APRIL 113,981 206,333
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates ~ JNE[E R & E) 2 /& (13,477) (4,207)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BR=R=1+—HZHReRAELFE
AT 31 MARCH BEH 26 51,473 113,981

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR £ RS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z2 _-F - AF=H=+—HIFFZ

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability and its shares were
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The registered office of the Company is located Victoria Place,
5th Floor 31 Victoria Street Hamilton HM 10 Bermuda and the
principal place of business in Hong Kong of the Company is at
Unit 2703, 27/F Convention Plaza — Office Tower 1, Harbour
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) regard Wincon
Capital Investment Limited (“Wincon Capital”), a private limited
liability company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, as the
immediate and ultimate holding company of the Company. Its
ultimate controlling party is Mr. Li Kwong Yuk (“Mr. Li”).

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
principally engaged in loan financing, securities trading, properties
development and food and beverage catering services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands
of units of Hong Kong dollar (“HK$'000"), unless otherwise stated,
which is the same as the functional currency of the Company.
Other than those subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”), whose functional currency is Renminbi
(“RMB?”), the functional currency of its subsidiaries is Hong Kong
dollar (“HK$”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”). In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”)
and by the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B O S 5 3 Bt

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —F - AF=H=+—HIFFE

112

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis, except for certain financial assets and
liabilities that are measured at fair values at the end of each
reporting period.

Going concern basis

The Group incurred a loss for the year attributable to the owner
of the Company of approximately HK$138,195,000 during the
year ended 31 March 2025. The Group’s revenue decreased
from approximately HK$862,189,000 for the year ended 31
March 2024 to approximately HK$279,708,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2025. As at 31 March 2025, the Group recorded
net current assets of approximately HK$957,644,000, and the
Group’s other loan owing to the ultimate controlling party, Mr. Li
amounted to approximately HK$980,000,000, while its cash and
cash equivalents amounted to approximately HK$51,473,000.

In view of the abovementioned, the Directors have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity and performance of the Group
and the continuing financial support from its ultimate controlling
party in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient financial
sources to continue as a going concern.

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections
prepared by management, which cover a period of not less
than twelve months from 31 March 2025, on the basis of an
undertaking given by the ultimate controlling party, Mr Li, who is
irrevocably and unconditionally undertake and covenant to the
Company and shall withhold any demand or claims against the
Company for the other loan owing to him until 31 March 2026
provided that the Company will continue to negotiate with Mr.
Li on alternative proposal in settlement of the other loan in good
faith. They are of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient
working capital to finance its operations and to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due within twelve months from
31 March 2025. Accordingly, the Directors are satisfied that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis.

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z2 _-F - AF=H=+—HIFFZ

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatory
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by HKICPA for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period
beginning on 1 April 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-Current

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-Current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The application of these amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year did not have any material impact on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior years and/or
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —F - AF=H=+—HIFFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO  G.

HKFRSs (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but

not yet effective

f%%ﬁ&%@ﬂé%%%%
%Rl (2

IR

ERHERKRERZHETRIEESET
FEMBHEEER

Effective for
annual periods
beginning on or
after
RLTHBR
&Rz
FEAREN

HKFRS 18

BREMHREERIFE18 5
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and

HKFRS 7

BB E R FE O LB B IwE %R
FTIRUERTAR)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

BB SIS R F O BB w2
E7 SRUEFTA)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

BRUBREENF105K LB B SFHER

228 SR (BRI AN)
Amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards
BRMBREENEFERI(ERTA)

Amendments to HKAS 21
BB SEERIE21 FTUBETA)

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial

Statements

sk 25 MR

1 January 2027

T tF—A—H

Amendments to Classification and Measurement 1 January 2026

of Financial Instruments

ERMITAZHBENETEERT

Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent

Electricity

—E-RF—HA—H

1 January 2026

BRAKFEB AEREEE NG —ToRF-A—H

Sales or Contribution of Assets between an

1 January 2026

investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

KREENHEBERRRAGE R ZHNEE

HEREE

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting
Standards - Volume 11

BRI BMEER G

EARE
Lack of Exchangeability
=l Br ks

The Directors anticipated that the application of all amendments
to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated

financial statements in the foreseeable future.

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z2 _-F - AF=H=+—HIFFZ

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the
Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line
with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment property is stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
investment property over the estimated useful live and after taking
into account of the estimated residual value, using the straight-line
method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from
use and no future economic benefits are expected from its
disposal. A leased property which is recognised as a right-of-
use asset is derecognised if the Group as intermediate lessor
classifies the sublease as a finance lease. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for own
use in the production or supply of services, or for administrative
purposes are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
The estimated useful lives are as follows:
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.

Impairment on property and plant and
equipment, investment properties and right-of-
use assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, investment
properties and right-of-use assets with finite useful life to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
investment properties and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash generating unit when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units
to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.
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Impairment on property and plant and
equipment, investment properties and right-of-
use assets other than goodwill (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a
cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying
amount of a group of cash-generating units, including the
carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the
recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In
allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro-rata to the other assets of
the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
(or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Business combinations and goodwiill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date
fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

REatkEE

KA HTIARBEARR - B2 RETIIA
WEHHAREFE  RAREBER/RAEEM
BREENBAHRZANE - NEERRE
W RBEE AEENRERAREEETN
HRERAR YU U7 PR M 2 AR AR 2R OB AN © A
BREBHEMS - ARESEEZAARE
sk AR IR BB T A R R B B R E RO L)
AHEFERRm(AREMAREDZ NETH
FAANEBRERLPINEFEENEN) o
R — N EME D DR A RER
B - WERERARELRSI R -

EEBEN R REERRARSAIE
EHMENEREARRN —RRAR IR
BEMERER  AEEETHECKE—BEE
75 o

EASEWE -HEHE  ERES QK
B RUHE BB 2 R IR AR R R A
EECREERBBETHE - LWETEER
DENFER - P BEBRARNITETARK
WKB T A0 -

W35 6 GHZRE BUETT - RIZEATIS A Mg
REWERHALNAEENE  AMELZ
Ef R INE R TR

WekE 77 S BB R e (T S AR B IRN U RE B 81
MARERR - DBEREEXBBEZHEA
RERAAEFE  MARNEBEZHNERRE
R PERRENRAREBBAENAE
HARGERBRAANRK -

S0 4 IO 8 A B )
B I 2

119



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B O S 5 3 Bt

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z -—F_-AF=HA=+—HILFZ

120

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum
of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value
of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase gain.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Properties under development and completed
properties held for sale

Properties under development which are intended to be sold
upon completion of development and completed properties held
for sale are classified as current assets. Except for the leasehold
land element which is measured at cost model in accordance with
the accounting policies of right-of-use assets, properties under
development and completed properties held for sale are carried
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined
on a specific identification basis including allocation of the related
development expenditure incurred and where appropriate,
borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for the properties less estimated cost
to completion and costs necessary to make the sales. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the
Group must incur to make the sale.

Properties under development are transferred to completed
properties held for sale upon completion.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash in the consolidated statement of financial position comprise
cash at banks and in hand and cash at financial institutions. For
the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents consist of cash, as defined above.
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Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”")) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees
and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

4.

o F B 85 R B
For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z2 _-F - AF=H=+—HIFFZ
SREHBE )
eMTR®)
eMEE
EHEESERAENE

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
For financial instruments other than purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the determination that the asset is
no longer credit impaired.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “loss arising from financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss” line item or “loss on
disposal of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”.

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, loan and interest receivables, other receivables,
deposits and cash and cash equivalents) which are subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group measures the loss allowance for financial assets
at amortised cost equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which
case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly

since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default

occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with

the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the

date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group

considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is

reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and

forward looking information that is available without undue cost or

effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when

assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial

instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk for a particular debtor, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the
debtor, or the length of time or the extent to which the fair
value of a financial asset has been less than its amortised
cost;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable:

- when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor;
or

- information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

The Group considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

- the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

- it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the
counter party has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information as described above.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weight
amount that is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights. As for the exposure at default, for
financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying

amount at the reporting date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective

interest rate.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk

characteristics.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month
ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets for which

simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to

their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when
it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit
or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amounts
due to related companies and other loan, are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable,
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments
transactions

Share options granted to employees

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the
fair value of services received determined by reference to the fair
value of the share options granted is expensed immediately to
profit or loss, with a corresponding increase in equity (i.e. share
option reserve).

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
accumulated losses.

Share options granted to consultants

Share options issued in exchange for goods or services are
measured at the fair values of the goods or services received,
unless that fair value cannot be reliably measured, in which case
the goods or services received are measured by reference to
the fair value of the share options granted. The fair values of the
goods or services received are recognised as expenses, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve), when
the Group obtains the goods or when the counterparties render
services, unless the goods or services qualify for recognition as
assets.
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Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised goods or
services to customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those
goods or services to a customer. Specifically, the Group uses a
five-step approach to recognise revenue:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
Step 3: Determine the transaction price

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligations is transferred to
customer.

A performance obligation represents goods or services (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods that are substantially the same.
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Revenue recognition (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

- the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced;
or

- the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct goods.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer, excludes amounts collected on behalf
of third parties and sales related taxes.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer. A contract liability would also be recognised if the
Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration before
the Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract asset
or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts,
contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are
not presented on a net basis.

The Group recognised revenue from the following major source:

- Sales of properties

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
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Revenue recognition (Continued)

The Group’s property development activities are mainly carried out
in the PRC. Taking into account the contract terms, the Group’s
business practice and the legal and regulatory environment,
revenue from property sales contracts is recognised at a point
in time. Under the transfer-of-control approach in HKFRS 15,
revenue from property sales is generally recognised when the
property is accepted by the customer, or deemed as accepted
according to the contract, whichever is earlier, which is the point
in time when the customer has the ability to direct the use of the
property and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits of
the property.

The Group receives the deposits from customers when they
sign the sale and purchase agreement. Such deposits result
in contract liabilities being recognised throughout the property
construction period for the full amount of the contract price.

Lease

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate
at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Lease (Continued)

Definition of a lease (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a
finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and
such costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term except for investment properties measured
under fair value model.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as income when they arise.

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
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Lease (Continued)

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

- any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

- any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

- an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end
of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life
and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

HE =)

EREEEMRAER -
- TEREMYRAESHE

— RRABBHRZAELOERBEEN
o ORBEMER T AEEEE

—  ASEELNEATRERKRAN &

—  AKEIRRRBHREREE - IERR
BEMESHASHEEEREEZRE
RN R AR P AR TE AR RE A EE AR O f AR
Z'K o

8 P A A AR S E A R 5478 RO (E
BB E - LS EOEA BN R
s -

fiaf 7 5 [ & 322 e 4 1 B R e B B AR R
HEEENEAE  AEAREENRKA
HEErERFRERBRERNE - TR &
REEEREGHAIEAFHEREERME
PEHEREE LNERETE

AEERAHBBIRA KT EREEED
RERIAR ©

S0 4 IO 8 A B )
B I 2

135



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B O S 5 3 Bt

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —F - AF=H=+—HIFFE

136

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of
exchanges prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange fluctuation
reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation, all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company is reclassified to profit
or loss.

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Employee benefits
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Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the state-managed retirement benefit schemes in
relation to employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC
and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF” Scheme)
in relation to employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in Hong
Kong are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an
asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.

Long service payment

The estimated amount of future benefit in respect of long service
payment obligation is determined after deducting the negative
service cost arising from the accrued benefits derived from
the Group’s MPF contributions that have been vested with
employees, which are deemed to be contributions from relevant
employees.
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Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred
income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from loss before tax because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and
at the time of the transaction does not give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for business combination.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments,
the Group considers whether it is probable that the relevant
tax authority will accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or
proposed to be used by individual group entities in their income
tax filings. If it is probable, the current and deferred taxes are
determined consistently with the tax treatment in the income tax
filings. If it is not probable that the relevant taxation authority will
accept an uncertain tax treatment, the effect of each uncertainty
is reflected by using either the most likely amount or the expected
value.

MIA(#)

EEHBREREENE  BRRAKE
EHREMRBHUCOSBELEEERAER
BRI A EBHRBRER

EEAEANTEMNGERRAEERHFE
HNBAAER  UAREAHEREER K
BB R - RN ERBUKNAEHRER
B - REFTSHEE KRB ES T K -

BV SR E R R N IR s R AR - MEEROEL
iR B WS A EE N ER T HERNIAE B
B - BVHARORIEFR IR T B R L b 4R & Wk
FEEREETHER - ZEHRESGRLER
HESREHEHONIESHRER - AR
BRET ARG AHOGHZES -

A RS TS TR 32 M0 (] MREE 1R - AN
BEEABREHELST B AR ZER%
B ERAEEMGSHARTERIEEANT
FEEM MR - A A Be - BDE MR IEFR IR
HYETE SRS I B P M DA SR 38 — B 1
MERANEEE T A X T HEE N FRE -
A MEA e RATAREERRETHETE
PR R

S0 4 IO 8 A B )
B I 2

139



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B O S 5 3 Bt

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z -—F_-AF=HA=+—HILFZ

140

Contract assets and liabilities

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the Group obtains
rights to receive consideration from the customer and assumes
performance obligations to transfer goods or provide services to
the customer. The combination of those rights and performance
obligations gives rise to a net asset or a net liability depending
on the relationship between the remaining rights and the
performance obligations. The contract is an asset and recognised
as contract assets if the measure of the remaining rights exceeds
the measure of the remaining performance obligations. Contract
assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights
become unconditional. Conversely, the contract is a liability and
recognised as contract liabilities if the measure of the remaining
performance obligations exceeds the measure of the remaining
rights. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under the contract.

Contingent liabilities

The Group recognises the incremental costs of obtaining a
contract with a customer within contract assets if the Group
expects to recover those costs.

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an obligation, the
part of the obligation that is expected to be met by other parties
is treated as a contingent liability and it is not recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an outflow
of resources embodying economic benefits has become probable.
If it becomes probable that an outflow of future economic
benefits will be required for an item previously dealt with as a
contingent liability, a provision is recognised in the consolidated
financial statements in the reporting period in which the change
in probability occurs, except in the extremely rare circumstances
where no reliable estimate can be made.
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Estimates and judgements used in preparing these consolidated
financial statements are evaluated and based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates
and assumptions that may have a significant effect on the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

(@) Income taxes and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to income taxes in the PRC. Significant
judgement is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such difference will impact the income
tax and deferred tax provision in the year in which such
determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers to be probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised. The outcome of
their actual utilisation may be different.
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(b) PRC Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”)

(c)

The PRC LAT is levied at progressive rates on the
appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales
of properties less deductible allowance and expenditures
including sales charges, borrowing costs and all properties
development expenditures.

The Group is subject to the PRC land appreciation tax
in accordance with the relevant rules and regulations. In
recognising the PRC land appreciation tax, the management
estimated the tax rates enacted to the Group with reference
to the latest tax jurisdictions of the cities of the PRC in which
the properties of the Group situated in. However, the PRC
land appreciation tax rates might vary upon the finalisation
of payment.

Estimated net realisable value of completed
properties held for sale and properties
under development

Management performs a review at each reporting period
on the carrying amounts of completed properties held
for sale and properties under development. Based on
management’s review, write-down of completed properties
held for sale and properties under development will be
made when the estimated net realisable value has declined
below the carrying amount. In determining the net realisable
value of completed properties held for sale and properties
under development, management based on recent global
and local economic developments, recent sales transactions
of the Group and other similar properties in the surrounding
areas, marketability of the Group’s existing properties,
market survey reports available from independent property
valuers, internally available information and management’s
expectation on future sales.

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Estimated net realisable value of completed
properties held for sale and properties
under development (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amounts of the
completed properties held for sales and properties under
development were approximately HK$893,361,000 (2024:
approximately HK$1,095,947,000) and approximately
HK$156,038,000 (2024: approximately HK$275,807,000)
respectively. The amounts of write-down of completed
properties held for sale and properties under development
were approximately HK$99,468,000 (2024: approximately
HK$18,730,000) and approximately HK$40,053,000 (2024:
nil) were recognised in profit or loss during the year ended
31 March 2025.

Provision of ECL for loan and interest
receivables

ECL on loan and interest receivables are assessed
individually. Allowance for impairment of loan and interest
receivables are based on assumptions about ECL. The
Group uses judgment in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, bases
on the number of days that an individual loan and interest
receivable is outstanding as well as the Group’s forward-
looking information at the end of the reporting period.
Changes in these assumptions and estimates could
materially affect the result of the assessment and it may be
necessary to make additional allowance for impairment to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of loan and
interest receivables was approximately HK$851,696,000
(2024: approximately HK$824,899,000), net of allowance
of approximately HK$96,291,000 (2024: approximately
HK$83,710,000). The information about the ECL and the
Group’s loan and interest receivables are disclosed in Note
24,
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(e) Valuation of purchase price allocation
for acquisition of a subsidiary and its
subsidiaries

The acquisition of a subsidiary and its subsidiaries during
the year ended 31 March 2025 was accounted for as
a business combination, which required the Group to
allocate the purchase price to the assets acquired, liabilities
assumed, and identified intangible assets (if any), based on
their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition. The
fair values of the assets acquired, liabilities assumed and
identified intangible assets (if any) were determined using
the discounted cash flow approach and involved various
key assumptions and estimates. Changing the assumptions
and estimates, including the discount rates or the growth
rate in the cash flow projections, could materially affect
the fair values of the assets acquired, liabilities assumed
and identified intangible assets. In aggregate, the fair value
of total identifiable net assets amounted to approximately
HK$21,937,000 and was recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at the acquisition date.

Revenue represents the amount received and receivable arising
from loan financing, securities trading and properties development,
excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties and sales
related taxes. An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

(e) WIR—FRELARRIEMEL
FINRERSEHE

REBEEZZE-_AF-A=-+—HILFE
WEE—RERE AR REMBATIARE
BEEO - EE2RAREER BB
BIEET A EGYEEEE D B2 TGS
BE - FREBEREHINBEFEE
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BREFEENE )N ATERARR
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RAhsEr o B BHR LM - BERER
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WAEER®E BHFREBERMEREESE
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™

2025 2024
k- Jok - —TF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
BT T BT
Revenue from contracts with customer HiEMEREERNE15FEBER
within the scope of HKFRS 15 ERSHBA
Sales of properties — at point of time SHE W3 — FREfEIES 223,234 791,386
Revenue from other sources H kiR A
Interest income from provision of loan IR EREVE RS 2 F BUA
financing services 56,474 70,803
279,708 862,189
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Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations

The amount of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied)
regarding contracts for sale of properties as at 31 March 2025
was approximately HK$90,879,000 (2024: approximately
HK$105,226,000) and is expected to be recognised as revenue
within one year.

The ultimate consideration for those contracts will depend on the
occurrence or non-occurrence of future customer’s fulfillment
of contracts. Accordingly, the above may not reflect the actual
performance of the Group in the future. The analysis is solely for
compliance with the HKFRS 15 disclosure requirement in respect
of the transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations.

Information reported to the board of directors, being the chief
operating decision maker (“CODM”), for the purpose of resources
allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on
types of goods delivered or service rendered.

The Group has four reportable and operating segments (i)
securities trading business; (ii) loan financing business; (iii)
properties development business; and (iv) food and beverage
catering service business. Segment revenue is measured in a
manner consistent with that in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.
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Segment revenue and results SRR ER
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by REERETERREESHEI D WA R
reportable and operating segment: EEDWWT -
Year ended 31 March 2025 BE_Z_HEF=A=1+—HLFE
Food and
beverage
Securities Loan  Properties catering
trading financing development service
business business business business Total
BHEE HRME 2 WREE  EREH
] E ] E ] % #a

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
#RTr ERTRT EWTRT @ ERTR  BRTR

Revenue WA
External revenue INEBIRA - 56,474 223,234 - 279,708
Gain arising from financial assets at ~ MBRREANEREL

FVTPL SREEEE 2 Wi 31,312 - - - 31,312
Write-down of property under WRAZERMERBELE

development and completed HERTME

properties held for sale - - (139,521) - (139,521)
Allowance for impairment of loanand ~ JEWEF RF B2

interest receivables BERE = (12,581) = = (12,581)
Segment profit/(loss) AHEF/(BH) 31,312 43,893 (186,508) - (111,303)
Bank interest income RITRIBHA 107
Finance costs BEMAK (106)
Impairment loss on goodwil HERESRE (63)
Unallocated corporate income RABREHA 744
Unallocated corporate expenses AAWMARIFT (16,733)
Loss before tax S]] (127,354)
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. PEER®
Segment revenue and results (Continued) PR R ER &)
Year ended 31 March 2024 HE-_T-_MF=A=+—HLFE
Securities Loan Properties
trading financing development
business business business Total
BHEEEE  EHEYRAREB  DEREER o]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT BETT BT

Revenue KA
External revenue LI ON - 70,803 791,386 862,189
Loss arising from financial assets at FVTPL  IMBEBERALERE Y
SREAEELEE (4,470) - - (4,470)

Reversal of allowance for impairment of ~ BEIEKEZ KIS 2

loan and interest receivables BUERE - 81,727 - 81,727
Segment (loss)/profit SE(ER) /2 (4,470) 152,530 (12,211) 135,849
Bank interest income |RITRIBIMA 420
Finance costs BEMA (3,100)
Unallocated corporate income RDEARRA 706
Unallocated corporate expenses RABAAFL (17,328)
Profit before tax RiRaiE# 116,547
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the LEN B 2T BER BRI T4 2 NEE
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in Note 4. ZERTECRAER - D (EEB),BFESD
Segment (loss)/profit represents the (loss from)/profit earned by B(EEZEBR) /BB zEF - miEsiR
each segment without allocation of certain other income, bank aTEMBA - RITHEWA - BEERKA
interest income, finance costs, impairment loss on goodwill and MEREEERET —REITHRER - &
certain general and administrative expenses. This is the measure BB RKRFNEME - LThmFEEZEER
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resources allocation REZWMIIENE -

and performance assessment.
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Segment assets and liabilities PHEEERAR
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by REERETERREEDHE D EER
reportable and operating segment: BEITAT -
2025 2024
ol Sk - ZE PO
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Segment assets SEEE
Securities trading business BEHEBEEEB 40,665 9,353
Loan financing business BBV X 851,696 824,899
Properties development business ESLEE Y 1,401,713 1,771,127
Food and beverage catering service BRI T
business 78,804 -
Total segment assets DIEEERE 2,372,878 2,605,379
Unallocated corporate assets ROBLARIEE 35,401 38,849
Total consolidated assets SHEESE 2,408,279 2,644,228
Segment liabilities SEAR
Securities trading business BEEEEB = -
Loan financing business BERVE ¥ = -
Properties development business Y EF B ETS 127,082 199,531
Food and beverage catering service BRI T
business 56,867 -
Total segment liabilities DIAGEEE 183,949 199,531
Unallocated corporate liabilities AOBRARIAE 1,160,421 1,248,832
Total consolidated liabilities SHHAREE 1,344,370 1,448,363
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and MERSERREASERSIEERMS -

allocating resources between segments:

o all assets are allocated to operating segments other than
certain property, plant and equipment, certain right-of-
use assets, deferred tax assets, certain other receivables,
prepayments and deposits and cash and cash equivalents;

and

° all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other
than certain other payables, tax payables, amounts due to

related companies, other loan and lease liabilities.
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Other segment information HthamEH
For the year ended 31 March 2025 BE_E_RF=-A=+—HLEE
Food and
beverage
Securities Loan Properties catering
trading financing  development service
business business business business  Unallocated Total
ESRERE HRMERE VREIRE EXRHRS *OE 3

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BWTr BRTT BWTR BRTT BRTR BWTr

Amounts included in the RErEH BRAME
measure of segment profitor BB BEER
loss or segment assets: HAZEE:
Additions to non-current assets  JERBEEZAE
(other than deferred tax (BB
assets) BEN - - - = 1,263 1,263
Depreciation of property, plant ~ #1% + B K&
and equipment e - - 957 - = 957
Depreciation of investment RENERE
properties - - 900 - - 900
Depreciation of right-of-use FRELERE
assets = = - - 3,116 3,116
For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE_ZT-_MF=A=+—HILFE
Securities Loan Properties
trading financing  development
business business business Unallocated Total
BHEEXE BIRERE NERERE KAE B

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI AT AR AT ARTT

Amounts included in the measure of R ENBEFIEB
segment profit or loss or segment NEBERTAZEE

assets:
Additions to non-current assets FERBEENE(TRERL

(other than deferred tax assets) WEEE) - - 59 3216 3275
Depreciation of property, plantand 9% - BERZENE

equipment - - 973 - 973
Depreciation of investment properties X & MEHE - - 907 - 907
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ (EFREEETE - - - 3,362 3,362

mpmmawamas 149
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —F - AF=H=+—HIFFE

/.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are all located in the PRC. No
geographical information about the Group’s revenue from external
customers based on location is presented as the Group’s revenue
is located only in the PRC.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers
is presented based on the location of the operations. Information
about the Group’s non-current assets (other than prepayment
and deposits and deferred tax assets) is presented based on the
geographical location of the assets.

WESFH

AEEZLEDBUARE - HRAEEE
MR B EAWA - O EIR R B 2 51 A&
BEINPE U ARHIZE R -

BERASBERAIINDEP 2 BAZERHZE
BREMET - BREAKEZIERBEE(E
MR E S MRERREERIN) 2 BRHR
BEMEMELEZS

Non-current assets

EMEEE

As at 31 March

W=R=+—H
2025 2024
- S - 3 —EDUE
HK$°000 HK$'000
B¥ETT BB
The PRC A& 134,113 51,394
Hong Kong B 1,072 2,680
135,185 54,074

The Group had no inter-segment sales for the years ended 31
March 2025 and 2024.

Information about major customers

For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, none of customers
contributed 10% or more of the Group’s revenue.

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z=F=-AF=H=+—HILFEZF

8. Hfblzs

2025 2024
—ERF —EoEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BRETT ST T
Bank interest income SRITH B U 107 420
Rental income HaBA 617 473
Others =) 127 234
851 1,127

FINANCE COSTS 9. BEEMA
2025 2024
—E_RF TN
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BRTT BT T
Interest on other loan HEpERZFE - 3,001
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBEZHE 106 99
106 3,100

SRR A RA R

SR HARER
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —F - AF=H=+—HIFFE

(Loss)/profit before tax has been arrived at after charging:

RELAT(E51R),  BFIE MR T & A -

2025 2024
ol Jo - —EomE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BT T
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments  ZERFZE/THRABBE 1,963 1,645
Other staff costs (excluding directors’ and EMEIA(TEEESR
chief executive’s emoluments) FETHAEME) 7,459 7,518
Retirement benefit schemes contribution R EIEHR(TEREEER
(excluding directors’ and chief executive’s FE2THAEME)
emoluments) 650 255
Total staff costs BT A4EEE 10,072 9,418
Costs of properties sold EHEMERR 219,761 754,171
Auditors’ remuneration ZEET S
— Audit services — Bz 1,600 1,427
— Non-audit services — BT = -
Advertising and promotion expenses EEEEE 43,172 43,028
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment %1% ~ BN &2 ITE 957 973
Depreciation of investment properties REMETE 900 907
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 3,116 3,362
Legal and professional fees ERENBEXEER 2,221 2,109
Written-off of property, plant and equipment %1% - /= N &4 2 5 8 -

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z2 _-F - AF=H=+—HIFFZ

(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive’s (a) EERFETHARZEHE
emoluments
Emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors and EXNRENRFEEEREZITHRA
chief executive for the year are as follows: BB ZMemT -

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BESCHFSA=+-HLEE

Retirement
benefits
Salaries and scheme
Fees other benefits  contribution Total
Hek Hido et
ik Htias AR #a|
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

BT W W W

Executive Directors: HBITEE:
Su Xiaonong iR - 651 23 674
Wang Xiaohua (resigned on TBEW-S-mF+A

15 October 2024) +HBE E) - 98 5 103
Ho Cheong Hang Edmond AEHR=Z-NFTA

(resigned on 15 October 2024) +HAEME) - 163 8 171
Zeng Shan (appointed on B(A=T=NF+A

15 October 2024) ThHEEZME) - 275 9 284
Non-Executive Directors: FHTEE:
Yue Ying (appointed on EER-ZEZNFTA

15 October 2024) THREZE) 215 - - 275
Liu Miaomaio (appointed on AEE(N-2-mE

23 December 2024) +-AZT=BEZM) 33 - - 33
Independent Non-Executive BAERTES:

Directors:
Cao Kuangyu (resigned on BRF(MN=Z=mE+=A

23 December 2024) “+ZRED) i) - - 90
Chow Shiu Ki FZER 150 - - 150
Ip Chi Wai EEH 150 - - 150
Cheung Chi Wai (appointed on RER(RZZZMF+ZA

23 December 2024) “TZREZT) 33 - - 33

731 1,187 45 1,963

S0 4 IO 8 A B )
B I 2
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —F - AF=H=+—HIFFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 1. EENTETHRAE ZEHNE)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive’s (a) EBFRFETBRARZEME (%)

emoluments (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-ZS-NF=-A=+—HILFE

Retirement
benefits
Salaries and scheme
Fees  other benefits contribution Total
ek RIRRER
He Hitigr AT g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT BT BT

Executive Directors: YITES:

Su Xiaonong HER - 670 51 721
Wang Xiaohua T - 180 9 189
Ho Cheong Hang Edmond EE - 300 15 315
Independent Non-Executive BIAFRITES :

Directors:

Cao Kuangyu ERTF 120 - - 120
Chow Shiu Ki 28 150 - - 150
Ip Chi Wai 258 150 - - 150

420 1,150 75 1,645
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z_-ZF _-AF=HA=+—HIFF/E

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
emoluments (Continued)

Mr. Su Xiaonong is also the chief executive of the Company
and his emoluments disclosed above include those for
services rendered by him as the chief executive.

No emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to
the directors and chief executive of the Company as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office during the years ended 31
March 2025 and 2024.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group. The independent
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services as directors of the Company.

1. EENFTEITHAE ZH BN

(a)

ESRFETHRARZH® W)

BMEREENRART ZEBITHAR
MEE EXFEBEZMEBRES R
ZITBA BT REZ RF M ES 2 B

REBE_T_AFER-_FT_MF=A
=+ —BLEFEE  AKERERAQF]
EERFRTRABXNAEMNIE -
ERWIIINASR AR HE A S
SKEREBLFHIE -

HlRSTEEHE HDEREREERR
BIRASEEBARE CRBER - £
WBIIERTEEME AR ERE
EARRARIEEAIRME IR

Five highest paid individuals (b) AREERFAL
The five highest paid individuals included two directors hEERRGTALBEARRMEES
(2024: two) of the Company, details of whose emoluments (ZZ2ZOF - ME)  FEMe 2 F1B
are set out in Note 11(a) above. The emoluments paid to the A EX i 11(@@) c I FHT=
remaining three (2024: three) highest paid individuals are as FH(ZEZNF : ZR)EmF AT 2B
follows: ST :
2025 2024
bl ok §- 3 —T-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BYTT BT T
Salaries and other benefits e RAMEF 3,056 2,119
Retirement benefits scheme contribution RIREAET B R 68 54
3,124 2,173
SR E R A A

SR HARER
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —F - AF=H=+—HIFFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 11.

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

The emoluments were within the following bands:

FEREETRABZFW )

/ 435 )
(A= /

(b) ABEEFHFAL®)
FHE D A TIEE -

2025 2024

—E-hHE —E U

No. of No. of

employees employees

ERAH BB AR

Ni-HK$1,000,000 T E 51,000,000 2 2
HK$1,000,001-HK$ 1,500,000 75%1,000,001 TE

75#1,500,0007T 1 1

No emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to the
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office
during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z2 _-F - AF=H=+—HIFFZ

2025 2024
k- Sk - 3 —EoNEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT IT

Current income tax & HARTIS R
The PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) PRI ZFTSRL([ TSR 8,822 16,988
The PRC LAT B R E R 468 43,840
Deferred tax RIERRIE 1,551 15,735
Income tax expense TSt & A 10,841 76,563

(i) Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
profits tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%.

Since group entities are not qualifying for the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, Hong Kong Profits tax was
calculated at a flat rate of 16.5% of the estimated assessable
profits (2024: 16.5%). No provision for Hong Kong tax has
been made during the years ended 31 March 2025 and
2024 as there are no assessable profits for both years.

(i)  Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

(i)  Pursuant to the laws and regulations of the British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI”), Singapore and Bermuda, the Group is
not subject to any income tax in the BVI, Singapore and
Bermuda for both years.

(iv)  LAT in the PRC is levied on properties developed by the
Group for sale, at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% (2024: ranging from 30% to 60%) on the appreciation
of land value, which under the applicable regulations, is
calculated based on the proceeds of sales of properties less
deductible expenditures including cost of land use rights
and all properties development expenditures.

(i)

(i)

(iv)

REEBFSHOFNSHERRS - &
BEREETEEBE2008 TR 2
& 58.25% - (kB iE S #2008 7o & F
ZHEE16.5% °

AREEEB AT NEHEMRRSE
1% BAENSHB G ERT AT IZ
16.5% K& —HEFHE(ZTZMF -
16.5%) - REZ-ZZE-_RAFRK=F
THFE=A=+—HAILFEWREER
AR - BURBLZMERNEBTIERTR
B -

RIBPEARLAMBREMRETOE( R
EMEBE]D) REEMETEE K
Bl REMNBARRMEFE ZHER
25% °

RipEBEBARES ([ REAEBRE
1) Fns K BEEZED MR -
REERREFEBAYN KB R R
BS -~ hNE R B RE AT AFTEH o

B IR ER IR ASEEREHE
ZWE  AREREI0%REBOR(—F
PO 30% 2 60%) ¥ IR ERREL
Y RREAMRL - HEtEITATIAL
EWEAFIRMG AR (21
THERERA B MEERFAR)
fEH

S0 4 IO 8 A B )
B I 2
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z -—F_-AF=HA=+—HILFZ

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 12. Hﬂ%ﬁﬁ gﬁﬁ (#&)
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the REEMEHEREAGHBERREMZEEK
(loss)/profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or HRIRZBA(ER),/ BFEENT

loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2025 2024

—E-hHE —EmEF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

BETIT BT T

(Loss)/profit before tax BRIAT(EE), &F (127,354) 116,547
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 25% L AHFTB T E25%( —Z — P4 :

(2024: 25%) (Note (i) 25%) T & 2 FiE (M) (31,839) 29,137
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AT R 2 BT E 37,310 7,063
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERBIWN G 2 g2 (5,167) (19
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERZRIERE 2 T2 11,633 5,675
LAT deductible for EIT purposes AR SR 2 L8 ER (117) (10,960)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REAMENEERGENB AR 2

operating in other jurisdictions TR EE (1,447) 1,827
LAT TR ER 468 43,840
Income tax expense Fristi& A 10,841 76,563
Note: PFEE -

() The domestic tax rate in the PRC is used as it is where the operation of (i) ARASEARE D EBHORPBILE - HERA
the Group is substantially based. PRI A K o
13. DIVIDENDS 13. I& B
No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 31 REEZZ-_hAF=-A=+—HIFEAH
March 2025, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end IR EREMRE - MEERE RN
of the reporting period (2024: nil). XLa&EﬁHQE\(_’—; _@¢ D) o
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z2 _-F - AF=H=+—HIFFZ

4. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

tHX\EﬁTE//M?
RATEENERERERAN#E(EE),/
ERTIRRBIA T 8EE

2025 2024
ol o - —EmE
HK$’000 HK$’000
(Loss)/profit (B518) &%) BETT BT
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to the RAEIHEEANRLFE (EBE)/
owners of the Company el (138,195) 39,984
’000 000
Number of shares BHnEE TB% T
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 5T & &R EAR RS R T 2 L iBA%
for the purpose of basic and diluted earnings ~ HN#EF158%
per share 810,665 735,678
HK cents HK cents
(Loss)/earnings per share B/ (E5R) 27 Al i
Basic and diluted EARR S (17.05) 5.43

The basic and diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 March
2025 are the same since the computation of diluted loss per share
does not assume the conversion or exercise of the Company’s
outstanding share options since they would result in decrease in
loss per share for the year ended 31 March 2025.

The computation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended
31 March 2024 does not assume the exercise of the Company’s
share options because both of the exercise price of the share
options was higher than the average market price for shares for
the year ended 31 March 2024.

BHE_Z-_H1F=-A=1T—RILEFEZ8K
%ZF&%EEE?E*BH RERFESRES
BRI AR RAN A R M ARITE 2 AR R
B ITE  BERIITEHSREE_T
THEZA=T—HUFEZEREERD

AERHE_T_NF-_A=1+—HLFEZ
Bl E 2N EERRARD A BRI
I RARBRETEEISREE-Z
“HFE=A=1t—RIEFENRL FHHE -

S0 4 IO 8 A B )
CZERIThEFR
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z -—F_-AF=HA=+—HILFZ

160

Investment
properties
BEME
HKS$
Notatd
COST ﬁﬁ*
At 1 April 2023 AZE-=FMA—H 20,931
Exchange difference M 5 (719)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZZEZWOF=A=1+—HK
—E-MEMPA—H 20,212
Transfer from completed properties held for sale ERABENENE R T 25,244
Exchange difference PEH Z%E (552)
At 31 March 2025 RZZE-_AF=A=+—H 44,904
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION i:’ﬂ’ﬁ'ﬁ
At 1 April 2023 RZZEZ=FMH—A 5,099
Charge for the year FERE 907
Exchange difference MEHZ (172)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZZEZOF=A=+—HK
—“E-NFMA—H 5,834
Charge for the year FEMY 900
Exchange difference EHZE (110)
At 31 March 2025 WZE_RF=HA=+—H 6,624
CARRYING VALUES RE{E
At 31 March 2025 R-E-_RF=A=+—AH 38,280
At 31 March 2024 RZEZNFE=A=+—H 14,378
The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 March RZE-_RAF=A=+—H8 ' &% IZ&E

2025 was approximately HK$48,221,000 (2024: approximately
HK$30,158,000). As at 31 March 2025, the fair value has been
arrived at based on a valuation carried out by an independent
valuer, Peak Vision Appraisals Limited (2024: International
Valuation Limited).

As certain of significant inputs used in the determination of fair
value of investment properties are arrived at by reference to
certain significant unobservable market data, the fair value of all
investment properties of the Group are included in level 3 of the
fair value measurement hierarchy.

The Group lease out the kindergarten and shops under operating
lease with rental payable quarterly and the Group is not exposed
to foreign currency risk as a result of the lease arrangements, as
the lease is denominated in the respective functional currency of
group entities.

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z2 _-F - AF=H=+—HIFFZ

The fair value was determined based on the comparison approach
with reference to the realised price or current asking prices for
the comparable properties. The unobservable input is the market
price per floor area. The range of unobservable input is between
approximately HK$7,600 to HK$14,000 per square meter (2024:
approximately HK$9,100 to HK$15,000). The higher the market
price, the higher the fair value, and vice versa. There has been no
change from the valuation techniques used in the prior year.

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s investment properties,
the highest and best use of the property is their current use.

Details of the Group’s investment properties and information
about the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period
are as followings:

AABEDNRBELREDENEEBRMEZE
BE Sk B RIFAEET - Tl 8K AUk
BIFEERBTENTISER - Ta R
ABBSEENTEFHFARLBE7,6007T
ZE#14,00070( —Z 2 U4 - 4978%9,100
TLEAEA50000T) c MEMRS @ A EM
=& RZIA o R EBFE - A ERN
RiZ::3=)0

R EAEEREMENDAER - ZFD
XzBah&ERERREBRAE -

AEEREE RO LAY ERERANA
RESHEERT -

Fair value

at level 3

Carrying as at

Amount 31 March 2025

R-EZhHE

=A=+—H

RER/Z

IRmE{E LRE

HK$’000 HK$’000

BRI BETIT

Kindergarten located in the PRC IR 2 5 R E 11,255 20,047
Shops located in the PRC AR B2 27,025 28,174
Fair value

at level 3

Carrying as at

Amount 31 March 2024

i e

=—A=+—H

RE3T 2

REE A=

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT T

Kindergarten located in the PRC IR B2 4) R B 12,268 24,268
Shops located in the PRC IR B T H 2,111 5,890

The above investment properties are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the term of lease of 20 years.

o

+
&

MR E Y R A B AR 20 TH AT R 9T

S0 4 IO 8 A B )
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —F - AF=H=+—HIFFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. Y% BB Kk

Furniture,
fixtures, and

Leasehold office Motor
Buildings improvements  equipment vehicles Total
& KER
BT HENRRE WOERH RE 8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT BT BETT BT
COST f5%.
At 1 April 2023 RZE-=FNA—H 18,536 7,495 9,871 15,660 51,562
Additions NE - - 59 - 59
Exchange difference R ERE (636) - (322) (143) (1,101)
At31 March 2024 and 1 Apri 2024 ~ R-Z-WE=A=+—-HK
“TMFMA—A 17,900 7,495 9,608 15,517 50,520
Acquisition of subsidiaries il =UNG| - 16,829 5,250 - 22,079
Written off i - - (175) - (175)
Exchange difference EHZESR (316) - (130) (71) (517)
At 31 March 2025 R-E-RF=A=1—H 17,584 24,324 14,553 15,446 71,907
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION  RiHFE
At 1 April 2023 RZE-=FNA—H 10,203 7,495 9,871 15,467 43,036
Charge for the year FERY 964 - 9 - 973
Exchange difference EHESR (347) - (319) (141) (807)
At31March2024 and 1 April 2024 ~ RZZ-M&=A=+—-HB}
“TIMFMA—A 10,820 7,495 9,561 15,326 43,202
Charge for the year FERZ 957 - - - 957
Written off s - - (167) - (167)
Exchange difference EHER (197) - (129) (69) (395)
At 31 March 2025 RZZE-AF=A=1+—H 11,580 7,495 9,265 15,257 43,597
CARRYING VALUES EEE
At 31 March 2025 WZE-RF=A=1—8H 6,004 16,829 5,288 189 28,310
At 31 March 2024 RZEZME=A=1—H 7,080 - 47 191 7,318
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z_-ZF _-AF=HA=+—HIFF/E
17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 17. EHEEEMEERE
LIABILITIES
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EHIESZE
Leasehold Leased
land properties Total
HELi HEEF st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT
As at 1 April 2023 RZZE-=FA/—H 2,310 3,370 5,680
Additions NE - 3,216 3,216
Depreciation during the year FRIFTE (66) (3,296) (3,362)
Exchange difference B ERE (79) (80) (159)
As at 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZZE-NF=A=+—HK
—E-MEMA—A 2,165 3,210 5,375
Additions NE - 1,263 1,263
Acquisition of subsidiaries W B AR - 39,609 39,609
Depreciation during the year FRITE (65) (3,051) (3,116)
Exchange difference fE =R 37) ®) 45)
As at 31 March 2025 RZZE_RF=A=+—H 2,063 41,023 43,086
Leasehold land represent land use rights located in the PRC TE T IEA R B T F R - I
and under medium-term lease. The lease terms of leased EHHEERE - HEYENHEER
properties range from 2 to 3 years (2024: 2 to 3 years). NF2EZF(ZTUF : 2835 ) »
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEAR
2025 2024
—E_RE —ENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BT
Current portion mENEL D 11,830 2,157
Non-current portion IEmBNEL 28,920 1,101
40,750 3,258

kMg amas 163
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —F - AF=H=+—HIFFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 17. FRAEEENMEEAE®E)
LIABILITIES (Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities (Continued) (b) BHERRMm®R)
2025 2024
—E_hEF —E N4
HK$’000 HK$’000
BYTT ST T

Amounts payable under lease liabilities: S & EE TEFFHRIE :

Within one year —FR 11,830 2,167
After one year but within two years —FREMFA 28,920 1,101
40,750 3,258
Less: Amount due for settlement within B R 12E A NBEREE 2
12 months (shown under current eE(NRBBEE
liabilities) TAIR) (11,830) (2,157)
28,920 1,101
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied EANEEE A2 INETFIIEEERF
to lease liabilities range from 2.18% to 6.66% (2024: from RN F218%E6.66%( —F — P4 :
2.96% to 4.63%). NTF2.96%%4.63%) °
(c) Amounts recognised in profit or loss (c) RIRGWREZELEH
2025 2024
- S - 3 —TWF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Depreciation expenses on right-of-use FREEECITERAX
assets
— Leased properties —HEEF 3,051 3,296
— Leased land —HELTH 65 66
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBBEZMERT 106 99
(d) Others (d) Hfts
During the year ended 31 March 2025, total cash outflow REBE_ZT_AF=A=+—AH1F
for leases amount to approximately HK$3,140,000 (2024: FE - MHEZRERLEREENS
approximately HK$3,961,000). #3,140,0007C ( Z 2 Z M4 : L9818

3,961,0007T) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z2 _-F - AF=H=+—HIFFZ

HK$'000
BT T
COST BE
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZZEZ=FWA—H ZTZNF
“A=+—RAkZZT_mFMA—H -
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 40) U BE B B A A EE A (M 5E40) 63
At 31 March 2025 RZZEZRAF=A=+—H 63
IMPAIRMENT s
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZZE-=FWNA—AR  —T_F
—A=+—RARZZT-_NFMA—H -
Impairment loss recognised in the year FAERREBE 63
At 31 March 2025 RZE_RAF=H=+—H 63
CARRYING VALUE IREE

At 31 March 2025

R-TE-HF=A=+—H -

At 31 March 2024

R-ZE_WNFE=A=+—H -

On 31 March 2025, the Group acquired 100% equity interest in
Savor Dining Collective Limited (“Savor Dining”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to “Savor Group”), which principally engaged
in food and beverage catering services in Shenzhen, the PRC.
The total consideration of the acquisition will be not more than
HK$69,000,000, which comprises two tranches, being: () the
base consideration, amounting to HK$22,000,000, and (ii) the
additional consideration, with a maximum cap of HK$47,000,000,
will be payable, only when the aggregate audited consolidated net
profits of the Savor Group for the years ending 31 March 2026
and 31 March 2027 exceed RMB4.8 million.

The Group engaged Peak Vision Appraisals Limited (“Peak
Vision”), an independent valuer to perform a purchase price
allocation analysis of Savor Group. The projected aggregate
consolidated net profits does not meet the threshold of
guaranteed aggregate consolidated net profits for years ending 31
March 2026 and 31 March 2027. Hence, the Group determines
that there are no contingent considerations based on the best
estimation.

RZZE-_RAFEZA=Z+—8 A&EHEK
88 Savor Dining Collective Limited ( [ Savor
DiningJ) K& E b &8 2 7] (#278[ Savor # ) 2
100% e i w - B EZ R BURIN
FEHRGEEY - Z KB BREKTER
75 #69,000,0007T * WH AMEFD : ()EAKR
RAE7E#22,000,0007T : (i) fBIMUE (LR
/78 #47,000,0007T) + B {E 7 Savor & E
HEZ-_R"F=-A=1T—HRZZE_t#
AT HUEFEZEEZEEENEE
Bl ARKAS0E TR A TAT ©

AEBZEBYHEMEETIEERA
(F/?f%J)ﬂSavor%I TTH&%{EV“@E
fre RBE-_Z-_ E=ZA=+—8Bk=
—t+®F=A *+—EIJJ:¢FZ?E/EJJ,%%E',%¥%IJ
BETREEIRBLEEAFEEIIE -
It ER&EMRT K’Elﬁ%mlﬁimﬁ

S0 4 IO 8 A B )
CZERIThEFR
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On the other hand, the excess of the base consideration, i.e.
HK$22,000,000 over the acquisition date-fair values of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed, i.e. net
assets identified of approximately HK$21,937,000 amounted to
approximately HK$63,000 and was recognised as goodwill. The
goodwill is allocated to the CGU of Savor Group (“Savor Group
cau”).

As at 31 March 2025, the Group assessed the recoverable
amount of Savor Group CGU with reference to a business
valuation of Savor Group based on value-in-use calculation using
discounted cash flow method performed by Peak Vision. The
calculation used cash flow projection based on financial budgets
covering a 5-year period with reference to the financial information
of the selected PRC listed comparable companies, whose
principal businesses were comparable to that of Savor Group.
The annual revenue growth rate within the forecast period was 2%
and the cash flows beyond the 5-year period were extrapolated
using a 2% long-term growth rate. This growth rate was based
on the relevant industry growth forecasts and did not exceed the
average long-term growth rate for the relevant industry.

If the recoverable amount of the CGU is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the CGU is
reduced to its recoverable amount. The impairment loss will be
recognised in profit or loss. As at 31 March 2025, the recoverable
amount of Savor Group CGU is approximately HK$21,937,000
and the carrying amount of the Savor CGU is approximately
HK$22,000,000. An impairment loss of approximately HK$63,000
is recognised for the year ended 31 March 2025.

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
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—FE - EARKE (B % 22,000,000
OB A R EERFTREAER
WEANARE(AEHEFEENSE
21,937,0007T ) 2 & 7 #) %% % 63,000 7T -
EERAEE - ZHEE S ESavork @Y
HEEFABMN([SavorEEIRESEAEER]) o

RZZEZRF=A=1+—8 ' AEERE:
BERAMRBEeREETELEREELS
Z Savork B8 E KA E hSavorE IR &
EEBMHPIREIEEE o TETEHRKAER
AFHYBEENRSRERN  WEER
Tiﬂ’]ﬂiﬂﬂiﬁ—fﬁttf AW ER - 3Z
NAIMEEEKASavorEEE A ELLE - B
BN FEWARER 52% - BEAF
HNRERECFA2%M R REEITH
BT o G REANBBAITEGREN - BT
HEARETTEN T RBERE

WA ELBMNAHATKRE S RBETHER R
HE  ASREELSEUNREARZER
WEeFE WK IERPERREEE - »X
“E-RAF=ZA=+—8 SavorkEB@E&
EEE B AR Uk Bl & BB 4 A 21,937,000
U0 SavorE B SEABNMEREEEN B
7 #22,000,0007T c BE_ZE_RF=H
=T—HIEFE  BREOREBENRBE
63,0007T °
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A PF 4 $i 3R B 5E
For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z2 _-F - AF=H=+—HIFFZ
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 19. EERFWE
2025 2024
ZE_RE T e
HK$’000 HK$’000
B%TIT BT T
At the beginning of the financial year RETERFE ) 275,807 1,470,254
Additions NE 81,990 220,096
Transfers to completed properties EBEHELENDRINE
held for sale (157,721) (1,360,770)
Write-down R (40,053) -
Exchange difference EHZR (3,985) (53,773)
At the end of the financial year RETBRFER 156,038 275,807

Properties under development are classified as current assets as
the construction period of the relevant properties development
project is expected to be completed in the normal operating
cycle.

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

The Group’s completed properties held for sale are situated on a
leasehold land in the PRC. All the completed properties held for
sale are stated at lower of cost and net realisable value.

20.

BRTPMEDERRBDEE - JHEREEY
FHRRIER ZEEHEE - REERHA
ST °

FIELENERINE

AR B R B SR TR T B 7
Eib o FIARIEHENER TYEIGRR
R BB EME 2 RIEETIE -

2025 2024

—E_hfF —EToEF

HK$°000 HK$’000

BETIT BT IT

Completed properties held for sale FIELENE R T 1,011,559 1,114,677
Less: write-down A OB (118,198) (18,730)

893,361 1,095,947
S 4 O 43 A R 4

SR HARER
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —F - AF=H=+—HIFFE

21. INVENTORIES 21. 78

2025 2024
ZE_hfF —TEoEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BRTIT BT T
Food and beverage ZER 5,114 -
Wine (for trading) B(ARER) 7,250 7,250
12,364 7,250

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES 22. B EMBERN
2025 2024
—E_RSF TN
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BRTT BT T
Trade receivables H 5 R K 1,411 -
Less: allowance for impairment B ORERE (387) -
1,024 -

BHRWERTEEBERRBEER - HE
FrBIBRETEURSREHEFREE
RFEZBERPRIN - AEEH—HK A0
XK(ZEZWMF : TER) - AEEH Y
HAR U o] FE R TE M S BRAS BEYE - AR S P8

Trade receivables arises from food and beverage catering services
business. The trading terms with the customers are mainly on
cash and smart card settlement, except for well-established
corporate customers for which the credit term is generally 90 days
(2024: N/A). The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its

168

outstanding receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade
receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.
They are stated net of loss allowance.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z2 _-F - AF=H=+—HIFFZ

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 22. EWHRFR (&)
The Group normally allows credit period of 0-90 days to its AEEBRERERFRHBOZEVANEE
customers. An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as a the B o RIREAIR - RIBRRAME D 2B
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as RFREREC DTN T -
follows:
2025 2024
—E-RF —EomE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BT T
0-90 days 0E90X 1,024 -
OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND HipEURBR X « TEN FRIB M IE S
DEPOSITS
2025 2024
“E"RF —TWF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Prepayments TEf5RIE 259,238 261,361
Deposits paid BfEe 8,251 2,776
Other receivables H YR 5k 420 159
267,909 264,296
Analysed for reporting purposes: ERE R 2 DT -
Non-current assets EMBNEE 1,436 1,379
Current assets MENEE 266,473 262,917
267,909 264,296
Prikise 3L ES g el L YA

SR HARER
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —F - AF=H=+—HIFFE

24. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 24, FERWEFLHE
2025 2024
ol ok - —EmEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETIT BT
Loan receivables JEWE TR 882,143 853,983
Interest receivables LR & 65,844 54,626
947,987 908,609
Less: allowance for impairment B R ERE (96,291) (83,710)
851,696 824,899
The loans and interest receivables are due from independent third EWESREF BT ELE =T 238
parties, which are unsecured and their relevant due dates are in AEKRLAABEEARAZZS_AF N
June 2025 (2024: in April 2024 to June 2024). The interest rates A(ZZZWF : R_T_WFHEAE_ZE
on the loan and interest receivables are fixed ranging from 6% to ZPENALL) - BREREFEZFEER
8% per annum (2024: 6% to 15% per annum). NFHF6%ESW(ZZE_MF : BF6%E
15%) °
The movement in the allowance for impairment of loan and ERER LR ERERE 2 EEIT
interest receivables is as follows:
Total
#ast
HK$'000
BT T
Balance as at 1 April 2023 RZZFZ=FMA—B & 165,437
Reversal of allowance for impairment ERERD (81,727)
Balance as at 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R-ZZB_NMF=A=1+—HK
“TFUA— Rz &R 83,710
Allowance for impairment BB 12,581
Balance as at 31 March 2025 RIZZEZRAF=A=+—H2Z#&% 96,291
There has been no change in the estimation techniques or {HET RS P EE B E A B R L &) o

significant assumptions made.
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The Group has conducted an assessment of ECL according to
forward-looking information and used appropriate model and
assumption in its measurement of expected credit losses. The
assumptions included the future macroeconomic conditions and
borrower’s creditworthiness. (e.g. the probability of default and
the corresponding losses).

The following is an ageing analysis of loan and interest receivables,
net of allowance for impairment of loan and interest receivables
recognised presented based on the loan drawn down date and
interests accrued at the end of the reporting period:

AEBEREBENBEEEN NG ERBEES
BRAEEEARBRETRREEBRN
fly - HEARRBEARREEE BN R AE K
AREEEZ (R # AT ENE RARRRER) -

RIBERR - BREF RS (R ERE
WERENE 2 BERF)IZRETIRRB AN
FEET NS 2| IREE DA T ¢

2025 2024

- S - 3 —TWF

HK$°000 HK$'000

B¥ETT BB

Within 90 days 90HMA - -
91 days to 180 days 91£E180H - -
181 days to 365 days 1812365H 851,696 824,899
Over 365 days 3658 M £ - -
851,696 824,899

The Group’s loan financing customers included in the loan and
interest receivables are due for settlement at the date specified
in the respective loan agreements. The Group did not hold any
collateral over these balances.

The credit risk of loan and interest receivables is considered as
low since initial recognition as loan and interest receivables at
the end of both reporting periods are not past due. There was
no recent history of default of the debtors. To measure the ECL
of loan and interest receivables, loan and interest receivables are
assessed individually by the management of the Group, based
on the credit loss experience, the customers’ repayment history,
financial background and financial condition of each borrower and
reasonable and supportable forward-looking information such as
macroeconomic data that is available without undue cost or effort.

FARKERENEZAEREERRETP
REERBZENET BHIHEER - K
KEVELLZFEHRTHTMERR -

F A 17 A B3 25 B SR 1 B W B SR B A B3 K
B BEEREMNENEERRKRS
BIIRFERBARBIE - EHEATILEEND
Bt o Rt ERREREANENEHREERS
B ARBEEEERESERANGEER
B TPERLE  BHERLMBNR
MAREERBERENAEEERN (NBA
EETBERALE NI EENEBEEHR
) ERIFHARWE R LA E -

S0 4 IO 8 A B )
B I 2
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —F - AF=H=+—HIFFE

25. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

25. REEREIEA AN BEREZ S ME

PROFIT OR LOSS =
31 March 31 March
2025 2024
ZE-RF —E P
=B=+—RB =A=+—H
Financial assets measured RESERAREREMNE HK$°000 HK$’000
at FVTPL ZEMEE BRTIT BT
Listed equity securities held for trading BHIEEE ETMRAES 40,665 9,353

The fair value of listed equity securities is determined based on
the quoted market bid prices available on the Stock Exchange,
the Shanghai Stock Exchange and the London Stock Exchange.

The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL are denominated in the

following currencies:

WG HEMEE -

AT ERTIE -

B EMBRAREZZ AR ETIRERBEAFT -
EBESRDAMBEESFXZ AR

AEBORNERREANERECSREE

31 March 31 March

2025 2024

—E_RF —EoEF

=ERA=+—H =A=+—H

HK$’000 HK$’000

BETT BT T

HKD ittt 681 390
British Pound (“GBP”) ESA(ES3)) 39,825 8,827
RMB AR 159 136
40,665 9,353
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z2 _-F - AF=H=+—HIFFZ

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 26. HE MIREZEY
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank, cash in hand HeReEBYeERTRE FHER:
and cash at financial institutions with an original maturity of three R IREEREAMR A& = 8 A sk A A 2 770 & Bl
months or less: BZBSWT
2025 2024
ZE"hF —EPUF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BT
Cash at bank and in hand RITRERFHERS 51,473 113,981
Cash at bank and financial institutions carried interest at market RITREENESABBZHEEENTEF
rates which range from 0.01% to 0.1% (2024: 0.05% to 0.2%) 0.01%Z0.1%(ZZF =4 : 0.05%%0.2%)
per annum. ZTSMEE -
The Group’s cash and cash equivalents denominated in RMB REBERERBEEMAAREE -
which are placed with banks in the PRC are subject to the Foreign WEFERFERT - BZBRAFBEBNE
Exchange Control Regulations imposed by the PRC government. 8,2 SN B T 1 1B o
The Group’s cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the AEER 2 RREEEWUTIEEE :

following currencies:

2025 2024
—E_hfF —EToEF
HK$°000 HK$’000
BRTT BT T
HK$ o 274 354
Australian dollar (“AUD”) BT (DRIT)) 7 32
RMB AR 51,147 113,547
United States dollar (“USD”) Zou(l[ZEx)) 2 5
Others HAh 43 43
51,473 113,981

27. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES 27. FEREE N RIFA
The amounts are non-interest bearing, unsecured and repayable ZHBEARE - BRI REREREEE -

on demand.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —F - AF=H=+—HIFFE

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 28.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

(@) Trade and other payables

B REMENERERNEHNEE

(a) WHRHEMEMIRR

2025 2024

- S - 3 —EomE

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT BET T

Trade payables Z SRR 15,861 2,950
Accruals JEFTE A 9,944 15,051
Other payables H AT ERFK 11,541 3,382
Consideration payable (Note 40) FERHRE (Bf3E40) 22,000 -
59,346 21,383

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the
reporting period.

PSR - BESRENERFIZEZ A
3

EMZREDITT

2025 2024

ol ~Jo - 3 —EmE

HK$’000 HK$'000

BETT BT

0-30 days 30HA 743 -
31-60 days 31260H 1,008 80
61-90 days 61290H 257 1,409
91-180 days 91£E180H 3,299 -
Over 181 days 181HM £ 10,554 1,461
15,861 2,950

The average credit term on purchase of goods is 30-180
days (2024: 60-180 days). The Group has financial risk
management policies in place to ensure that all payables are
settled within the credit timeframe.
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(b)

A PF 4 $i 3R B 5E
For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z2 _-F - AF=H=+—HIFFZ
28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND B NEMENEREEHNEE
CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued) F=
Contract liabilities (b) &a¥I&R
2025 2024
—E_RF TN
HK$’000 HK$’000
B%TIT FEHET T
Contract liabilities aBHaE 90,879 105,226
As at 1 April 2023, the carrying amounts of contract RZEZ=FPA—H AHEEMNIR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

liabilities were approximately HK$1,032,818,000.

The Group receives the deposits from customers when
they sign the sale and purchase agreement. Such deposits
result in contract liabilities being recognised throughout
the property construction period until the customer obtains
control of the completed property for sales.

Revenue of approximately HK$59,265,000 and
HK$663,051,000 were recognised relates to arrived-
forward contract liabilities upon the respective performance
obligations were satisfied during the years ended 31 March
2025 and 2024.

29. OTHER LOAN

H{E4)H%1,032,81 8,0007E o

AEERNEF R EE R WEEP
B o ﬁ%ﬁ?ﬁié&%ﬁ’%ﬁ%@ﬁ%ﬂ%
FKEPREAER EEEPIBE R
THEMRZE %Wé °

HE-_T-_AFRKR_ZT-_WNF=A
=+—HLFE SEEHNEAERE
THREEREACIHEHNEEERAY
W A B #) 7 ¥ 59,265,000 7T K B
663,051,0007T °

. B ERK

HK$'000

BT

At 1 April 2023 RZZEZ=FMA—H 1,259,500

Repayment during the year (Note (i) FAER (FIEE)) (279,500)
At 31 March 2024, 1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 RZBEZNFE=A=+—H ZZ-MF

WMA—BER=ZZE-_AF=A=+—H 980,000

Notes:

In June 2023, other loans of HK$220,000,000 and HK$59,500,000
were entirely repaid by the Group.

On 9 June 2025, Mr. Li, as the Company’s ultimate controlling
shareholder and the borrower of the other loan, with a view to providing
it additional comfort and support to the Company, has signed a
supporting letter and hereby irrevocably and unconditionally undertakes
and covenants to the Company that he shall withhold any demand or
claims against the Company until 31 March 2026 provided that the
Company will continue to negotiate with him on alternative proposal in
settlement of the other bond in good faith.

P

REZBZ=FXA  RERBHENEBER
7 #220,000,0007T 28 #59,500,0007T ©

NZZE_AFAANLA  BRAARARHRMHE
SMRIER X H - FREERARBMRIIE
BER R E M ERNERAN) BHEE X
BK - 0 RE LN R R BRI A AR A RS
RAEHEFE R —Z = R"F=A=+—H
Z ARG EAAR AR EFZRKLERR - R
REARASEEREEEGCESNERNTR
B HETT R BEER

S0 4 IO 8 A B )
SR HARER
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —F - AF=H=+—HIFFE

Number of Share
shares capital
Bin&H ;2.3
'000 HK$'000
T BT T
Authorised ordinary shares: EE @R
At 1 April 2023 of HK$0.01 per share RZE-_=FMA—AH
FRE0.017T 10,500,000 105,000
Increase in share capital (Note (a)(i) A& 732 50 (PR (a)() 9,500,000 95,000
Share consolidation (Note (a)(i) B 106 0 (MIEE(R) (i) (18,000,000) -
At 31 March 2024, 1 April 2024 and RZEZF=A=+—8 -
31 March 2025 of HK$0.1 per share “ECOFRMA—BAERZE_RHF
= A=+—RA8®REE01T 2,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid ordinary shares: ERTRAEKRRZEERE -
At 1 April 2023 of HK0.01 per share W-ZE-_=FA—H
H&ERE0.017T 7,356,783 73,568
Share consolidation (Notes (a)ii) f& 10 & OF (B RE (@) i) (6,621,105) -
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 of R-ZE-ME=ZA=+—HFK
HK$0.1 per share ZEZFENA—-HERAEB01T 735,678 73,568
Issue of shares (Note (b)) BT (MtEE(0) 115,000 11,500
At 31 March 2025 of HK$0.1 per share RZE_RAF=A=+—H
BRA0AT 850,678 85,068

Notes:

() On 18 August 2023, the Company passed ordinary resolutions in
relation to the following by the shareholders of the Company:

(i) an increase in authorised share capital of the Company from

HK$105,000,000 to HK$200,000,000; and

(i) the consolidation of every ten (10) issued and unissued shares
of HK$0.01 each in the capital of the Company into one (1)
consolidated share of HK$0.10 (“Share Consolidation”).

As all the conditions of the Share Consolidation were fulfilled, the Share
Consolidation became effective on 22 August 2023.

(b) On 3 July 2024, arrangements were made for a private placement to
independent third parties of 115,000,000 shares of HK$0.47 each,
which represents a discount of approximately 11.3% to the closing
market price of the Company’s shares on 3 July 2024. As all the
conditions of the placement were fulfilled, the placing became effective

on 5 August 2024.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z2 _-F - AF=H=+—HIFFZ

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are fiti B A OE 98 HI AT 2 REFS & AT IR B B
offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current Tﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁ?,ﬁﬂﬁlﬁﬁﬂi EIRIEFTSH SR — 8
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred BB R - EEATSHEE MELEE

income tax relates to the same fiscal authority.

HAELAEEH o

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax assets and RO BHREENME  REHBEEERAE
liabilities, after set off certain deferred tax assets against deferred LHEEBRERNEENE TREHIEEE
tax liabilities of the same taxable entity, for financial reporting MEERIEAER - oOT -
purposes:
The Group
*&EEH
2025 2024
—E_REF ZEZEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BT T
Deferred tax assets BIETRIE A E 24,073 25,624
The following are the major deferred tax assets recognised and NTAAFERBEFECHERZEER
movements thereon during the current and prior years: MBEEREZHER

Allowance for

impairment of Write-off of

loan and completed

interest properties
receivable held for sales Total

PR 5 R B FEH SR
FIRZRIE Bk T

0% e - H )

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

BT BT BT IT

At 1 April 2023 RZZ-_=FmA—H 41,359 - 41,359

(Charged)/credited to profit or loss % % (F08R),FTA (20,432) 4,697 (15,735)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 —Z— E¢ A=+—H

& —PFIMA—H 20,927 4,697 25,624

Credited/(charged) to profit or loss R8st A (F14) 3,146 (4,697) (1,551)

At 31 March 2025 RZEZRAF=H=+—H 24,073 - 24,073

mEMgEamas 177
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At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$660,047,000 (2024: approximately
HK$612,359,000) available for offset against future profits. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of these
tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams
(2024: same). Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses
of approximately HK$44,394,000 (2024: approximately
HK$11,405,000) that will expire in the next five years. Other
losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

Under the EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from
1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been
provided for in the consolidated financial statements in respect of
temporary differences attributable to accumulated profits of the
PRC subsidiaries amounting to approximately HK$44,577,000
(2024: approximately HK$130,418,000) as the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and
it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The Group manages its capital structure to ensure that the entities
in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of
the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes convertible bonds, lease liabilities, bank borrowing, other
bond, promissory note and amount due to a related company net
of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of
the Company comprising share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
periodically. As part of this review, the directors of the Company
consider the cost of capital and the risk associated with each
class of capital. Based on the recommendations of the directors
of the Company, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new share issues and share
buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of
existing debt.

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025

RIREEBR  AEBBABDAHRBEEEBY
75 #5660,047,0007C ( ZF Z U4 : £98 %
612,359,0007T ) A] KSR R B F) o B
RIREFHIR 2 AT T8 - B X S
HEEBRAERCERBEELE(ZS-NF : [
1) o RIERTEEEREBRARAFERM
2 FS1B#) 8 1544,394,0007(ZZ =4 : 49
78 #511,405,0007T ) © H {518 7] £E PR AR 45
B2

BECEMBRE AT /\F—F—H
R B B AR TRERARE R 2R E A
BUTFEIH - WENE MM BRI ARHE
M ARl RErBFIZE 44,577,000 (=
T P4 4978 15130,418,00070) FE(G 2 &
RERERERBELEE  REATEE
BesIE 2 S E R ER B ERR R ZEY
IRy 22 BB R AT BE A AT B R A SR o

AEEEBRANES  URREENEE
AN ABEEREE  AREBE(E
BRERESBAREIRBALR - A£H
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KB EEBMARNRRER ARIE#ER (R
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)

(b)

33. &RATHA

Categories of financial instruments (a) &£mIARER
2025 2024
—E_hfF —EToEF
HK$°000 HK$’000
BETT BT T
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at FVTPL RIBREFIRANERIE 2 £/
BE 40,665 9,353
Financial assets at amortised cost BEBEN T E2 S RERE
(including cash and cash equivalents) (BREASIREEEY) 912,864 951,974
953,529 961,327
Financial liabilities eMaR
Financial liabilities measured at amortised BEIERAGTEZ2mEE
cost 1,121,782 1,067,340
Financial risk management objectives and (b) EMERBREEENORBE

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include other
receivables and deposits, loan and interest receivables,
financial assets at FVTPL, cash and cash equivalents, trade
and other payables, amounts due to related companies
and other bonds. Details of the financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments include market risk (interest
rate risk, currency risk and other price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

AEENTEZSR T ABFEHMEKER
RREE - BREREANE - RERER
BANEREZEREE B lie
FEY - EHNEMBMNRR - B
BRBRANEMES - ZFERTE
ZRBERESEEMEARE - BitES
BT AR AR EET SRR (7 X
Rk - E¥RERMEMERRR) - F
ERBEREE SRR o T X &I
I ERROBEK - EREEIEREEZ
ER - LAREOR BB B U B iE
R

S0 4 IO 8 A B )
SR HARER
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk

(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to fixed rate lease liabilities and loan and
interest receivables.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to bank balances carried at prevailing
market rates.

The Group currently does not have any interest
rate hedging policy. However, the management
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider
other necessary action when significant interest rate
exposure is anticipated.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note.

The directors of the Company consider that the
interest rate risk in relation to bank balances is
insignificant as the outstanding balances are not
significant.

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2025
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) . 2R T E@@)
(b) &REFEEEHMORBE®

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued) &% B Bs (#5)
(i) Foreign currency risk (i) SPEmEE

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and PRC
with most transactions mainly settled in HK$ and
RMB. As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group
holds financial assets at FVTPL (see Note 25) and
bank balances (see Note 26) other than the respective
functional currencies of the relevant group entities
mainly denominated in AUD, USD and GBP. Foreign
exchange risk arises when future commercial
transactions or recognised assets are denominated in
a currency that is not the Group’s functional currency.
The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging the
potential foreign currency exposure should the need

REBEFEREBRPBEKEE
% BERBAIRGEZUNAER
ARBHE RZZT-_AFR=
Z-NWFE=A=+—8 " &x&£H
BERERREANEREZS
BhEE (R sE2s) RIRTTHE %
(RKtsr2e) - HEEHEEEER
RMEEEREE R EZLURT - &
TTREEERHE o IMNERBNE R
REFER 5ok O HERE E A IE
REENRER 2 ERHERE
Ao RNEBENEEINE E R IBUR o
MM - BEEEERIMNER R
P WA Z 0 2 R HRB I SN R

arise. % o
The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets REER - AEBUKREHES
denominated in currencies other than the respective ERESBENEEE AN
functional currencies of the relevant group entities at B EvEEEEZEEEAN
the end of the reporting period are as follows: T
Assets
gE
2025 2024
-l - —ENEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BT
AUD RIT 7 32
Usb x5 2 5
GBP 3 39,825 8,827
Others Hh 43 43
SR E R A A

SR HARER
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(ii) Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

As the Group had no material foreign currency
denominated monetary assets at 31 March 2025
and 2024, no significant impacts on the results of
the Group would arise from the changes in foreign
currency rates, accordingly no sensitivity analysis is

presented.

(iiij) Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through
its investments in listed equity securities and these
investments are classified on the consolidated
statement of financial position as financial assets at
FVTPL. The management manages this exposure by
maintaining a portfolio of investments with different
risks. In addition, the management has appointed a
special team to monitor the price risk and will consider
hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risks at the end

of the reporting period.

If the share price of the respective listed equity
securities had been increased/decreased by 20%
and all other variables were held constant, the post-
tax profit for the year ended 31 March 2025 would
increase/decrease by approximately HK$8,133,000
(2024: approximately HK$1,871,000) as a result of the
changes in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL.

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
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(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss
to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The credit risk of our Group mainly arises from bank
balances, loan and interest receivables, other receivables
and deposits. The carrying amounts of these balances
represent our Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in
relation to financial assets.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts.

The Group recognised 12m ECL for loan and interests
receivables with carrying amount of approximately
HK$851,696,000 (2024: approximately HK$824,899,000)
as at 31 March 2025, based on individually assessment for
significant debtors by applying weighted average expected
credit loss rate of 10.2% (2024: 9.2%). Allowance for
impairment of approximately HK$12,581,000 is made for
the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: reversal of allowance
for impairment of approximately HK$81,727,000). The
directors of the Company consider that the changes in
expected credit loss rates is mainly due to economic
condition of the industry.

The weighted average expected credit loss rates are
estimated based on forward-looking information and used
appropriate model and assumption in its measurement of
expected credit losses. Such forward-looking information is
used by the management of the Group to assess both the
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date. The details are disclosed in Note 24.

(b) &RERFEERHMRBE®)

RZE-RAFR-ZZF-_MF=A=+—
H AEBfEYSEEERBGENR
REBAHFHAREBITEEMEEN
BEE - BRAKIETRE A TSR
FAHSHEEERSHEEZREE -

REBZEERBREIZHRBRITHELR
R E R R H B~ E USRS IR
T o RFERZEREERASE A AR
BFRTREEZRAGEERR

RTEERRKEERR  AKEELERE
EXR—HEABREEEEERE 7
EHRETHMERRF - PARERER
ERBRE R he U [T B E R (B IR -

R-ZE-RFE=ZA=+—0  A£ER
BEAEBEERO BRI - BiBEA
MEFIIEBEEBEE102%(=ZF
PO 2 9.2%) - HEREWE R RFE
W12E A E EEBEREELN S
851,696,000 C ( ZE = U : 4975
824,899,0007T) - BIZE T -_hHF=
A=+—RHIFERREREBELELE
12,581,000 C (= U : JB{EEE
B[O 478 H81,727,0000T) © AAFIE
ERE BEHREEEBEBEXREHEEHN
FTELE R

g F TR E E R R IR EATE
BB LA ERREEERMAEEERN
RRRAEITRHE - NEBEIEE KR
AIEEER AR HE RS B HE R MR
HARDL © B RARFIB NI 24K 58
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Management considered other receivables and deposits
to be low credit risk and thus the allowance for impairment
recognised during the year was limited to 12m ECL.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of asset and whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout the
reporting period. To assess whether there is a significant
increase in credit risk the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the asset as at the reporting date
with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition.
It considers available reasonable and supportive forward-
looking information. Especially the following indicators are
incorporated:

o internal credit rating;

o actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the
borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;

° actual or expected significant changes in the operating
results of the borrower; and

° significant changes in the expected performance
and behaviour of the borrower, including changes in
the payment status of borrowers in the Group and
changes in the operating results of the borrower.

DINGYI GROUP INVESTMENT LIMITED
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

In respect of the loan and interest receivables arising from
the Group’s loan financing business, 3% (2024: 3%) of the
total gross loan and interest receivables as at 31 March
2025 was due from the Group’s largest customer and 15%
(2024: 16%) of the total gross loan and interest receivables
as at 31 March 2025 was due from the Group’s five largest
customers for the Group’s loan financing business.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations for loan and interest receivables is in the PRC,
which accounted for 100% (2024: 100%) of loan and
interest receivables as at 31 March 2025.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies.

. T AEE

(b)

SR EEEE B R BR @)

=SB
BAEENERRMELBEENER
BERMETS  R-_E-A&E=A

=+ —HEKERRF SLERN3I%
ZTZNF :3%) NERASEE R
ABEFHWHRE  MRZZE_RF=A
=T —HEKRERENEEEPN15%
(ZZZHF  16%) HEBASEENE
FREEBAARAREFHFE

REBREE D 2 BKEREF S22
EERBEFRFE - HRZF_F
FZRA=+—HZEKEREFEZ
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework

comprises the following categories:

Category Description
x5 i

(b) &REBEEEBRORBE®)

=SB
REE B TS ERBRTRIELRBIEIL
TR

Basis for recognising ECL

HRFAMERGRNESE

Performing  For financial assets where there has low risk of default or 12m ECL
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition and that are not credit impaired (refer to as

Stage 1)

RiF EVRRRELAVAEREEERRABAREEN - B 12@AEREEER

BEERECERMEE(RE—

Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a significant Lifetime ECL — not credit impaired

increase in credit risk since initial recognition but that are

not credit impaired (refer to as Stage 2)
BYRHERE - EERRARBENEEEEREsEME EEAFEDRHBEESE-BEERE

el
T
a1

(R B

Default Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when Lifetime ECL — credit impaired

one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the

estimated future cash flows of that asset have occurred

(refer to as Stage 3)

fil

E-EAZAFMHYHEREENMGT AR

REELET BEFEPNEMEEER-FEERE

NEER  ZEERTHAEERE(RE=RKR)

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe Amount is written off

financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect

of recovery

HsH BB KRABHEABABRENMBRRRMAEEE RN FOARME

TR BT
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z_-ZF _-AF=HA=+—HIFF/E

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 33. &Rl T E &
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) &mEREEEENRBE®)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) SEEE =)
The tables below detail the credit quality of the Group’s TRAMINEAEBESHEEEEEL
financial assets, as well as the Group’s maximum exposure ENRAEEREERRIMT TR
to credit risk by credit risk rating grades. KNeERR -
Gross  Allowance Net
Internal 12m ECL or carrying for carrying
credit rating lifetime ECL amount  impairment amount
128 A R GRS
ABGEETR EEFEUROEEER RE#E editid | REPE

HK$'000 HK'000 HK$'000
BRI ARETT  BBTR

2025

ZEZRE

Trade receivables Performing Lifetime ECL 1,411 (387) 1,024

EETLE S RiF BEFENRNEERE

Loan and interest receivables Performing 12m ECL (not credit-impaired and 947,987 (96,291) 851,696
assessed individually)

FERERRAE RiF RERAEHEEFR(TEEERER
(AR TR )

Deposits and other receivables Performing 12m ECL (not credit-impaired and 10,118 (1,447) 8,671
assessed individually)

B REMBYKERN R#f 1REAAERREEFR(IEEERER
{ERETTIE)

2024

“ECmF

Loan and interest receivables Performing 12m ECL (not credit-impaired and 908,609 (83,710) 824,899
assessed individually)

FEME R RAS RiF REREHEEFR(TEEERER
(AR TR )

Deposits and other receivables Performing 12m ECL (not credit-impaired and 2,935 - 2,935
assessed individually)

" REMEKERN R#f REREHEEER(TECERER

{ERIETRE)

mEmgEaman 187
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —F - AF=H=+—HIFFE

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows.

(b) &RERFEERHEMRBE®)

EERBETRARIE  AKREERN
MRS PREFEVNERRBRART
RZKF - DREAREEREXBAT
Be WRPBRERERBHZTE -

TREJNAKENTES R A B2 RER
BRFHRFIS - ZIIRBRAEE AL
BERNFEERHZzZ A ERER
BenEme - TREEMNERAER
Sk

More than More than
Ondemand  one year but two years Total
or within less than  but less than More than  undiscounted Carrying
one year two years five years fiveyears  cash flows Amount
REXE  BE-FE 2 BEREE FHRRE
R-%/ DRRE DREF 2ang REAE IEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ERTT ERTT ERTT ERTT ERTT ERTT
202 o
Non-derivative financial liabilties /74288 E
Trade and other payables BHREMERER 50,346 - - - 50,346 50,346
Amounts due to related companies  JERTEIEL AERR 41,686 - - - 41,686 41,686
Other loan EER 980,000 - - - 980,000 980,000
Lease libilties HEER 13,448 11,231 18,550 1,041 44,210 40,750
1,094,480 11,231 18,550 1,04 1,125,302 1,121,782
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z=F=-AF=H=+—HILFEZF

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 33. R T HE#)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) &mEREEEENRBE®)

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) e B & B ()

Liquidity tables (Continued) =4 IEAL )

More than
On demand one year but Total

or within lessthan  undiscounted Carrying
one year two years cash flows Amount
S B AERRE
i BARRE MERE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT BETT BT

2024 —EomE

Non-derivative financial liabilities TSR

Trade and other payables B 5 REMERRR 21,383 - 21,383 21,383
Amounts due to related companies  JEfEIE R AIBR 62,699 - 62,699 62,699
Other loan Hih &7 980,000 - 980,000 980,000
Lease liabilities HEEE 2,253 1,120 3,378 3,258

1,066,335 1,120 1,067,455 1,067,340

mEmgramas 189
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —F - AF=H=+—HIFFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 33. @Rt T E#)
(c) Fair value measurements recognised in the (c) EHMBRARARRZIAOR
consolidated statement of financial position {EHFtE
The following table provides an analysis of financial TRIEHRESBMTAZ D - THIERETE
instruments that are measured at fair value at the end of MEEREMERRZAREE - I
each reporting period for recurring measurement, grouped REREEETBERER QA BEATEE
into Level 1 based on the degree to which the fair value is ZEENERE—R -
observable in accordance to the Group’s accounting policy.
2025 2024
—E_hEF —ENF
Level 1 Level 1
E—R 1
HK$’000 HK$ 000
BETT BT T
Financial assets at FVTPL RRRBRAREEREEZ
eMEE
Listed equity investments R EE 40,665 9,353

There were no transfers between level of fair value hierarchy
in current and prior years.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of other current financial assets and liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate to their corresponding fair values
due to short-term maturities. The directors of the Company
consider that carrying amounts of other non-current
financial assets and liabilities approximate to their fair value
as the impact of discounting of non-current assets is not
significant and the non-current liabilities are amortised at
market interest rates.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z=F=-AF=H=+—HILFEZF

34. COMMITMENTS 34. FE
(a) Operating lease commitments (a) EEHERIE
The Group as lessor TEREESHBA
The Group leases out investment properties under operating AEERFRERELCEHERLIREY
leases in the PRC. The leases typically run for an initial % o YIRTHEREE R5F204F o AR
period from 5 to 20 years. None of the leases includes HEREFEHENK - IBEHEEARE
variable lease payments. All are fixed lease payments. ERERZK -
Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable RS BB AT RGE L E T 2 R
operating leases in place at the reporting date will be RAE R AR E B R AT R 2R B
receivable by the Group in future periods as follows: R -
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
—E"hEF —E U4
=A=+—H =A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
BYTT BT T
Within one year —FR 319 318
Between one and two years —FEMF 326 448
Between two and five years MEERF 595 629
Over five years BiERE 1,333 1,555
2,573 2,950
(b) Capital commitments (b) BEKE
Contracted for but not provided in the BiTHERREHMBEEP
consolidated financial statements 1% 0
2025 2024
- o - 3 —EomE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BYTT BT T
For properties under development BEEETYE 276,632 281,610
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Old Share Option Scheme

A share option scheme (the “Old Share Option Scheme”) was
adopted by the shareholders pursuant to a resolution passed
on 21 September 2012 for the primary purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to its employees, the directors and other
selected participants for their contributions to the Group and to
encourage them to contribute further to the development of the
Group so as to enhance value of the Company and its shares for
the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

As at 31 March 2025, the share options under the Old Share
Option Scheme of 60,950,000 were lapsed, representing 8.3% of
the shares of the Company in issue at that date. No share option
remained outstanding as at 31 March 2025.

As at 31 March 2024, the number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding under the
Old Share Option Scheme were 60,950,000, representing 8.3%
of the shares of the Company in issue at that date.

The total number of shares in respect of which options might
be granted under the Old Share Option Scheme and any other
schemes is not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue at the date of shareholders’ approval of the
Old Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”) or,
if such 10% limit was renewed, at the date of shareholders’
approval of the renewal of the Scheme Mandate Limit. The
maximum aggregate number of shares which might be issued
upon the exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Old Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes, must not exceed 30% of the total number
of shares of the Company in issue from time to time.

The number of shares in respect of which options might be
granted to any individual in any one year was not permitted to
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company then in issue, without
prior approval from the shareholders in general meeting.
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Old Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Each grant of options to any director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder must be approved by independent
non-executive directors of the Company. Where any grant
of options to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director or any of their respective associates would
result in the shares of the Company issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options already granted and to be granted in excess
of 0.1% of the Company’s issued share capital and with a value
in excess of HK$5,000,000 in the 12-month period up to the date
of such grant must be approved in advance by the Company’s
shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within 21 days from the date
of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per grant. An option might be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time
during the effective period of the Old Share Option Scheme to be
notified by the board of directors which shall not be later than 10
years from the date of grant.

The exercise price was determined by the directors of the
Company, and would not be less than the highest of the closing
price of the Company’s share on the date of grant, the average
closing price of the share on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant,
and the nominal value.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z -—F_-AF=HA=+—HILFZ

As at 31 March 2024 As at 31 March 2025
RZE-ME=A=+-A RZBZRE=A=+-H
Number of Number of
Consolidated Consolidated
Shares to be Shares to be
Exercise issued upon Exercise issued upon
price per  exercise of the price per exercise of the
Vesting Exercise Consolidated outstanding ~ Consolidated  outstanding
Date of grant period period Share  share options Share share options
KA RRTTHE
BE R
Bk BiTfEk =14 TR
btk BRI Akl  RTROM
edil =L BEA T RE  ARHEAE fiER AftRHHE
HK$ HK$
B B
11 April 2019 Since the date of grant 11 April 2019 to 4.56 60,950,000 N/ARER -
10 April 2024
ZE-NEMAT—A Bt A S E-NEMA+-RZE
“ENENATA
The aforesaid adjustments in relation to the outstanding share BLRTT{E R AR E A AR Ll R B R0 & OF
options took effect simultaneously with the Share Consolidation EQ:;—; “ZFNAZT-—HRBER - B E
on 22 August 2023. Save for the above adjustments, all other AFEESN - RITEERERE R P B HALIER
terms and conditions of the outstanding share options remain R M T8 o

unchanged.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z2 _-F - AF=H=+—HIFFZ

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS EXPENSES 35. M BEM 2 NRFA @)
(Continued)
60,950,000 share options (represented 100% of the unexercisable REBEE-_FT-_AF=-"A=+—HLFE "
share options as at 31 March 2024) were lapsed during the year 60,950,000f7 B E (T MW FE=H
ended 31 March 2025. =+ —BAARMTEERIERN100%) B KL -
There was no granted, forfeited or exercised of share options REBEE_Z-"RAF=A=1+—BIEE - #
during the year ended 31 March 2025. MEEIERERE - ORI AT -
The following table discloses the Company’s share options held THREFEEES - EERBRR_-_Z-AF=
by directors, employees and consultants as at 31 March 2025: A=+—HFF8ARRQ AR RE -
Outstanding
at 31 March
2025
= -
=B=+—H
Option type MRARfEER HRITE
Directors =
11 April 2019 —E-NFWUA+—H -
Employees #8
11 April 2019 —E-NFWUA+—H -
Consultants B
11 April 2019 —E-NFWA+—H -
Exercisable at the end of the year FERAIFTME =
Weighted average exercise price INREFI1T(EE N/AFE H
Lrikise LK S g el LA

SR HARER
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —F - AF=H=+—HIFFE

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS EXPENSES 35. MM AER 2 NHRAX @)
(Continued)
There was no granted, forfeited, exercised or lasped of share REE-ZZ-_NMF=-A=+—HILFE #
options during the year ended 31 March 2024. MR - BRI - TTESRRR -
The following table discloses the Company’s share options held TRERZES  EERBER-Z-_NF=
by directors, employees and consultants as at 31 March 2024: A=1T—BASFARA R B
Outstanding
at 31 March
2024
i
—A=+—H
Option type HE A e a A W ARITIE
Directors B
11 April 2019 —ZE-NFHEA+—H 5,700,000
Employees =
11 April 2019 —ZE-NFEA+—H 22,350,000
Consultants BR
11 April 2019 —E-NFWmA+—H 32,900,000
60,950,000
Exercisable at the end of the year FRAIITE 60,950,000
Weighted average exercise price IEEFHITEE HK$4.56
PE#E4.567T
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z2 _-F - AF=H=+—HIFFZ

New Share Option Scheme

The Company passed an ordinary resolution at the special general
meeting held on 3 November 2023 approving the adoption of the
New Share Option Scheme which shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years from the adoption date.

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Board to grant share options to the eligible participants (including
the directors and employees of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and the service providers who provide services to the
Group on a continuing and recurring basis in its ordinary and usual
course of business which are in the interests of the long-term
growth of the Group as determined by the Board) as incentives
or rewards for their contribution or potential contribution to the
Group. The Board believes that the adoption of the New Share
Option Scheme can serve to (i) motivate the eligible participants
to work hard for the Group’s future development by aligning their
interests with the successful growth of the Group’s business; and
(i) enhance the Group’s ability to attract and retain suitable or
talented employees and personnel for the further development of
the Group.

No share options have been granted under the New Share Option
Scheme since its adoption.
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Hong Kong

The Group operates the MPF Scheme under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees in
Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement
plan administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF
Scheme, each of the Group companies (the “employer”) in Hong
Kong and its employees are required to make contributions to
the scheme at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Legislation. The contributions
from each of the employer and employees are subject to a cap
of HK$1,250 per month before 1 June 2014 and HK$1,500 per
month, since 1 June 2014 onwards. During the year ended 31
March 2024, the total amount contributed by the Group to this
scheme and charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income was approximately
HK$257,000 (2024: approximately HK$161,000).

The PRC

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, subsidiaries in
the PRC are required to contribute to a state-managed retirement
plan for all its employees at a certain percentage of the basic
salaries of its employees. The state-managed retirement plan is
a defined contribution retirement plan and responsible for the
entire pension obligations payable to all retired employees. Under
the state-managed retirement plan, the Group has no further
obligations for the actual pension payments or post-retirement
benefits beyond the annual contributions. During the year ended
31 March 2025, the total amount contributed by the Group to
this scheme and charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income was approximately
HK$438,000 (2024: approximately HK$242,000).

Such as disclosed in elsewhere of the consolidated financial
statement, the Group had the following significant transactions
with its related parties:

Compensation of key management personnel

The emoluments of the directors and other key management
personnel of the Group during the year were disclosed in Note 11.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z2 _-F - AF=H=+—HIFFZ

2025 2024
—ERF —Tpg
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BRETIT BT
Non-current assets JERENEE
Interests in subsidiaries FTEM B A B2 fEes 314,244 807,245
Prepayments and deposits TENRIERES 536 420
Right-of-use assets CREEE 1,072 2,680
315,852 810,345
Current assets IRENEE
Other receivables, prepayments and deposits  E b FEUBR RN  FBN 0B iR e 112 43
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFEUSB B A RIBR X 642,266 639,401
Financial assets at fair value through REZEEANEREZ SMEE
profit or loss 4,184 927
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEEED 127 231
646,689 640,602
Current liabilities bid b=k
Other payables and accruals HAb AR R EET B A 24,338 23,986
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERHIB A RIER 88,837 89,004
Amounts due to related companies JERTREE R BIBRIK 21,932 62,162
Lease liabilities HERE 1,101 1,689
Other loan HEmER 980,000 980,000
1,116,208 1,156,741
Net current liabilities mERESRE (469,519) (516,139)
Total assets less current liabilities HEERTRDER (153,667) 294,206
Capital and reserves B A B G R
Share capital (Note 30) A&7 (B 5E30) 85,068 73,568
Reserves (Note (a)) i (T Ea) (238,735) 219,537
Total (capital deficiency)/equity W(EXEH) E#a (153,667) 293,105
Non-current liability ERBIAE
Lease liabilities HERE - 1,101
(153,667) 294,206
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —F - AF=H=+—HIFFE

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

38. AARBHHRE @

Note: MI3E
(@  Reserves @
Capital Share
Share  Contributed Other  redemption option Accumulated
premium surplus reserves reserve reserve losses Total
(Note () (Note (i)
BIFER BARR Ritfsi BEAMOGKE  IRRERG RHER #a
(HfEG) (P EE()
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
At 1 April 2023 WZZEZ=FEA-AH 3,313,708 55,215 (795,421) 14 129,180  (2,469,788) 232,908
Loss and total comprehensive loss £ REE k& A BRAE
for the year - - - - - (13,371) (13,371)
At31March 2024 and 1 April 2024 HZZ-RE=A=+-8}
—Z-MEMA-A 3,313,708 55,215 (795,421) 14 129,180 (2,483,159) 219,537
Loss and total comprehensive loss ~ £REE & A BBAE
for the year - - - - - (500,086) (500,086)
Issue of shares BIRG 42 550 - - - - - 42 550
Shares issuing expenses RIDBITRE (736) - - - - - (736)
Lapse of share options BRERM - - - - (129,180) 129,180 -
At 31 March 2025 RZZ-RE=A=t+-A 3,355,522 55,215 (795,421) 14 - (854,065  (238,735)
Notes: T -

(i) The contributed surplus of approximately HK$55,215,000
represents the difference between the fair value of net assets of

subsidiaries acquired and the nominal amount of the Company’s

shares issued for the acquisition.

Under the Companies Act of 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
contributed surplus of the Company is available for distribution to

shareholders.

(i) Other reserves represents:

(@) The change in the Group’s ownership interests in existing

subsidiaries that do not result in loss of control over those

subsidiaries; and

(b) The recognition of deemed contribution from Mr. Li under
merger accounting upon the completion of acquisition
of United Faith Group on 26 March 2018, representing
the differences amongst the investment cost for the
acquisition of United Faith Group and the amount due to
related companies, and elimination of the share capital of
the United Faith.
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Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March n

2025 and 2024 are as follows:
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z2 _-F - AF=H=+—HIFFZ

TECRER-E-_ME=A=+—0H "
RRAREEWBRAZFFBEWT -

Place or country Issued and
of incorporation/ paid up share
establishment/ capital/registered ~ Number Proportion of ownership interest and
Name of company operations capital  of shares voting power held by the Company Principal activities
i/ B/ BRTRERE
A ERBEBER ks /iMEs  KiAWA FRERACHARERRRFELA IERH
2025 2024
-k 13 —TomE
Directly Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
Ef L B# fifk
% % % %
Dingyi Jin Hui (Shenzhen) The PRC Registered capital of N/A - 100 - 100 Loanfinancing
Investment Gonsulting RMB50,000,000 and
Limited™ paid-up capital of
RMB22,082,000
SESE(RI)RER e aEx  AEm EREE
ERAA ARH50,000,0007
RéRBRA
AR 22,082,000
Golden Season International ~ The BVI US$1 1 - 100 - 100 Securities trading and
Limited? trading of wine
SZARERAT AEARARES 1% FHEEREREE
Ease Main Limitec? The BVI US$1,000 1,000 - 100 - 100 Investment holding and
securities rading
RIAERAR! ZEAARES 1000%7 REBBRRESEE
Dingyi Financial Services Hong Kong HK$1 1 - 100 - 100 Loanfinancing
Investment Limited®
SELRRHRAERA BE L ENEE
Dingyi Bao Yin (Shenzhen) The PRC RMB800,000,000 N/A - 100 - 100 Loanfinancing
Financial Leasing Limited*!
SEER(N)EERS HE ARM800000000C  iER EREE
BRARY
Zhanjiang Xintai Investment The PRC RMB50,000,000 N/A - 100 - 100 Properties development
Company Limited*
EIERRERRAAY H AK%50,000,00070 TER NERE
Dingyi Catering Investment The PRC Registered capital N/A - 100 - - Restaurant operations
(Shenzhen) Company Limited™ RMB50,000,000 and provision of food
and paid up capital of nil catering service
SREFR(DINERRR & afEx  FER BERBIRHER
AR 50,000,000 TR
REREAZT
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —F - AF=H=+—HIFFE

Place or country Issued and
of incorporation/ paid up share
establishment/ capital/registered ~ Number Proportion of ownership interest and
Name of company operations capital  of shares voting power held by the Company Principal activities
e/ B/ BRITRERE
A ERMEBER kx/iMEs  KiAWA FRERACHARERRRFELN IERH
2025 2024
ok 13 —TomE

Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
Ef [} B% i

% % % %

Loire Catering Investment The PRC RMB5,000,000 N/A 100 Restaurant operations
(Shenzhen) Company and provision of food
Limited*! catering service

ERBEHRRE(RYI) 41 ARES000000  TER BERBIRHER
BRAT s

Puzhi Catering Investment The PRC Registered capital N/A 100 Restaurant operations
(Shenzhen) Company Limited™ RMB1,000,000 and provision of food

and paid up capital of nil catering service

ERERRE(RIBRAR & afER  AEA BERBIRHER

ARE1,000,0007C TR
REREAZT

Zhencheng Catering The PRC Registered capital N/A 100 Restaurant operations,
Management (Shenzhen) RMB500,000 provision of food
Company Limited* and paid up capital of nil catering service and

provision of restaurant
management service

ERERER(RDERLAA hE aEx AER BerR RUSHRE

ARH500,0007 REHEREERE
REREAZET

Yuequn Catering Investment ~ The PRC Registered capital N/A 100 Restaurant operations
(Shenzhen) Company RMB9,000,000 and and provision of food
Limited*! paid up capital of nil catering service

BHESRE(RIERRR AMEx  NER BERRRRIESR

AK9,000,0007 Tt
RERERET
Shenzhen Qingya Catering The PRC Registered capital N/A 100 Restaurant operations
Investment Company Limited*! RMB2,000,000 and provision of food
and paid up capital of catering service
RMB1,000,000
MIBRESRERRLR afEx  AEm BeRBIRHER
AR %2,000,0007C i
RERER
AR#1,000,0007C
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z2 _-F - AF=H=+—HIFFZ

Place or country Issued and
of incorporation/ paid up share
establishment/ capital/registered ~ Number Proportion of ownership interest and
Name of company operations capital  of shares voting power held by the Company Principal activities
e/ B/ BRITRERE
A ERMEBER kx/iMEs  KiAWA FRERACHARERRRFELN IERH
2025 2024
ok 13 —TomE
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
Ef it E# ik
% % % %

Ruiing Catering Management  The PRC Registered capital N/A 3 100 - - Provision of restaurant
Consutting (Shenzhen) RMB2,000,000 management service
Company Limited* and paid up capital of

RMB1,618,000
BREREREACRINER * afEx R REEHERRE
NSE ARE2,000,0007C
RERER
ARE1,618,0007C
* The English translation of the company names is for reference only. The * NAEBZHNERERSE - ZERFIZE
official names of these companies are in Chinese. T ABAR °
1 Company with limited liabilities established in the PRC. ! RAEBEKIHERETAT]
2 Company with limited liabilities incorporated in British Virgin Islands. 2 REBERRESEMEINERAR

8 Company with limited liabilities incorporated in Hong Kong.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities neither at

the end of both years nor at any time during both years.

3 NEBEMAZHBRAF] o

AR B S E RS 8 F A ERERE - ZH

BARBERTEAEEES -
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Acquisition of Savor Dining Collective Limited
and its subsidiaries

On 31 March 2025, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an independent
third party for the acquisition of 100% equity interest in Savor
Dining Collective Limited (“Savor Dining”), a limited company
incorporated in Hong Kong at a consideration of not more than
HK$69,000,000. Savor Dining is an investment holding company
set up for holding the seven companies incorporated in the PRC
named Dingyi Catering Investment (Shenzhen) Company Limited*,
Loire Catering Investment (Shenzhen) Company Limited*, Puzhi
Catering Investment (Shenzhen) Company Limited*, Zhencheng
Catering Management (Shenzhen) Company Limited*, Yuequn
Catering Investment (Shenzhen) Company Limited*, Shenzhen
Qingya Catering Investment Company Limited and Ruijing
Catering Management Consulting (Shenzhen) Company Limited*
(together with Savor Dining as the “Savor Group”). These seven
companies are engaged in food and beverage catering services in
Shenzhen, the PRC. Completion has been taken place on the
date of the signing of the sale and purchase agreement, i.e. 31
March 2025. Upon Completion, Savor Group has became wholly
owned subsidiaries of the Company.

* The English translation of the company names is for reference only. The
official names of these companies are in Chinese.
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40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 40. YiEMIB AR )
Acquisition of Savor Dining Collective Limited Iz B Savor Dining Collective
and its subsidiaries (Continued) Limited R B F)(#)
Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of UG B HIFTEE B S E MR aE -
acquisition.
HK$’000
BT
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BB RS 22,079
Right-of-use assets EREEE 39,609
Inventories FE 5,114
Trade receivables H 5 R 1,024
Other receivables, prepayments and deposits E R - BN RUE RiRd 10,532
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY 446
Trade and other payables and contract liabilities o REMENERLEHEE (17,596)
Lease liabilities HEAE (39,271)
Total identified net assets at fair value BAFEGTENEBRFEELTE 21,937
Gooawill arising from the acquisition Y hg A AR
Consideration KRB 22,000
Less: total identified net assets at fair value B ERATERTENEHAFEERE (21,937)
Goodwill on acquisition E Y EEm SR EE 63
Had the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2024, total M EED R —E - EM A —H 55
Group revenue for the year would have been approximately FARNEBE W EREEL &AB 325,271,000
HK$325,271,000, and loss for the year would have been JC 0 M F A B 18 FE 4 & 78 5 171,409,000
approximately HK$171,409,000. The pro forma information is T o BEARMEESE - U T —TERERENK
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of BEHER_Z_NFNUA—HEZTKMIBER
revenue and results of operations of the Group that actually would T AREEERESELNKRARKEEE
have been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 A& 0 INIERIREEATER o
April 2024, nor it is intended to be a projection of future results.
HK$'000
BT T
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition of subsidiaries WEENI B L alE L2 B & T FEE
Cash and cash equivalents acquired BURERENREEEY 446
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41. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

The face value of the financial guarantees issued by the Group is
analysed as below:

41. BIFEYERE A
AEMT MM BEREEA N -

31 March

=B=+—H
2025 2024
—E-HE —T
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BT T

Guarantees given to banks for mortgage AR T AELEYEERIZIE
facilities granted to purchasers of RITVE AR (PEE)

the Group’s properties (Note) 9,832 11,219

Note: The Group has arranged bank financing for certain purchasers of the
Group’s property units and provided guarantees to secure obligations of
such purchasers for repayments. Such guarantees terminate upon the
issuance of the real estate ownership certificate.

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default in mortgage
payments by these purchasers, the Group is responsible to repay the
outstanding mortgage principals together with accrued interest and
penalty owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks and the Group
is entitled to take over the legal title and possession of the related
properties. The Group’s guarantee period starts from the dates of
grant of the mortgages. The directors consider that the likelihood of
default in payments by purchasers is minimal and in case of default in
payments, the net realisable value of the related properties can cover
the repayment of the outstanding mortgage principals together with
the accrued interest and penalty and therefore the fair value of these
financial guarantees is immaterial.
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The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising TRAXANEERMETSMEEBENESF
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash 15 BRRESNIRSEE - MERSAE
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for HERENARSREXARTIBASRENS H
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified ReREXRSBAMETHHRENENEE -

in the consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from
financing activities.

Amounts
due to
related Other Lease
companies loan liabilities Total
FEft
RELTHE
AR Hfth 55 HEAR 3
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BRTT BETT BRTT BETT
As at 1 April 2024 RZZTZmFMA—A 62,699 980,000 3,258 1,045,957
Non-cash movement IR & & (954) - (8) (962)
Recognition of lease THE®ER - - 1,263 1,263
Effective interest expenses incurred 2E4 BEF S - - 106 106
Acquisition of subsidiaries W Fis P 8 22 ) - - 39,271 39,271
Financing cash outflows BER M (20,059) = (3,140) (23,199)
As at 31 March 2025 R-T_RF
—A=+—~” 41,686 980,000 40,750 1,062,436
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42. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (Continued)

42. MELBMELBENE R

Accrued

interest

Amounts (included

due to in “trade

related Other Lease and other
companies loan liabilities ~ payables”) Total

JESTHE,

fE (GtATES

BEAT REM
B HiEx  HEAR  ENERRD) ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT A%t B%Tr  BETr B¥Tn
As at 1 April 2023 RZZEZ=FMA—H 96,947 1,259,500 3,561 28,764 1,388,772
Non-cash movement RSB (3,417) - 79 - (3,338)
Recognition of lease HEHR - - 3,480 - 3,480
Effective interest expenses incured ~ CEAEEF S - - 99 3,001 3,100
Financing cash outflows BERSTL (30,831)  (279,500) (3,961) (31,765 (346,057)
As at 31 March 2024 RZEZNE=A=1—H 62,699 980,000 3,258 - 1,045,957
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